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Accounting and Reporting for Private Nonprofit
Organizations—Balancing Economic Efficiency

with Social Mission

John F. Sacco
George Mason University, Fairfax, Virginia, U.S.A.

Walter Vance

General Accounting Office, Washington, District of Columbia, U.S.A.

INTRODUCTION

This chapter discusses how the value of economic effi-
ciency, which is typically associated with private business
accounting and operations, is increasingly being used to
measure private nonprofit accounting and operations fi-
nancial performance. Since the mid-1990s, private non-
profit organizations under the Financial Standards
Accounting Board (FASB) have begun to follow the full
cost accrual and consolidation model that is associated with
measuring economic efficiency. This change suggests that
the public choice philosophy (business efficiency in
government and nonprofits) has cast its shadow over the
traditional progressive philosophy (social mission) that
historically was the model of operations in private non-
profit organizations. Specifically, the use of full costing for
every project, taking a hard look at projects that are not
“‘breaking even,”’ obtaining more outputs for less input,
and putting extra emphasis on ‘‘earned income’’ in the
form of donations are now all associated with the new
nonprofit environment. Whether the pendulum will swing
back to having social mission instead of economic
efficiency being the primary criteria by which private
nonprofits are judged is a critical question given the
importance of the work that nonprofits undertake. With
issues like environmental degradation, poverty, and inter-
national unrest in the forefront of the news, more pressure
is placed on private nonprofit organizations to address
these issues. How should the increasingly important private
nonprofit sector account, measure, and report success?

DEFINITION

Private nonprofit organizations are not affiliated with a
government, even though they may receive grants or aid

from different levels of government. Much of their re-
venue comes from voluntary contributions or earnings for
services provided—not taxes.

The range of functions provided by private nonprofit
entities is wide. The traditional private nonprofit is a
charity, such as Catholic Relief Services or the District of
Columbia Capital Area Food Bank. They provide services
to the needy. Trade associations are private nonprofit
organizations but they serve their members as opposed to
the public at large. The American Bankers Association is a
trade organization. Like trade associations, business
leagues such as local chambers of commerce are private
nonprofit entities. Even political action groups that lobby
for legislation can fall in the private nonprofit category.
Private nonprofits are corporations and as such must
obtain corporation status from a state government. To
obtain tax-exempt status they must seek approval from the
Internal Revenue Service (IRS). Many private nonprofits
must report to the state in which they were incorporated
and to the IRS. IRS form 990 is the usual way in which
private nonprofits provide information to the IRS on a
yearly basis.

THE ROAD TO FASB AND THE EMPHASIS
ON COMPETITION

A private nonprofit does not have to follow FASB ac-
counting standards. However, they cannot obtain a clean
(unqualified) audit without fairly expressing their finan-
cial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP) as set by FASB. Even
obtaining a bank loan may require financial reporting
in accord with FASB standards. Although FASB is a
private operation, it has permission form the Securities
and Exchange Commission (SEC) to write accounting
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rules for business and provide nonprofit entities. When
private nonprofit organizations use FASB accounting
standards, they are subject to all FASB requirements.
However, some FASB rules were written specifically
for private nonprofit organizations. Four of the FASB
standards that are specific to nonprofit entities will be
discussed in detail.

The financial reporting model imposed by FASB is the
accrual and consolidation model with some selective use
of fair value accounting (discussed later). For the most part
this accrual and consolidation model emphasizes econom-
ic efficiency. All costs, regardless of whether cash has
changed hands must be matched against revenue to de-
termine whether the cost (effort) generated adequate in-
come to break even or show a surplus. The Statement of
Activities for a private nonprofits (similar to the income
statement of a business) differentiates among program
expenses, administration (often called management and
general), and fund-raising. If private nonprofit organiza-
tions are formed to serve a social mission in the com-
munity, then a high percentage of expenses going to fund-
raising and administration might contradict the social
mission orientation. With the Statement of Financial Po-
sition (the balance sheet in business), money restricted for
certain purposes can be distinguished from money that is
unrestricted. While all the money must benefit the social
mission as defined by the charter, some monies may be
restricted to address special aspects of the social mission.

Use of the Economic Efficiency Criteria and
the Accrual and Consolidation Model

The inclusion of private nonprofit organizations into
the FASB fold has a history behind it. FASB became
concerned about the many sources of accounting rules
for private nonprofit organizations. Specifically, FASB
felt that users of financial reports were getting inconsistent
information. In some cases, FASB and others felt the
accounting and reporting rules for these private non-
profit organizations were too flexible and allowed the
organizations to provide information that was not suffi-
ciently candid.

Now that FASB is making the accounting and reporting
standards for private nonprofit organizations, this means

private nonprofit organizations must recognize revenue
when earned and account for all costs necessary to earn
those revenues in that period. If a pledge is made late in
the fiscal year with the cash anticipated during the next
period, then it is revenue in the year when pledged, not
when the cash is received. The work, the phone calls, the
web site, and the direct mailing have been done to earn the
contribution during the period when the pledge was made.
Thus, the pledge is considered earned revenue. On the
expense side, if employees have pension benefits or other
accrued compensated absences (e.g., sick leave and
vacation) the cost of those (usually some present value
of the future payment) must be included during the period
when they were promised even though the money will not
be paid until a later date.

Consolidation is also part of the FASB approach.
Separate funds to distinguish current donations from en-
dowments are no longer used for external reporting. The
total of all revenues (in consolidated format, not fund
format) is reported. If the private nonprofit has a sizable
endowment, that endowment is part of the consolidated
assets and revenues. Thus, the private nonprofit may look
very wealthy even in years when cash donations are low
and the nonprofit is facing liquidity problems. In the past,
those sizable endowments could be placed in a separate
fund and not counted as part of the total wealth (now
called net assets) of the nonprofit.

SFAS 116—ACCOUNTING FOR
CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVED AND
CONTRIBUTIONS MADE

In examining Statement of Financial Accounting Stan-
dards (SFAS) 116, issued under due process by the Fi-
nancial Accounting Standards Board, it is important to
understand that the standard applies to private nonprofit
organizations that receive contributions as well as orga-
nizations or individuals that make the contribution. If a
company makes a contribution to a private nonprofit
organizations, the timing of when (i.e., the basis) to incur
the expense for the company and when to recognize the
revenue for the nonprofit both come from SFAS 116.

Categories

Revenue?

Unconditional contributions

Recognized in period received at fair market value

Conditional promises

Recognized when conditions are substantially met
because future uncertainty is attached to the conditions

Services

Only if a nonfinancial asset is created and special skills
ordinarily contracted are used

Fig. 1 When to recognize revenue.
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The main goal of SFAS 116 is to make sure that
contributions are appropriately and consistently recorded,
using the accrual logic for revenue recognition.

With respect to contributions, SFAS 116 has several
broad categories that help determine when revenue should
be recognized. Fig. 1 provides the categories.

Example of Revenue

Assume a private nonprofit organization has the following
transactions and events.

What amount can be considered revenue and in which
of these categories?

1. One party contributes a $1000 check with no
conditions attached.

2. A company promises to contribute $10,000 contingent
on the private nonprofit collecting $5000 specifically
to match the promise made by the company.

3. Another individual pledges $2000 with the promise to
make the donation in this current fiscal period.

4. An electrician donates his time to the organization by
installing wiring. The electrician’s time is valued at
$500. If the electrician had not done this skilled
work, the private nonprofit would have had to pur-
chase the service.

5. One company, aware of the $5000 matching require-
ment of the other company, promises to give $1500 if
the full $5000 matching requirement is reached.

6. A local government contracts with the private
nonprofit organization. The organization receives
$1200 for work to be performed in the next period.

7. An individual donates $1000 but restricts its use to a
certain program.

Fig. 2 shows the results.

No conditions were applied to the $4000 revenue
consisting of two $1000 cash contributions (Nos. 1 and 7)
and one $2000 (No. 3) pledge contribution. The $11,500
of conditional promises (Nos. 2 and 5) would be placed in
the notes to the financial statements if the conditions were
not met this accounting and reporting period. For service

(No. 4) notice how the revenue ($500) from service is
offset by an expense ($500). The money received (No. 6)
from the local government contract is not revenue; rather,
it is a liability because the nonprofit still owes the work to
the local government. Having the cash is insufficient
under the accrual logic to declare something a revenue.
The revenue must be earned. In this case of the con-
tract, the nonprofit must do the work later and thus has
a liability or future sacrifice often called unearned re-
venue. In addition to liabilities, other distinctions are
important in the revenue recognition logic.

Classifying Revenue into Net
Assets—Permanently Restricted,
Temporarily Restricted and Unrestricted

When revenue is earned by a nonprofit it needs to be placed
in one of three categories as designated by the donor.

e Permanently restricted—Oftentimes, the corpus or ori-
ginal amount cannot be spent. It is permanently re-
stricted. Only the interest or gains earned might be
unrestricted and available for current expenses.

e Temporarily restricted—This can only be spent on a
certain program, e.g., health program, or cannot be
spent until a later period, e.g., 3 months from now.
Other temporary restrictions are possible.

e Unrestricted—Can be spent in any legal manner
related to the mission.

SFAS 117—FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF
NONPROFIT ORGANIZATIONS

The Three Required Financial Statements Under SFAS
117 are:

e Statement of financial position (balance sheet).

e Statement of activities (the term income is not used
because nonprofit organizations carry out activities to
benefit the community not earn a profit).

Revenue

Not revenue |Liability |Expense

Categories

Unconditional contributions

$4,000

Conditional promises

$11,500

Service as revenue

$500

Work to be performed

$1,200

Total $4,500

$11,500 $500

Fig. 2 What are the amounts in the appropriate categories?
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e Statements of cash flow (shows the sources of cash,
cash payments, and increase or decrease in cash bal-
ance, or more technically, cash and cash equivalents).

Assume that the nonprofit has finished the fiscal year
that went from 7/1/x0 to 6/30/x1.

Statement of Financial Position

In this first statement presented, the statement of financial
position (or balance sheet) reflects the accounting equation
(assets = liabilities + net assets) in that assets and liabili-
ties are shown. Note that net assets are used in place of
equity (the label to connote business ownership) and fur-
ther that net assets are divided into permanently, temporary,
and unrestricted categories. Net assets and the three
categories are used to capture the not-for-profit nature
and the types of restrictions that go with donations. Re-
member, also, the balance sheet is for a point in time and
shows ability to pay short- and long-term obligations from

the asset pool. It also shows the ability of the entity to take
advantage of emerging opportunities by comparing things
such as liquid assets with short-term obligations (Fig. 3).

The asset section does not have any nomenclature that
is overly complex. It is arranged in terms of liquidity,
from the most liquid, cash, to the least liquid, property,
plant, and equipment, and long term investments. Con-
tributions receivable parallel accounts receivable typical
of private sector business operations. Liabilities are or-
dered from those that need to be paid the soonest to those
that need to be paid later.

In the analysis of this balance sheet, total assets,
$29,000, exceed liabilities, $13,000, by $16,000, suggest-
ing a reasonably healthy financial status. For instance, the
cash in unrestricted, $2000, is sufficient to cover the
accounts payable (which total $500). A closer look reveals
some possible problems. As is often the case with
nonprofit entities, donor restrictions can limit flexibil-
ity. The entity has a note payable that might come due
soon. The note payable is $5000, whereas the excess
of unrestricted cash over accounts payable is only $1500.

Private nonprofit organization name
Statement of financial position

6/30/x1
Assets
Cash — unrestricted $2,000
Cash — temporarily restricted 3,500
Interest receivable 50
Contributions receivable 1,450
Property, plant, equipment (net of 12,000
depreciation)
Long-term investments 10,000
Total $29,000
Liabilities and net assets
Accounts payable $500
Notes payable 5,000
Long-term debt 7,500
Total $13,000
Net assets
Unrestricted $2,000
Temporarily restricted 4,000
Permanently restricted 10,000
Total net assets $16,000
Total liabilities and net assets $29,000

Fig. 3 Statement of financial position (balance sheet).
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Thus, the nonprofit may have to borrow. An examina-
tion of the net assets section shows the type and extent
of restrictions. Of the total difference between liabil-
ities and assets, $16,000, only $6000 is not perma-
nently restricted. The rest, $10,000, is permanently res-
tricted, which severely limits its ability to be used in the
short term.

Statement of Activities

For the statement of activities, observe how the categories,
unrestricted, temporarily restricted, and permanently
restricted are included, just as they are in the balance
sheet (Fig. 4). Notice too, the bottom line is not profit or
loss but change in net assets. Unlike the statement of
financial position, the statement of activities is for a
period of time, not a point in time. In this case the
statement answers the question, ‘“What has been the
financial success (revenues matched against expenses) for
the period 7/1/x0 to 6/30/x1?"’

Overall, as presented in the total column, net assets for
the nonprofit have increased by $16,000 for the period.
Total revenue was $91,000 and total expenses were

$75,000. However, when the total column is dissected,
only $6000 ($2000 from unrestricted and $4000 from
temporarily restricted) of the change in net assets is
not permanently restricted. Most of the change in net
assets ($10,000) comes from the permanently restricted
category. Overall, the organization brought in more
money than it spent (on an accrual basis) but a sig-
nificant amount of the financial success is permanent-
ly restricted.

Statement of Cash Flow

The statement of cash flow is designed to show where the
cash came from and where it went. For instance, if a
private nonprofit entity gets most of its cash from bor-
rowing or grants, then future survival may be in question.
Will the grants continue and will contributions be
sufficient to repay amounts borrowed and any associated
interest payments? Raising cash via heavy borrowing will
show in the statement of cash flow and such information
can be vital to outsider readers of the statements. The
statement of cash flow also shows whether the amount of
cash changed (grew, stayed the same, or dropped) during
the period.

IRevenue, gains., and other support |Unrestricted |Temporarily restricted |Permanently restricted |Total
Contributions $75,000 5,000 10,000/ $90,000
Income from investments 500 500
net unrealized and

realized gains 500 500
Net assets released

from restrictions

satisfaction of program

restrictions 1,000 -1,000

Total $77,000 4,000 10,000{ $91,000
Expenses and losses

Program A 35,000

Program B 20,000

Management and general 15,000

Fund raising 5,000
Total $75,000 $75,000
Change in net assets 2,000 4,000 10,000 16,000
Beginning 0 0 0 0
End $2,000 4,000 10,000{ $16,000

Fig. 4 Private nonprofit organization name; statement of activities; for the period 7/1/x0 to 6/30/x1.
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SFAS 124—ACCOUNTING FOR
CERTAIN INVESTMENTS

Nonprofit entities often receive stocks and bonds as do-
nations. SFAS 124 applies to equity securities (i.e., pur-
chase or donation of stocks) with readily determinable
market value and all investments in debt securities (e.g.,
purchase or donation of bonds). With SFAS 124 comes
the interjection of ‘‘fair value’’ accounting and reporting
(as opposed to historical cost accounting and reporting,
which is used for most items such as property, plant, and
equipment) and other rules related to investing in secu-
rities. On the surface, fair value accounting is not overly
complex. Often called ‘‘mark to market,”” it means that
even those increases or declines in the value of securities
not sold (so called ‘‘paper changes’”) must be recognized
at the end of the period. If the value goes up during the
reporting period, that is an unrealized holding gain. It
goes on the statement of activities as a part of revenue. If
the value falls, even without a sale, that constitutes an
unrealized holding loss. It too goes on the statement of
activities as loss subtracted from revenues. Unrealized
gains and losses would also affect the balance sheet value
of the investment. Presumably, outside users of financial
statements (e.g., donors) are better informed about the
financial performance and quality of management with
the application of fair value accounting for securities.

The simplicity of ‘‘fair value’’ reporting stops at the
conceptual level and becomes much more complex in
implementation. The use of fair value depends on an array
of circumstances, including for stocks, the amount of a
company that a private nonprofit owns. When a nonprofit
holds a large stock endowment in one company, the
accounting becomes complex. A private nonprofit may
own 30% of a company from an endowment. If so, the
accounting becomes even more complex and can likely
move away from the fair value approach to an approach
called the equity method where the nonprofit shows the
earnings or losses of the company as part of their own
revenue and value. For instance, if a nonprofit owns 30%
of a company and the company loses $90,000 dollars, then
the nonprofit shows a $30,000 loss.

SFAS 136—TRANSFER OF ASSETS
TO A NONPROFIT

The complete title of this SFAS (136) indicates its fo-
cus. The full title is ‘“Transfer of Assets to a Not-for-
Profit Organization or Charitable Trust that Raises or
Holds Contributions for Others.”” As might be expected
from the title, this SFAS is designed to answer the
question about how a nonprofit reports a contribution

when the donor specifies another entity to ultimately or
potentially receive the donation. SFAS 136 is of par-
ticular interest to federated fund-raising organizations.
The United Way is an example of a nonprofit that will
be affected by this standard. It often collects donations
and contributions that will be transferred to another non-
profit organizations.

In the terminology of SFAS 136, the unit receiving the
assets is the recipient while the unit that will or can
ultimately get the assets is the beneficiary. The contributor
is the donor. It is the donor’s specifications that affect the
answer to how the recipient and beneficiary account for
the donation. As with other accounting rules, SFAS 136
can become more complicated as is the case when the
recipient and beneficiary are economically interrelated
(one is a subsidiary of the other). Then both can share a
stake in the donation.

SOP 98-2—ACCOUNTING COSTS OF
ACTIVITIES OF NOT-FOR-PROFIT
ORGANIZATIONS AND STATE
GOVERNMENT ENTITIES THAT
INCLUDE FUND-RAISING

People who donate assets to nonprofit organizations as
well as auditors who render opinions on nonprofit
financial statements have been concerned that amounts
spent on fund-raising can be underreported to make it look
like the nonprofit is putting most of its expenses in
mission-oriented programs. As a result, the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants wrote a state-
ment of position (SOP) to clarify accounting and reporting
for fund-raising, SOP 98-2.

Generically, the accounting term used to deal with this
issue of allocating costs when more than one type of pro-
duct is generated from the same process is ‘‘joint costs.”’
In business, a typical example is allocating a portion of a
cost on one cut of meat when there is only one expense for
the entire carving process. In a nonprofit, an example is
allocating the costs of postage, envelopes, labor, and
machinery when educational or program information and
fund-raising are included in the same mailing.

If an effort includes both fund-raising information and
another activity such as the educational aspect of the
social mission, allocation of joint cost to both program and
fund-raising expenses can be used only if certain criteria
are met. The activity must call on the audience to do
something about the social mission. If the letter, for
example, is directed toward environmental cleanup, then
the letter must call for specific action such as attending a
Saturday morning neighborhood cleanup. Simply saying
that clean neighborhoods are important is insufficient for
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allowing the cost to be counted as program expenses as
opposed to fund-raising expenses. If a specific, mission-
oriented action is requested, an allocation between fund-
raising and program expenses can be made.

Even the call for action may not be sufficient to allocate
costs between fund-raising and program expenses. The
audience selected should be people who believe in the
mission. If the audience is selected because of past contri-
butions, then all costs go to fund-raising. If the outside
firm developing the campaign receives compensation on
the basis of the assets donated, then all costs must be
assigned as fund-raising costs.

CONCLUSION

Traditionally, private nonprofits were considered to be
driven by a social mission. In the mid-1990s, the account-
ing rule-making body for publicly traded companies,
FASB, became a part of the life of private nonprofits. As a
result, private nonprofit organizations have a significant
economic efficiency criterion to meet, and they did so, in
part, by following the accrual and consolidation model
(complemented by fair value) that FASB place on them.
The new model demands more output for less input and

hard decisions about projects that fail to break even—not
exactly a ‘‘kinder, gentler’’ type of accounting!

Private nonprofit entities are still adjusting to the dual
forces of the competitive mentality of global markets and
the world of social upheaval. In short, charity is in a new
realm of competing in the market place for money and even
for delivering services. Many for-profit agencies wish to
sell the same services nonprofits provide. The demands on
private nonprofit operations are considerable. They have
their social mission to pursue, they must compete perhaps
more so than in the past, and they are considered to be an
important part of maintaining world social order.
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Acquiring Resources Through Price Negotiation:

A Public Sector Approach
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INTRODUCTION

Commercial negotiation has been with us for a long time,
some accounts going as far back as when ships first sailed
to China to buy silk and spices. In the pre-Industrial
Revolution era the small scale of manufacturing opera-
tions meant that the entrepreneurs had to be skilled in
everything including the purchasing of raw materials. If
entrepreneurs were able to determine the quality of the
inputs and, at the same time negotiate a price to minimize
the average cost of inputs, the greater the demand for their
product and the higher the profit margin. With the coming
of the Industrial Revolution and large scale production
there was a role for purchasing agents. In this period ne-
gotiation focusing on quality, delivery, and service ‘‘as
industrial sellers customarily set prices at or near cost plus
10%.”’"1 The focus of negotiation shifted in the 1930s
when sales people were granted the authority to set price
at any level. Today, negotiation focuses solely on se-
curing the best possible price.

For any organization, achieving long- and short-term
goals and objectives depends on a host of economic re-
lationships including the demand and supply of resources,
which determine the price of resources. With increasing
population and demand for government services, and with
budgetary constraints, negotiating the optimal price and
quantity of resources that are required to deliver gov-
ernment services has become an important activity of
government agencies. This is recognized by the increased
role and prominence of procurement departments/person-
nel in government agencies. Through negotiation, the
purpose of these departments/personnel is ‘‘to secure
the best possible long or short-term agreement for the
organization, consistent with the concept of lowest total
cost.”’t!]

Negotiation, as an important component of the orga-
nization’s strategy to acquire resources, can be considered
a subtopic of game theory and can be analyzed using a
similar approach as the broader topics of game theory.
Alfred Chandler defines strategy as the determination of
basic long-term goals and objectives, and the adoption of

courses of action to achieve these goals.'” Strategy, which
includes negotiation, is important to the organization’s
success, to the achieving of its long-term goals.

In a general way, a model of negotiation is an attempt
to model in a specific way the interactions of competing
utility or wealth maximizers, as it takes into account the
strategies of competing players. Negotiation is therefore
concerned with the analysis of strategic interaction in
which the decision maker is assumed to interact with
others in the environment, this causing the optimal de-
cision to be affected by the action of others."”! Although it
uses the same players found in any market (buyers and
sellers), it extends the analysis through which price is
determined by including actual interaction such as asym-
metric information and haggling over the price. As in any
game of strategy, there may be cooperation in which the
players use contracts and are able to plan long-term
strategies. In other situations there could be noncooper-
ation especially if enforcing the contract is difficult.

A model of negotiation could be included under the
broader topic of ‘‘game theory’” in which payoff func-
tions and strategy sets are assigned to the participants, and
the various outcomes are noted when particular strategies
are chosen to maximize the payoff. ‘‘Game theory is
concerned with the actions of individuals who are
conscious that their actions affect each other.”’'! Game
theory is used mostly in situations where private decision
makers are seeking to maximize wealth in the market-
place, not in situations where purchases are made by gov-
ernment agencies as they are not assumed to be ‘‘maxi-
mizers’’ of wealth or profit. However, because purchases
by government agencies include contracts, are budget
restricted, take place under various forms of competition,
and oftentimes include some haggling, there is scope for
analyzing government procurement through some form of
game theoretic model using similar assumptions. The
analysis presented below will not be a ‘‘pure form of
game theory.”” It will seek to specify conditions under
which government procurement takes place and theorize
as to where the final price will settle; closer to the seller’s
offering or closer to the buyer’s suggestion.
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VERTICAL INTEGRATION
VS. OUTSOURCING

Vertical Integration

Public and private firms, seeking to acquire goods, gene-
rally do so through vertical integration or outsourcing.
Whereas a vertical chain of production is the coming
together of firms at various stages in the production of a
good, outsourcing is that situation in which a firm gets an
input to deliver a good or service, or the firm acquires the
good or service to be delivered from an external source.
With vertical integration, benefits such as 1) reduction in
transaction and coordination costs, 2) continuity of sup-
ply, 3) the nonsharing of proprietary rights, and 4) greater
control over the quality of inputs are often realized.

Organizing production through vertical integration
means that firms are organized into a business unit. The
implication from this is that measuring the performance of
individual firms requires that a ‘‘transfer price’’ be es-
tablished for goods and services exchanged. With a trans-
fer price, total profits can be reallocated among firms in
the business unit and this could impact the business unit’s
overall profit. Supplying goods through vertical integra-
tion may therefore not encourage least cost production by
an individual firm because of subsidies by more profitable
firms within the integrated business unit.

Transfer of goods between firms in a vertically in-
tegrated business unit can take place as follows. If there is
a competitive external market for the good in question,
the product can be transferred at the ‘‘external market
price.”’ If there is no external market or if for some reason
the market price does not truly measure the opportunity
cost of producing the good, the ‘‘marginal production
cost’” could be used to determine the transfer price. With
the marginal production cost being the cost to produce the
last unit, this therefore represents the value of resources
foregone to produce the last unit. Some firms in an
integrated unit have also made use of ‘‘full-cost transfer
prices’’ because it is felt that marginal cost of production
focuses on variable cost and omits fixed cost.” This
method is simple, is easily implemented, and is the most
popular of the pricing mechanism used by firms in an
integrated unit."*’

Price negotiation can assist in the transfer of goods
between firms in an integrated unit and also in the ac-
quisition of goods through outsourcing. In an integrated
unit, the price at which goods are transferred is aptly
labeled the ‘‘negotiated transfer price’’ because it is de-

*Whereas variable costs (e.g., direct labor costs and commissions to
salespeople) increase with output, fixed costs (e.g., lease agreement and
administrative expenses) remain constant when output increases.

termined by negotiation between the units. A negotiated
price between firms in a business unit is expected to
maximize the combined profits of the negotiating firms.
The selling firm will not negotiate a price below its
production cost, and the acquiring firm will not pay a
price above that for which it can buy the product else-
where. The reference to purchasing a good at a price not
higher than that for which it can be purchased elsewhere
indicates that the market does play an indirect role, and
serves more as a reference point for the determination of a
negotiated transfer price. Because it is possible for two
firms in an integrated unit to negotiate a transfer price
without at the same time agreeing on the quantity to be
transferred at that price, there is no guarantee that the
negotiated price will maximize the business unit’s value.
There is also the possibility of a long, drawn-out, and
time-consuming process which when converted to a mon-
etary value could increase the cost of acquiring goods
and services.

Outsourcing

For the public sector in the United States, goods and ser-
vices are acquired mostly through outsourcing, which is
generally defined as obtaining goods and services from
outside rather than providing them in-house. There are
many possible reasons why the public sector may have
decided to acquire goods and services through outsourcing.
Among them are 1) heightened competition between
supply firms and the relatively low cost of goods and
services, 2) flexible production techniques and the will-
ingness of producers to satisfy government needs, 3) the
short tenure of government and the disruption that would
be caused when the leadership/ruling party changes,
and 4) improved communications and the relative ease
with which goods and services can be obtained from
outside agencies.

When firms seek to acquire goods and services through
outsourcing, the cost of goods and services are determined
by market conditions, or the price is determined through
negotiation, especially where there are long-term con-
tracts.” Buying goods in the competitive market could be
advantageous as compared to a noncompetitive or ne-
gotiated situation because it could easily be argued that as
competitive firms do not make surplus profit over the
long-run period, the market-determined price tends to be
lower than a negotiated price. However, even with the
potential benefits from acquiring goods at market price,
procurement officers in the public sector have used

Long-term contracts could be in the form of long-term supply and
distribution contracts, franchise contracts, leasing contracts, or strategic
alliances.
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negotiation with long-term contracts and a few vendors to
acquire goods and services. There seems to be the feeling
that through negotiation there is more control over price,
quality, and delivery. Although this may be true for qual-
ity and delivery, the negotiated price is more dependent
on the skillfulness of the parties ‘‘at the negotiating
table’” and conditions in the market.

GOVERNMENT PROCUREMENT
AND MARKET CONDITIONS

Negotiation in general differs from a ball game or a war
where only one side wins and the other side loses. In
successful negotiations, both sides win something, giving
rise to a ‘‘win—win’’ situation. When procurement of-
ficers or purchasing agents seek to acquire goods and
services through negotiation, the objectives of negotiation
are 1) to obtain the quality specified, 2) to obtain a fair
and reasonable price, and 3) to get the vendor to perform
the contract on time. Although all three objectives are
important, budgetary restrictions on public sector agen-
cies cause most attention to be paid to obtaining goods
and services at a fair and reasonable price. Mention
is often made of securing goods and services at the *‘ right
price,”” that which is fair to both buyer and seller.”
And even with this definition, the ‘‘right price’’ is not
static because firms are able (within limits) to adjust
their asking and offering price, which could vary with
market conditions.

In the United States we find the three forms of com-
petition that are discussed in any elementary micro-
economics textbook. At one extreme, there is the idealist
form of perfect competition characterized by *‘atomistic’’
competition in which a large number of sellers trade a
homogeneous good. This form of competition is also
characterized by the availability of low cost of accurate
information and the ability of firms to freely enter and
leave the industry.

At the other extreme of the competitive spectrum is
monopoly, where one firm controls the supply and hence
the price of the product. Some reasons for the establish-
ment of monopolies include the control of specific as-
sets, production requiring large output and the realization
of economies of scale, the availability of excess capacity
and the ability to increase production at will, pre-com-
mitment contracts, licenses and patents, and pioneering
brand advantages.

Between the two extremes are conditions of imperfect
competition where the number of sellers of a heteroge-
neous or homogenous good can be large or small. Under
this market form, the supplier has some control over
“‘brand’’ price. Studies have shown that in the United
States, most goods are traded under conditions where

LX)

there is some freedom to adjust price, and this would
imply conditions of imperfect competition.” We accept
the conclusions of these studies as true, but we also
believe that tightly budgeted expenditures and the encum-
bering of funds for future expenditure cause the gov-
ernment sector to secure goods under varying conditions
of competition. To get the biggest ‘‘bang for the buck,”’
government procurement is forced into markets where the
price will be “‘right”’ or most beneficial to the agency.

Pricing of Goods

One of the tips given for conducting successful negoti-
ation is ‘‘do your homework.”” For government agents,
this includes knowledge of the product and market. Re-
garding the procurement of goods, one would be more
inclined to believe that if quality and quantity are easily
ascertained, pricing issues involving government procure-
ment would be at a minimum. If this is so, the situation
boils down to whether pricing should be based on full
cost, marginal cost, or some method to benefit the gov-
ernment agency as well as the firm supplying the good.

In the most competitive market, substitute goods are
differentiated by design, wrapping, or other such features.
The market has a large number of sellers with the
individual seller forced to sell at ‘‘near equal’’ prices.
Furthermore, to remain in this market, suppliers must be
very efficient. We could therefore infer from this that
suppliers in this market will sell to government agencies
at the lowest possible price, that the goods will be of the
highest value, and that price is a true indicator of quality.
Furthermore, if government procurement involves ‘‘large
dollars’’ and contracts that can cover multiple years, firms
selling to government agencies will endeavor to have a
long relationship with the agencies by selling at a lower
price. Based on the above, government procurement
agents seem to have some amount of buying power.

Intense competition forces manufacturers to make their
products intrinsically different. This gives room for dif-
ferent negotiated prices between suppliers and the gov-
ernment, and components such as service and delivery are
included in the price. Also, as the number of producers/
sellers in the market declines, suppliers will have more
power over the price at which goods are purchased. It also
follows that as the products become more differentiated,
more effort will be required by government agencies to
determine quality and similarity of prices. If procurement
personnel is limited, government agencies could be forced
to accept the seller’s words, with the negotiated price
more beneficial to the seller.

“See Ref. [5] p. 244, for a list of these studies.



Acquiring Resources Through Price Negotiation: A Public Sector Approach 11

If the government seeks to buy goods from traditional
sellers, procurement agents could find themselves involved
in a game. This is because traditional sellers see negotiation
as a game in which they offer to sell their products at a very
high price, expecting the buyer to counter at a very low
price. Through haggling and counter-offers, the established
price is set somewhere in between the seller’s high price
and the buyer’s lower price. If the government procurement
official is expecting this response, both buyer and seller
will be using various means (tricks, creative lies, and artful
badgering) to negotiate in their favor. This could
compromise delivery, quality, and goodwill.

Pricing of Services

Research indicates that employee’s compensation as a
percentage of noncapital direct expenditure is between
30% and 40% at the state and local levels, and 15% and
20% at the federal level.'®! Economic theory proposes that
labor should be paid according to its marginal revenue
product, which is the marginal product of labor expressed
in dollar value. This approach is only useful in the public
sector where the output of labor is easily determined and
where the government can determine the quality of the
output. If quality and quantity are not easily determined,
there is room for a negotiated wage rate. Many factors can
determine the negotiated wages, these including union
representation, skills of labor, demand by the public sec-
tor, and wage rate in other sectors of the economy.
There is also the additional issue of what price should
the government pay labor when productivity of labor and
wages in the other sectors of the economy increase faster
than in the public sector. This issue is important because
depending on the policy chosen, the supply of labor in the
public sector could decline, efficiency could fall, and the
average cost of services in the public sector could in-
crease. Here again, negotiations are important. To reduce
the above problems, the negotiated price of labor should
be close to that which is offered in the more efficient
private sector. Furthermore, because jobs in the public
sector tend to be more secure and with the likelihood of
more generous benefits, paying labor a rate close to that
paid in the more efficient private sector could attract labor

from the private sector and improve the efficiency of
labor in the public sector.

Even with the analysis outlined above, we understand
that each procurement project is unique and complex and
thus defies the use of a general rule or policy. We also
believe that for each purchasing organization, the reg-
ulations, and the rules are different. These complicate
the procurement process. In the end, the procurement
approach that is used and the manner in which it is
implemented will determine the success or failure of
government’s projects. Because of the dynamic nature of
today’s market, it is imperative that government agencies
continue their vigilance on procurement procedures.

CONCLUSION

With the increasing size of government spending, and
with more pressure on the public sector to provide a wider
range of goods and services, negotiating the ‘‘best’” price
for the highest quality of goods and services is of greatest
importance. To facilitate this process government pro-
curement officials must be well trained in negotiation,
business decision-making, and economics and their de-
partments must be adequately equipped with the latest
technology to seek our suppliers. In the long run, a more
informed procurement division will go a far way in
maximizing society’s benefits from public expenditure.

REFERENCES

1. Cavinato, J.; Kauffman, R. The Purchasing Handbook: A
Guide for the Purchasing and Supply Professional; Mc-
Graw-Hill, 2000; 449, 500.

2. Chandler, A. Strategy and Structure, Chapters in the His-
tory of the American Industrial Enterprises; MIT Press:
Cambridge, MA, 1962; 13.

3. Brickley, J.; Smith, C.; Zimmerman, J. Managerial Eco-
nomics and Organizational Architecture; McGraw-Hill,
2001; 213, 448.

4. Rasmusen, E. Games and Information; Blackwell, 1990; 21.
Dobler, D.; Burt, D.; Lee, L., Jr. Purchasing and Materials
Management: Text and Cases, 5th Ed.; McGraw-Hill, 1983;
242,

6. Hyman, D. Public Finance; Dryden, 1993.



Administrative Law Judges and Agency Adjudication

William D. Schreckhise
University of Arkansas, Fayetteville, Arkansas, U.S.A.

INTRODUCTION

Administrative law judges (ALJs) and agency adjudica-
tions are two things about which most people know very
little, but both play an important role in the operations of
government in the United States. Adjudications and
agency hearings are an important component of regulatory
enforcement, entitlement disbursement, and internal
agency management. Administrative law judges preside
over disputes between two or more parties, much like a
judge presides over cases brought before a court.
However, an administrative law judge is an employee of
the executive branch of government and, often, one of the
parties in the dispute is the agency for whom they are
employed. Adjudications are the equivalent to cases and
are the conflicts over which the administrative law judges
preside. This entry will present the origins of administra-
tive law judges and discuss the current role they play at
the state and federal government adjudications.

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURES LAWS
AND ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGES

Currently, 1286 ALJs serve in the federal government,
holding positions in 26 different agencies (Table 1). They
deal with such widely varying topics as disputes over
continuing Social Security Disability Insurance benefits
and the application of regulations of the U.S. Securities
Exchange Commission.

The position of administrative law judge originated
with the passage of the federal Hepburn Act (1906). In this
act, Congress granted the Interstate Commerce Commis-
sion (ICC) the power to appoint ‘‘hearing examiners’’ to
act on the commission’s behalf in giving oaths, taking
testimony, examining witnesses, and viewing evidence.
The ICC’s success with this new position prompted other
agencies to follow suit. Between the years 1913 and 1940,
Congress granted 18 other agencies the power to appoint
their own hearing examiners. The federal Administrative
Procedure Act (APA) of 1946 established the hearing
officer as a clearly distinct judicial power in each agency.
These positions were created to constitute an independent
corps of judicial actors assigned powers to preside over
agency hearings, but were to do it in a manner less formal
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and more flexible than courtroom proceedings, and who
could develop expertise in more technical areas of policy.
These actors were to remain within each agency, yet
through the APA, Congress erected institutional safe-
guards to ensure that ALJs would hear cases in an
unbiased manner, ideally free from agency pressure to
ensure due process for the parties involved.'"! State APAs
created similar positions following a comparable logic of
organization and institutional design. In 1972, the U.S.
Civil Service Commission changed the title of ‘‘hearing
examiner’” to that of ‘‘administrative law judge’’ to
reflect a recognition that, in many important areas of
public life, ALJs would be hearing cases independent of
agency pressure, i.e., carrying out the role of an impartial
judge in the standard sense.

The Administrative Procedure Act granted federal
ALJs a substantial degree of autonomy from their
agencies. The APA gave to the Civil Service Commission
(now the Office of Personnel Management) the power to
determine the qualifications and compensation of indi-
vidual ALJs. Under the APA, ALJs can be removed only
for cause, and before one can be disciplined, demoted,
suspended, or dismissed, they first must receive a hearing
before the Merit Systems Protection Board. The Office of
Personnel Management sets administrative law judges’
qualifications, and the APA ties ALJ compensation to
the Executive Schedule. The Civil Service Reform
Act (1978) further protected ALJs by explicitly exempt-
ing them from annual performance appraisals by their
agency, and today, ALJs are the only members of the
federal Senior Executive Service who are exempt from
them.””’ When these protections are considered along
with the other protections afforded them under the APA,
the federal administrative judiciary is clearly the single-
most protected class of federal employees vis-a-vis
employing agency influence.

However, ALJ independence is not absolute. In the
eyes of the courts, federal ALJs are not ‘‘constitutionally
protected’” as are their regular courtroom colleagues.
They are also subject to the agency in matters of
interpreting the law and agency policy, and the courts
have concluded that agencies can assign cases to specific
ALJs as they see fit. All federal agencies using ALIJs
employ some type of review within the agency,' and the
courts have ruled that in reviewing an ALJ decision under
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Table 1 Federal administrative law judges and their agencies

Agency Number of ALJs

Commodity Futures 2
Trading Commission
Department of Agriculture

Department of Education 1
Department of Energy 15
Department of Health and 9
Human Services

Department of Homeland Security 7
Department of Housing and 5
Urban Development

Department of Interior 11
Department of Justice 4
Department of Labor 47
Department of Transportation 2
Department of Treasury 2
Environmental Protection Agency 6
Federal Communications Commission 2
Federal Maritime Commission 3
Federal Mine Safety and 9
Health Commission

Federal Trade Commission 2
International Trade Commission 4
Merit Systems Protection Board 5
National Labor Relations Board 54
National Transportation 4
Safety Board

Occupational Health Safety 11
Review Commission

Securities and Exchange Commission 5
Social Security Administration 1079
Total 1292

Source: Office of Personnel Management, FedScope, http://
www.fedscope.opm.gov/employment.htm (accessed July 2003).

%3

the APA, the agency maintains
would have in making the institutional decision.

all the powers which it
53141

STATE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGES

On the heels of the passage of the federal APA, a working
group of representatives from the American Bar Founda-
tion and the National Conference of Commissioners on
Uniform State Laws created a model state Administrative
Procedure Act. The model act was fashioned after the
federal APA and included provisions for the creation of
state ALJs. The model APA has been adopted at least in
part by all 50 states and by the government of the District
of Columbia. Today, every state employs ALJs in a
fashion similar to federal ALJs.!”]

State-level ALJs hear different types of cases from
their federal counterparts. The bulk of federal ALJs hears

13

cases involving benefits for Social Security claims, with
the remainder largely presiding over regulatory hearings
(environmental, transportation, securities, mergers, labor,
and tariffs). State ALJs hear cases involving workers
compensation, alcohol sale permits, public health regu-
lations, environmental protection, utilities regulations, and
employment discrimination. Some states will even
relegate to their ALJs the authority to preside over
driver’s license revocation proceedings.

The ways in which ALJs perform their duties vary
somewhat from state to state. In some state jurisdictions,
an ALJ is an employee of the agency for which he or she
hears cases. In other states, ALJs are employed in a
separate ‘‘central panel’’ agency. Central panel agencies
were created at the state level to give state ALJs even
greater decisional independence. The creation of central
panels began after the Administrative Conference of the
United States recommended the creation of such agencies
for the federal government in the 1970s, and the idea was
vigorously supported by state bar organizations.'”) By
2003, 26 states employed central panels systems, most of

Table 2 State central panel agencies

State Agency
Alabama Alabama Administrative Law Judge
Central Panel
Arizona Office of Administrative Hearings
California Office of Administrative Hearings
Colorado Division of Administrative Hearings
Florida Division of Administrative Hearings
Georgia Office of State Administrative Hearings
Iowa Department of Inspections and Appeals
Louisiana Division of Administrative Law
Maine Division of Administrative Hearings
Maryland Office of Administrative Hearings
Massachusetts Division of Administrative Law Appeals
Michigan Bureau of Hearings
Minnesota Office of Administrative Hearings
Missouri Missouri Administrative
Hearing Commission
New Jersey Office of Administrative Law

North Carolina
North Dakota
Oregon

South Carolina
South Dakota

Office of Administrative Hearings
Office of Administrative Hearings
Office of Administrative Hearings
Administrative Law Judge Division
Office of Hearing Examiners

Tennessee Administrative Procedures Division
Texas State Office of Administrative Hearings
Washington Office of Administrative Hearings
Wisconsin Division of Hearings and Appeals
Wyoming Wyoming Office of

Administrative Hearings

Source: National Association of Administrative Law Judges (2003).
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them modeled after the California central panel system
that was adopted originally in the 1940s'”! (Table 2). In
states without central panels, it is often the practice for the
ALJs to be watched over by a board or commission,
whose members may be drawn from the interests in cases
the ALJs are to hear, as some states require in statute
representation on the boards of particular interests."™

It should be noted that some states recognize the
difference between formal and informal adjudicative
hearings. Generally speaking, state-level adjudications
are even less formal than are federal adjudications,
generally require less proof to prove a case, and are less
likely to involve attorneys for private parties involved in
the hearing.'™

AGENCY ADJUDICATIONS

Administrative law judges are the most visible actor in
state and federal agency adjudications because they hear
the vast majority of them. However, they are not the only
ones who can preside over adjudications. Namely, the
agency commission, board, or agency head may also
preside over them. There are no specific processes for how
hearings are held. Although all federal agencies must
adhere to portions of the APA, each agency is free to
develop its own specific methods. In many respects,
agency adjudications look like regular courtroom trials,
but are less formal than a courtroom proceeding. Exactly
how formal the proceedings are to be is up to each agency,
and state-level adjudications tend to be even less formal
than federal ones. At a minimum, administrative law
judges (or whoever else is presiding over the adjudication)
will manage the hearing (e.g., deciding who gives
testimony and when), develop the record, maintain the
integrity of the hearing, and render a decision based on the
record generated in the hearing.

Who gets a hearing? The answer would seem to be a
simple one, but it is not. Generally speaking, under the
Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitu-
tion, anyone in jeopardy of losing their life, liberty, or
property at the hands of the government must be afforded
due process. At the very least, this means they have to be
given a hearing before an independent and unbiased
decision maker. Because it is possible that an individual
could lose his or her property at the hands of an agency
(questions of life and liberty are handled exclusively by
the courts), it seems anyone in this position should be
given a hearing. However, the courts have been reluctant
to require agencies to conduct adjudicatory hearings in all
cases where a person stands to lose some type of property.
When Congress has passed a law stating an agency must
hold a hearing ‘‘on the record’’ for a particular type of
case (such as in licensing radio stations), or when the
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courts have inferred Congress intended to require the
agency to hold such hearings (absent of any specific
language on the matter), the adjudication provisions of the
APA will apply. If there is no such statute, and the agency
fails to grant the hearing, then it is up to the courts to
decide whether a hearing is in fact required. However,
scholars have been critical of the courts for failing to
develop a coherent set of principles governing adminis-
trative due process and what constitutes a valid hearing."’
Even if an individual can show a court they stand to lose
property, the Supreme Court ruled in Mathews v. Eldridge
(424 U.S. 319, 1976) that the agency can take into
consideration the burden a hearing would impose on the
agency when deciding to hold one, which means the court
might not require the hearing even if a person’s property is
at stake. Furthermore, even if it is apparent that the
individual has a right to a hearing, the Supreme Court has
ruled that the hearing can be held after the property has
been taken away by the agency.'”

Generally speaking, adjudications can be grouped into
one of four types, increasing in degrees of formality from
alternative dispute resolution (ADR) hearings, paper
hearings, oral hearings, to formal hearings.!''! In ADR
proceedings, the parties in the case agree to reach a
settlement through compromise and negotiation. So-called
“‘paper hearings’’ are a bit more formal in the respect that
the outcome is the product of the hearing officer (and not
negotiation), but there is no actual hearing wherein oral
testimony is presented. Instead, arguments are presented
exclusively via written briefs. Even more formal are
oral hearings where the parties present their arguments
orally, but without discovery, prehearing conferences, or
cross-examination during testimony, as in the case of
formal hearings.

The federal APA does not provide a set of compre-
hensive procedures governing the holding of hearings.
Generally, formal hearings will include opening state-
ments, the presentation of the case by the proponent
(usually the agency in regulatory hearings), the presenta-
tion of the case by the defendant, rebuttal (as allowed by
the presiding officer), and closing arguments. Agencies
vary by what can be admitted into evidence and are not
bound by the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure’s rules on
allowable evidence, although each agency is required to
generate their own rules. Agencies may base their decision
on evidence that would not otherwise be admitted in a
court case (such as hearsay), but the decision must also be
based on enough evidence that would have been admitted
or show why such evidence was not available."'*!

Depending on the type of hearing, the administrative
law judge will issue an initial decision or recommended
decision. Initial decisions are generally issued when the
case deals with a well-established issue and, unless
overturned by the agency, becomes the agency’s decision.
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If the case deals with a novel issue, the ALJ will issue a
recommended decision that may require further action
(such as additional proceedings) by the agency. The
burden of proof is on the party bringing the case.
Generally speaking, the standard of proof is ‘‘preponder-
ance of evidence’’ if Congress has not set the standard
already.""*! However, for immigration deportation cases,
reviewing courts have required higher standards, such as
the more stringent ‘‘clear and convincing evidence’’
standard."'" Many agencies have internal appellate
processes, having provisions that allow individuals to
appeal the case to the agency board or an intermediate
appellate body. Once all appellate remedies have been
exhausted in federal adjudications, parties may appeal the
case to a U.S. Court of Appeals, except cases from the
Social Security Administration which are heard by U.S.
District Courts.

CONCLUSION

Few of us who have not had contact with ALJs and agency
adjudications know of their existence, but they warrant a
degree of attention. Although the courts have recognized
their constitutional legitimacy, their platypus-like charac-
teristics of having both judicial and executive functions
make them intrinsically interesting. The sheer volume of
ALJ activity should garner our attention as well. In the
case of the U.S. Social Security Administration alone,
ALlJs presided over 377,163 cases in fiscal year 1996; in
contrast, in 1998, all 94 U.S. District Courts presided over
only 280,293 civil cases.!'”! Although the average dollar
amounts at stake in District Court cases were probably
greater, ALJs have been deemed an integral parting in the
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implementation of portions of the Social Security
program, the largest of the federal domestic programs.
They play important roles in state-level programs as well.
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INTRODUCTION

Since the end of colonial rule, administrative reform has
been one of the most common domains of social change
pursued by developing nations. In these countries, the
process of administrative reform became quite intensive
immediately after their decolonization to reduce their
dependence on colonial administration, create more
indigenous institutional structure, and expand the role of
government in national economies.!'! Beyond this histor-
ical reason, there were inherent weaknesses in governing
institutions—including bureaucratic inefficiency, admin-
istrative incapacity, social instability, market failure, and
unemployment problem, which also required administra-
tive reform. In more recent years, however, administrative
reform in developing countries has been driven by the
increasing local needs and demands as well as the
contemporary global forces and pressures, in response to
which the state has to restructure its administration and
revive its managerial capacity in line with the similar
reinvention in governance found in advanced capitalist

Administrative reform has traditionally been under-
stood as a formal, planned, and deliberate change in
various dimensions (e.g., structure, process, behavior,
norms) of the administrative system to improve its
efficiency, quality, coordination, motivation, responsive-
ness, accountability, and so on.'"* More recently, instead
of administrative reform, many scholars and experts use
the term ‘‘governance reform,”” which has much broader
connotation, encompassing changes in the civil service,
policy process, civil society, and state—market relations.'!
In terms of scope, administrative reform covers all major
levels of government (federal, state, local) and public
sectors (agriculture, industry, commerce, finance, trans-
port, education, health).[3’6] Internally, it includes various
structural, functional, procedural, normative, and attitudi-
nal changes in the administrative system.

During the recent decades, there has emerged almost a
paradigm shift, especially in terms of greater emphasis
on the market-driven objective, role, structure, policy
orientation, and norms of government administration.
Compared to the earlier state-centered model, this newly
emerging market-centered model of reform has become
the major framework for undertaking administrative

LX)
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restructuring in most countries of the world. This current
reform emphasizes the goal of efficiency and effective-
ness, supportive or facilitating role, disaggregated and
flexible managerial structure, result-based performance,
promarket policies, customer orientation, and business sec-
tor norms.””*! Such an antibureaucratic mode of admin-
istrative reform largely represents the basic components
of “‘reinventing government’’ prescribed by Osborne and
Gaebler' as well as the principles of the so-called ‘‘new
public management’* presented by Hood,''”! and it differs
substantively from the past reform initiatives undertaken
by various governments in line with the traditional
bureaucratic model.”~'"!

The above market-centered model of administrative
reform, which emerged in advanced capitalist nations, was
gradually adopted by developing countries often under the
structural adjustment program prescribed or imposed by
international aid agencies. In line with this global trend, in
various degrees, Southeast Asian countries have embraced
the major components of such reform agenda—including
the downsizing of the public sector, deregulation of
service delivery, divestment of state enterprises, liberal-
ization of trade and investment, corporatization of public
agencies, use of result-based budget and performance
indicators, and so on—in the name of economic effi-
ciency, competitiveness, service quality, value for money,
and customer satisfaction.'*'¥! There are some major
causes and implications of this reform process in South-
east Asia.

FEATURES AND TRENDS OF REFORMS
IN SOUTHEAST ASIA

Countries in Southeast Asia—including Brunei, Cambo-
dia, Indonesia, Laos, Malaysia, Myanmar, Philippines,
Singapore, Thailand, and Vietnam—vary significantly
with regard to their territorial size, demographic pattern,
ethnic and religious composition, colonial background,
social structure, political system, and economic devel-
opment."* In the past, this diversity created certain
differences among these countries in terms of the nature
and objectives of administrative reform. In recent years,
however, most of these countries have adopted reforms
in line with the globalized market-led model of public
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management mentioned above. This section discusses
the major features and trends of current administrative
reform, including the institutional, functional, structural,
normative, and policy reforms in various Southeast
Asian countries.

Institutional Reform

Most governments in Southeast Asia have undertaken
major reform initiatives to restructure the public sector
based on promarket assumptions. Examples of such
initiatives include Public Service for the 21st Century
(PS21) in Singapore, Panibagong Sigla 2000 (Renewed
Vigor 2000) in the Philippines, Public Sector Management
Reform in Thailand, Malaysia Incorporated in Malaysia,
Resolution on Public Administration Reform in Vietnam,
and National Development Program in Indonesia.!'*'>! In
addition, a new set of market-friendly state institutions has
been introduced, such as the Public Sector Divestment
Committee in Singapore, the Committee on Privatization
and the Asset Privatization Trust in the Philippines, the
Steering Committee on Reduction in the Size of the Public
Service in Malaysia, and the Public and Private Sector
Committee in Thailand.

A more critical institutional feature of administrative
reform in the region, however, is the streamlining or
downsizing of the public sector in line with the current
global trend. For example, the Thai government adopted
the downsizing strategies such as the recruitment freeze,
early retirement scheme, abolition of postretirement
vacancies, and replacement of underutilized employ-
ees.!>'®) The Philippine government also decided to
downsize the number of public sector employees by 5—
10% and Singapore government by 10%."7'8 Similarly,
the governments in Indonesia and Malaysia have decided
to streamline state bureaucracy by cutting public expend-
iture and reducing the number of civil servants.''>**! Even
in communist Vietnam, the government has introduced
unprecedented reform measures and reduced the number
of ministries and agencies from 76 in 1986 to 48 in 2001
and the percentage of public sector employment from 10%
in 1991 to 8.7% in 1994.!"-*")

Functional Reform

In Southeast Asian countries, the state bureaucracy played
a crucial role in socioeconomic development, whereas the
private sector took part in this development process under
state regulation, control, and coordination. However, the
recent administrative reform has moved away from such a
dominant role of the monopolistic public sector and
emphasized the role of market competition and private
enterprise. This new mode of reform defines the function
of public administration as that of a catalyst or facilitator

17

rather than main actor or leader—the purpose is to
restructure the role or function of the administrative
system in such a manner that it can enable (rather than
control) the role played by the business sector.?*! In both
Malaysia and Singapore, the role of the public sector has
been redesigned to reduce its functional scope and to
transform it into an enabling agent for the private sector,
which now is supposed to play the leading role in
economy and society.!''**! Such a facilitating role of the
public sector has also been prescribed in the Philippines,
Thailand, and Vietnam in their recent initiatives of
administrative reform.[>*%

The functional dimension of the current administrative
reform in the region has also greater emphasis on the
satisfaction of public sector ‘‘customers,”” which repre-
sents a shift from the earlier focus on the entitlement of
““citizens’’ to basic services provided by the state. Similar
to the businesslike customer-oriented approach adopted
recently in the public sector by most developed nations,
the concern for customers or clients has gained increasing
significance in public management in Singapore, Malay-
sia, Thailand, and the Philippines. Top public officials are
now encouraged to develop customer-oriented outlook
and customer-friendly attitude in these countries.!'!

Policy Reform

In most Southeast Asian countries, compared with their
earlier state-centric public policies such as nationalization,
regulation, and protectionism, the recent reform initiatives
have moved toward more promarket policies such as
privatization, deregulation, outsourcing, and liberaliza-
tion. In the region, the privatization policy encompasses
all major sectors, including telecommunications, electric-
ity, airlines, railway, banking, finance, petroleum, trans-
port, mining, construction, tourism, and so on. For
instance, Malaysia introduced massive privatization under
its Privatization Masterplan, Singapore adopted privatiza-
tion policy planned by its Public Sector Divestment
Committee, and the Philippines launched the privatization
program through its Committee on Privatization. Similar
privatization exercises were carried out in Thailand,
Indonesia, Cambodia, and Vietnam."*!

Southeast Asian countries have also pursued the
deregulation and liberalization of trade, investment, and
foreign ownership. For foreign investment, Indonesia has
liberalized such sectors as electricity, railways, tele-
communications, and airlines, which used to be under
state control. Malaysia, Thailand, and the Philippines have
withdrawn restrictions on foreign ownership and adopted
incentives for foreign investors such as tax exemption,
duty-free imports, and so on. The liberalization of trade
and investment has also taken place in Cambodia, Laos,
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and Vietnam.*> These recent changes certainly represent
a significant policy reform in Southeast Asia.

Structural Reforms

Despite the diverse historical origins of the administrative
systems in Southeast Asian countries, in general, they
became increasingly based on the principles of a
bureaucratic model that prescribes central control over
financial, procedural, and personnel matters. However, in
line with the abovementioned ‘‘new public management’’
model suggesting disaggregated and decentralized man-
agement practices, most countries in the region have
moved toward reforming their administrative systems
based on greater managerial and financial autonomy and
flexibility. In Singapore, for instance, the government has
restructured various agencies or departments into the so-
called ‘‘autonomous agencies’’ assigned with consider-
able managerial autonomy in personnel and financial
matters.!"!

In the case of Thailand, the government has also
created various ‘‘autonomous public organizations’’ that
have been provided with autonomy in their respective
financial and personnel policies. In Malaysia, the tra-
ditional financial controls over government departments
have been transformed into more decentralized financial
management with greater autonomy in the budget matters.
Similar trends of administrative reform in favor of
operational autonomy in management can be found in
Indonesia and the Philippines.!'>)

Normative-Attitudinal Reform

In the past, in line with the bureaucratic model that
emerged largely in Western liberal democracies, South-
east Asian countries adopted various reform measures to
inculcate administrative norms and attitudes based on
neutrality, equity, representation, and accountability,
although such standards were not often observed in
practice. However, under the recent reform in these
countries, greater emphasis has been placed on values
such as efficiency, economy, competition, value for
money, service quality, and customer satisfaction. In
Malaysia and the Philippines, there is greater concern for
administrative efficiency, effectiveness, quality, partner-
ship, and customer-orientedness.

Similarly, in recent development plans and programs,
Indonesia and Thailand have emphasized these market-
based normative and attitudinal standards. In the case of
Singapore, the current reform initiatives for the public
service, especially the PS21, also stress the realization of
values such as competition, efficiency, quality, and
customer orientation."*! All these countries have also
adopted various training programs to attitudinally reorient
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their public employees to make them more quality-
conscious and customer-friendly.

CAUSES AND IMPLICATIONS OF
REFORMS IN THE REGION

In general, the main factor or force behind the current
market-driven reform in the public sector has often been
attributed to the globalization of trade and investment,
decline in state capacity, and erosion of state autonomy,
which allegedly led to the crisis of the state and thus
required substantive reforms in state policy and adminis-
tration. According to Pereira,’®' this pressure of global-
ization on the state was reinforced by the international
business interests and neoliberal policy elites demanding
or advocating privatization, deregulation, liberalization,
and other market-friendly institutional reforms. Because
Southeast Asian countries were already integrated with
the world capitalist system, they had to respond to the new
globalized political economy and its forces by undertaking
such reform initiatives often prescribed by international
aid agencies.

For most developing countries, including those in
Southeast Asia, the World Bank identified some major
problems with the public sector, suggested reform
measures such as downsizing, retrenchment, divestment,
and so on, and extended loans mainly to those countries
which could demonstrate commitment to these prescribed
reforms.” To a certain extent, countries such as Thailand,
Indonesia, the Philippines, and Vietnam introduced
divestment, deregulation, and liberalization under the
influence of the International Monetary Fund and the
World Bank."'® It is often the external debt and
dependence of these countries that created an opportune
context for these international financial institutions to
exert such policy influence or pressure. However, it
should be added that there are also internal factors—
including domestic fiscal crisis, public sector inefficiency,
and local business interests—which required such market-
led reforms in these countries.

What are the implications of these contemporary
administrative reforms? In terms of positive outcomes,
the current promarket administrative reform represents a
serious challenge to the traditional, centralized, monop-
olistic, and elitist state bureaucracy that existed in most
Southeast Asian countries. This recent reform is likely to
make the public sector more competitive, cost conscious,
and performance-oriented and contribute to a greater
degree of transparency, decentralization, service quality,
and responsiveness to its clients or customers. However,
there are critics who often point out various negative
consequences of this contemporary reform. More specif-
ically, for some scholars, the new model of administrative
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reform based on neoliberal assumptions and market-
driven principles and policies has been largely imposed on
developing nations, and it represents a form of ideological
hegemony.?®!

It is stressed that under the current public sector
reform, the privatization and restructuring may have
diminished state sovereignty and increased foreign
ownership in certain Southeast Asian countries (e.g.,
Thailand, Indonesia, Malaysia, and the Philippines) that
suffer from heavy foreign debt and dependence and thus
are vulnerable to external policy imposition.'*” Internally,
on the other hand, policy reforms such as deregulation,
divestment, welfare cut, and customer focus may not
equally benefit all social sections or income groups—
these reform measures are likely to benefit the business
and political elites, overlook the concerns of ordinary
citizens, and expand the gap between public officials and
common citizens.!'*2*!

In terms of the impacts of such market-led reform on
the administrative system itself, the increasing similarities
between public administration and business management
may pose a challenge to the ‘‘public’’ nature of public
service, perpetuate its identity crisis, and adversely affect
the pride and morale of public employees.!'*! In addition,
under the current reform, the expansion of operational and
financial autonomy of public managers and their growing
interaction and partnership with business executives may
generate new avenues for administrative corruption and
thus compromise public service integrity. In other words,
in the current context of managerial autonomy and part-
nership with the private sector, it may be necessary to
introduce additional safeguards to prevent any kind of
wrongdoing resulting from these recent changes.

CONCLUSION

It is evident from the above discussion that during the
recent decades, Southeast Asian countries have introduced
considerable administrative reforms based on market-
based assumptions and principles, which include changes
in the public administration system in terms of its
institutional nature and scope, role and function, public
orientation, structural pattern, and normative priority.
Although there are some potential benefits from such
administrative reforms, there are also some major adverse
consequences. In this regard, there is a need to consider
some major critical concerns by top policymakers in
charge of initiating and implementing administrative
reform in each of these countries.

First, in pursuing administrative reform, most devel-
oping countries, including those in Southeast Asia, have
often followed models that emerged in advanced capitalist
nations. In particular, the Weberian bureaucratic model
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that evolved in Western nations was imitated by Southeast
Asian countries in modernizing their administrative
systems without much attention paid to their unique local
contexts. On the other hand, the current process of
administrative reform in the region has largely been based
on the neomanagerial model (‘‘new public management’’)
that originated in countries such as America, Australia,
Britain, Canada, New Zealand, and so on. This new model
of reform, which is globally touted as ‘‘good governance’’
or ‘‘best practices’’ by international agencies, is also
being reproduced in developing nations without much
concern for the ‘‘peculiarities of public service problems
and their settings’” in these countries.'*® On this ground,
countries in Southeast Asia should try to replace the
imitative models of administrative reform borrowed from
outside or imposed on them by external actors or agencies.

Second, to pursue a need-based, indigenous model of
administrative reform, the policymakers in Southeast
Asian countries should examine and seriously consider
their respective contextual factors. It is stressed by some
scholars that in general, administrative reform should not
be based on the assumption of ‘‘ideological or cultural
supremacy’’ of any particular society (especially the
West); it should rather be determined by each nation’s
contextual factors such as political history, cultural
tradition, nature of government, and constitutional
features.'”*?”! Each country in Southeast Asia has its
own unique contextual factors—including the colonial
legacy, state formation, political culture, social relations,
cultural and religious beliefs, economic resources, and
citizens’ needs and expectations—which should be
seriously taken into account in formulating administrative
reform policies and their eventual consequences. As
Heeks and Bhatnagarm] mention, in general, ‘‘Public
managers would do better to open their eyes and ears to
their immediate surroundings rather than burying their
noses in MBA textbooks in seeking guidance on reform.”’

Finally, it is essential to understand that administrative
reform should be based on a comprehensive framework,
which emphasizes reforms in other social domains
(political, economic, and cultural) that affect and are
affected by changes made in the administrative system.
It is often emphasized that administrative reform can be
successful only when it is complemented by corre-
sponding reforms in other realms of society within which
the administrative system exists and functions.”!!" In
Southeast Asian countries, most initiatives for adminis-
trative reform have been undertaken without much inno-
vations made in politics, economy, society, and culture—
this parochial or unbalanced nature of administrative
reform represents a major obstacle to its successful re-
alization or implementation. In this regard, the policy-
makers in each of these countries must reexamine the
shortcomings of such a parochial approach to reform that
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focuses mainly on the administrative system and adopt a
more comprehensive and multidimensional reform out-
look that covers other relevant and important domains
of society.
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Alternative Dispute Resolution Processes

Tina Nabatchi
Lisa B. Bingham

Indiana University, Bloomington, Indiana, U.S.A.

INTRODUCTION

This chapter explores the basics of alternative dispute
resolution (ADR). The chapter begins by defining ADR
and examining its use in the public sector. It then
discusses several processes within each of the three
categories along the ADR continuum: unassisted negoti-
ation, consensus-building, and quasi-adjudication.

WHAT IS ADR AND WHY IS IT USED IN THE
PUBLIC SECTOR?

Alternative dispute resolution (ADR), also called appro-
priate dispute resolution, is an umbrella term for a wide
variety of conflict management techniques and processes
used in lieu of traditional judicial and administrative
adjudication. In general, ADR processes are voluntary,
and most use a third party neutral, such as a facilitator,
mediator, or arbitrator. ADR processes are designed to
resolve disputes in a faster, less expensive, and more
amicable manner, and because the processes are less
adversarial and formal than traditional litigation, ADR is
often able to preserve, and sometimes strengthen, the
relationships of the disputing parties. Today, ADR
processes are used at all levels of government to resolve
a wide variety of public sector disputes (see Table 1 for a
list of government ADR web resources).

In the 1990s, several legislative acts incorporated ADR
into all three branches of the federal government. The
Civil Justice Reform Act of 1990 [28 U.S.C. §§ 471-482
(1994)] and the Alternative Dispute Resolution Act of
1998 [28 U.S.C. §§ 651-658 (Suppl. IV 1998)] brought
ADR into the federal judicial branch. Legislative agencies
were instructed to use ADR for employment disputes by
the Congressional Accountability Act of 1995 [Public
Law 104-1]. Executive branch agencies were encouraged
to use ADR when Congress passed the Negotiated
Rulemaking Act (NRA) of 1990 [5 U.S.C. §§ 561-570]
and the Administrative Dispute Resolution Act (ADRA)
of 1990 [Public Law 101-552 (codified in scattered
sections of 5 U. S. C. and 9 U.S.C.)], as amendments to the
federal Administrative Procedure Act (APA) [5 U.S.C. §
553]. The ADRA and the NRA were amended in 1996,
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making ADR and negotiated rulemaking permanent
fixtures in federal agencies.“’zl

State agencies derive their authority to use ADR from
three sources. First, agencies may infer authority from the
state Administrative Procedures Act (APA), which often
provides for informal proceedings and the resolution of
complaints by settlement.”*’ Second, agencies may imply
authority from a general enabling statute that gives them
the power to enter into contracts.”! Third, some state
legislatures have passed statutes expressly authorizing
state, and sometimes local, governments to use ADR and/
or negotiated rulemaking.

Local governments and municipalities have also
exercised their inherent police powers and budgetary
and legislative authority to use ADR. Often, they col-
laborate with local community mediation programs, non-
profit organizations with volunteers who are available to
mediate typical neighborhood disputes.

Given the proliferation ADR legislation, such process-
es are now being used to address a wide variety of public
sector disputes. ADR processes are used to resolve intra-
agency disputes, interagency disputes among government
agencies at the same or different levels, and disputes
among agencies and private parties. In these contexts,
ADR has been used in labor—management disputes,
contracting and procurement disputes, regulatory and
enforcement disputes, and for claims against the govern-
ment. The following section of the chapter discusses the
broad range of ADR processes that might be used in these
different settings.

ADR PROCESSES

ADR processes can be arranged along a continuum
ranging from informal, unassisted techniques to more
formal adjudicatory arrangements. At one end of the
continuum are certain approaches to negotiation; con-
sensual ADR processes involving a third-party neutral
fall in the middle of the continuum; and, at the other end
of the continuum are quasi-adjudicatory processes
involving a third-party neutral (see Table 2). Several
ADR processes within each of these categories are
discussed below.
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Table 1 ADR resources

For resources about ADR use in the federal government, see
the Federal ADR Interagency Working Group web site at
http://www.adr.gov

For resources about ADR use in state government, see the
Policy Consensus Initiative (PCI) web site at
http://www.policyconsensus.org

For resources about ADR use in local government, see the
National Association for Community Mediation web site at
http://www.nafcm.org

For a comprehensive gateway to ADR and conflict resolution
resources, see the Conflict Resolution Information Source
(CRInfo) web site at http://www.crinfo.org

Unassisted Negotiation

Although they do not require the use of a third-party
neutral, certain approaches to negotiation, specifically
principled or interest-based negotiation and partnering,
fall on the ADR continuum.

Principled or interest-based negotiation

The terms principled negotiation and interest-based
bargaining were developed to represent negotiation
approaches that stand in contrast to traditional positional
bargaining.'*! Positional bargaining, also called win-lose,
competitive, or adversarial negotiation, is relatively
confrontational; the disputing parties take sides (positions)
and argue in such a manner as to prevail over the other.
Conversely, principled or interest-based negotiation is
relatively cooperative; the disputing parties seek a
solution that is mutually beneficial. There are four steps
in principled negotiation: 1) separate people from the
problem; 2) focus on interests, not positions; 3) invent
options for mutual gain; and 4) use objective criteria to
assess possible solutions.'*) The goal of principled

Table 2 The continuum of ADR process

Alternative Dispute Resolution Processes

negotiation is to find a solution that will meet the needs
and interests of all parties in the dispute.

Partnering

Partnering is a relatively new ADR process developed by
agencies for use in the area of procurement and
government contracting. Partnering is intended to help
avoid the occurrence of disputes by building strong,
collaborative working relationships among the contracting
parties before disputes arise. The goal is to establish
channels of communication that are immediately used at
the first sign of a dispute in order to catch and resolve
potential problems before they become real disputes and
to reduce the need for litigation in the future.'!

Consensual Processes Involving a
Third-Party Neutral

Consensus-building or consensus-based processes de-
scribe a number of collaborative decision-making tech-
niques in which a third-party neutral assists diverse or
competing interest groups in reaching an agreement about
the issues in conflict.””! These processes are typically used
to foster dialogue, clarify areas of agreement, improve the
information on which decisions are based, and resolve
controversial issues in ways that all parties find accept-
able. The most common consensus-based processes are
conflict assessment or convening, facilitation, mediation,
conciliation, negotiated rulemaking, and policy dialogues.
In addition, there are processes intended to result in
consensus that have adjudicatory elements, such as early
neutral evaluation, minitrial, and summary jury trial.
These processes supply the disputing parties with an
expert opinion about the merits of their case and furnish
more information about their best alternative to a
negotiated agreement (BATNA). This, in turn, can
provide the disputants with a loop-back to negotiation.

Unassisted negotiation

Consensual process

Quasi-adjudicatory process

Principled or interest-based negotiation
Partnering

Conflict assessment (convening)
Facilitation

Mediation

Conciliation

Negotiated rulemaking

Fact-finding
Settlement judges
Private judges
Arbitration
Med-arb

Policy dialogues
Early neutral evaluation

Minitrial

Summary jury trial
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In all of the consensus building processes, the third party
has no power to impose a settlement on the disputing
parties, but rather simply aids the parties in reaching an
agreement. The differences among these consensus-based
processes stem from the third party’s degree of activism in
the dispute.

Conflict assessment (convening)

Conflict assessment, also known as convening, can be
a valuable first step in many ADR processes. The as-
sessment process begins with a discussion among
potential stakeholders to evaluate the causes of the con-
flict and identify the entities and individuals who would
be substantively affected by the outcome of the conflict.
Next, the interests and needs of the stakeholders are
assessed, a preliminary set of relevant issues is identified
for discussion, and the feasibility of using various col-
laborative ADR processes to address the dispute is eval-
uated. In the final step, often called process design, the
neutral recommends and assists in developing an appro-
priate ADR technique for addressing the dispute.

Facilitation

Facilitation is a collaborative process in which a neutral
assists a group of stakeholders in constructively discussing
the issues in controversy. The facilitator typically works
with participants before and during discussions to assure
that appropriate persons are at the table. The facilitator
also helps the parties set and enforce the ground rules and
agendas, assists the parties in effectively communicating,
and helps keep them on track and working toward their
goals. Facilitation is commonly used in negotiated rule-
making and to help resolve complex environmental or
public disputes; however, the process may work in any
number of situations where parties of diverse interests or
experience are in discussion.

Mediation

Mediation, one of the oldest forms of conflict resolution
and the most common ADR process used in the federal
government, is a style of facilitated negotiation, where a
skilled, impartial third party assists disputants in reaching
a voluntary, mutually agreeable resolution to all or some
of the disputed issues.” The mediator works with
disputants to help them analyze the conflict, improve
communication, identify interests, and explore possibili-
ties for a mutually agreeable resolution. The mediator
lacks power to impose any solution; instead he/she assists
the disputants in designing their own solution. Typically,
this involves supervising the bargaining, helping the
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disputants find areas of common ground and understand
their alternatives, offering possible solutions, and helping
parties draft a final settlement agreement. Mediation
usually occurs in the context of a specific dispute
involving a limited number of parties; however, mediation
procedures are also employed to develop broad policies or
regulatory mandates and may involve dozens of partic-
ipants who represent a variety of interests. Mediation is
most often a voluntary process, but court orders or statutes
mandate its use in some jurisdictions.

Conciliation

Conciliation involves efforts by a third party to improve
the relationship between two or more disputants. Gener-
ally, the third party will work with the disputants to
correct misunderstandings, reduce fear and distrust, and
improve communication. The term conciliation was used
in the early 20th century to refer to labor—-management
mediation, and was later used in Title VII of the Civil
Rights Act of 1964 to refer to settlement efforts conduct-
ed by an investigator in the Equal Employment Oppor-
tunity Commission (EEOC) after reasonable cause to
believe that discrimination under the Act has occurred."
Today, conciliation is often used to prepare disputants for
a future ADR process, and can also be used as a synonym
for mediation.

Negotiated rulemaking

Negotiated rulemaking, also known as regulatory negoti-
ation or reg-neg, involves efforts by regulatory agencies to
design regulations by negotiating with interested stake-
holders.'! In this multiparty process, a negotiating
committee consisting of the rulemaking agency and
interested stakeholders seeks to reach agreement on the
substance of a proposed rule, policy, or standard. The
purpose and intent of negotiated rulemaking is to avoid
the litigation that may arise to challenge the new rule by
generating agreement among the affected interests so that
they abide by the decision and its implementation. Federal
law requires a thorough conflict assessment before the use
of reg-neg and the involvement and assistance of a skilled,
neutral mediator or facilitator during the process.

Policy dialog

Policy dialogues are a relatively new form of ADR that
are generally used to address complex environmental
conflicts or public-policy disputes. In this process,
representatives of groups with divergent views or interests
are assembled to explore and discuss the issues in
controversy. Unlike many other consensus-based ADR
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processes, policy dialogues usually do not seek to achieve
a full, specific agreement. Rather, participants seek to
assess the potential for developing a full consensus
resolution at some later time or may put forward general,
nonbinding recommendations or broad policy preferences
for an agency (or other governmental entity) to consider in
its subsequent decision making.

Early neutral evaluation

Early neutral evaluation (ENE) is a service often initially
performed informally by mediators. In this process, a
third-party neutral, usually someone with specifically
relevant legal, substantive, or technical expertise, hears
informal evidence and arguments from all the parties
involved in the dispute and issues a nonbinding report
advising parties about the strengths and weaknesses of
their cases.!”’ The report may also evaluate the likely
reaction of a judge or jury if settlement is not reached,
provide guidance about appropriate range of outcomes,
and assist the parties with narrowing the areas of dis-
agreement or identifying information that may enhance
the chances of settlement.

Minitrials and summary jury trials

Minitrials and summary jury trials are commonly used to
resolve litigation over complex environmental or public
issues. In a minitrial, parties are generally represented by a
counsel and an agent with the authority to agree to a
settlement or decision, e.g., a CEO or agency official.
Abbreviated versions of the evidence and arguments are
presented, after which the decision-making representa-
tives attempt to negotiate a settlement.”®! In a summary
jury trial, the disputing parties impanel a jury and present
short versions of the evidence and arguments. The jury
deliberates and makes findings of fact and liability when
appropriate, which are then released by the judge.””! The
parties are not bound by the jury’s findings, but rather use
the information to assist with settlement negotiations.
Minitrials and summary jury trials are alike in that they
both serve as a loop-back to future negotiations.

Quasi-Adjudicatory Process Involving a
Third-Party Neutral

There are a broad range of ADR processes that resemble
administrative agency adjudication. These processes can
be nonbinding, with a decision that is advisory only and
may serve as a loop-back to negotiation, or binding, with a
decision that is final and enforceable by the courts. Some
of the most common quasi-adjudicatory processes are
fact-finding, settlement judges, private judges, arbitration,
and med-arb.

Alternative Dispute Resolution Processes
Fact-finding

In this process, the neutral, called a fact finder, receives
information and listens to arguments presented by the
disputants. The fact finder, who may conduct additional
research to investigate the issues in dispute, evaluates the
evidence and submits a report that contains findings of
fact and sometimes recommendations based on those
findings.”®! Typically, this informal, nonbinding process is
used in cases where the disputed facts involve highly
technical scientific or engineering issues, thus requiring
the fact finder to have subject-matter expertise.

Settlement judges

Settlement judges are used for litigation that has already
reached administrative adjudication. In this process, a
judge, who is different from the presiding judge in the
case, acts as a mediator or neutral evaluator and meets
both separately and jointly with the parties to find a
mutually agreeable solution.®! If the efforts of the
settlement judge do not produce full agreement, the case
returns to the presiding judge. A settlement judge often
plays a more authoritative role than a private mediator, by
sometimes providing parties with specific, nonbinding
legal or substantive information and recommendations.

Private judges

Private judging is similar to both settlement judging and
arbitration, and is used for cases that have already reached
adjudication. In a private-judging process, sometimes
called rent-a-judge, the disputing parties or the courts
empower a private person, usually a retired judge or
magistrate with special expertise, to hear and decide their
case after private proceedings.!”! The private judge acts as
an adjudicator and issues a binding decision based on both
fact and law.

Arbitration

Arbitration is a quasi-adjudicatory process where the
disputants present their case to an impartial third party,
who then issues an opinion. Arbitration may be of rights
or interests. Rights arbitration is retrospective; the issues
involve an existing contract that one party claims the other
has breached. Interest arbitration is prospective; the issues
involve the determination of entitlements under some
future contract. Arbitration has been used in both
unionized and nonunionized labor settings, where it is
referred to as rights arbitration, grievance arbitration,
interest arbitration, employment arbitration, and final-
offer or baseball arbitration.’® The success of arbitration
in labor relations has led to its use in commercial settings.
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Commercial arbitration is used for disputes involving
architectural, construction, consumer, and sales contracts,
as well as for divorce, environmental, and other disputes.
In all forms arbitration, neither the decision-maker nor
the parties are bound by the rules of evidence used in a
court of law. However, the hearings themselves generally
follow the steps of adjudication: the parties make opening
statements; the party with the burden of proof presents its
case, then the other party presents a rebuttal; witnesses
may be cross-examined and the parties may make closing
statements or present briefs arguing their cases.

Med-arb

Med-arb is a relatively new procedure in which a neutral
first mediates the case, and if that fails, then goes on to
arbitrate the dispute. Sometimes the same neutral
mediates and arbitrates the case; at other times different
neutrals act as the mediator and arbitrator. In this latter
variation, the mediator and arbitrator may or may not be in
contact, and the arbitrator may or may not consider the
mediator’s comments and recommendations.

CONCLUSION

The emergence and proliferation of ADR is one of the
most significant movements in U.S. law in the latter half
of the 20th century and has had profound effects on the
way the government and public administrators handle
conflicts. The institutionalization of ADR in administra-
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tive agencies demonstrates both innovation and a concern
toward amicable resolution of public disputes. The use of
ADR in the public sector will continue to grow as
governments recognize the potential of these processes to
resolve disputes in a faster, less expensive, and more
amicable manner, and as public managers develop
expertise in using these processes in decision- and
policy-making activities.
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INTRODUCTION

The theory of changes is unique to public contracting.
While the parties to a commercial contract may negotiate
the right to make subsequent changes to the contract in
public sector contracting, the public entity generally re-
tains the right, through the contractual language of a
changes’ clause, to make unilateral changes within some
predetermined parameters. This right seeks to preserve
the government’s fiduciary duty in the expenditure of
public funds.

However, changes outside of the contractual right to
make changes can occur. Such changes are commonly
known as constructive changes, i.e., the changes outside
of the authority of a changes’ clause. This article exa-
mines the nature of the constructive change and offers an
approach for examining the validity of claims based on
the constructive change argument.

THEORY OF CHANGES

Contracts between commercial and public entities gen-
erally contain a clause that permits the public party (i.e.,
the buyer) to the contract to make changes in specific
areas related to or arising from the contract. Such a right
protects the expenditure of public funds; that is, work or
other contractual matters can be redirected or redefined to
ensure that what is actually necessary is accomplished.
The ultimate objective is simple and important: wise ex-
penditure of tax dollars in pursuit of satisfying a gov-
ernment need.'"!

The changes’ authority is specific and is limited to
certain predefined actions that can be taken only by those
who have actual delegated authority to make or direct
changes. The authority and scope of changes is limited
by design. Decentralized or informal authority to make
changes to any contract would undoubtedly cause sys-
temic havoc and chaos—from a contract performance
perspective and from a financial management perspective.

Contract performance is framed by the boundaries of
the written contract. The supplier is required to furnish the
items required by the contract according to the terms and
conditions of the written contract. Thus a fundamental
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requirement of changes is the ability to identify work
performed, but not required by the contract. Changes that
have been properly ordered according to the terms and
conditions of the contract (i.e., a changes’ clause) are
considered to be formal changes and are recognized as
within the changes’ authority of the contract.”) This
clause gives the government the right to unilaterally
change the contract after it has been awarded. The spe-
cific language of the changes’ clause limits the extent
and scope of changes. In consideration of this extraor-
dinary right, the government agrees that it will compens-
ate the supplier for the additional costs of the work as
changed, will extend performance or delivery dates, if
appropriate, or will compensate with money and time.

The contract requires the government to issue changes
in a formal written manner. However, circumstances may
arise in which the supplier is directed to perform outside
of the formal written contract. For example, a government
inspector may impose more stringent acceptance criteria
on supplies tendered under the contract. In effect, the
inspector will change the acceptance criteria of the written
contract; this may cause the supplier to incur additional
costs or to experience a schedule delay. When this manner
of effecting a contract change occurs, the government can
be liable for the costs the supplier incurs in complying
with the change. In addition to a cost impact, a schedule
impact can occur as the result of a contract change.
Changes that take place outside of the explicit authority
of the changes’ clause are considered as ‘‘constructive
changes.”” The supplier attempts a legitimate argument
that a constructive change occurred and that compensa-
tion is appropriate. That compensation can be in the form
of additional money, time, or both. Such compensation is
referred to as equitable adjustment.

CONSTRUCTIVE CHANGE

The constructive change can be thought of as an ‘‘in-
formal’’ change to the contract. A formal change is
written direction from a government official with the
specific authority to direct a change. The formal change is
followed by the issuance of a ‘‘Change Order,”’ generally
in the form of a modification to the contract. The informal
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change lacks the formality of the written change; that is, it
is a verbal or written act by a government employee that
causes a change to the existing contract.

The constructive change can arise from any number of
actions or inactions on the part of the government. If the
government inspector failed to appear at the agreed upon
time and date to accept the supplies, then a constructive
change argument might be appropriate. Of course, it is
necessary in any change situation that entitlement and
quantum be proven. That is to say, mere failure to appear
on time to accept supplies does not entitle the supplier to
additional compensation. If the supplies were not ready
for inspection and the inspector failed to appear, then a
constructive change argument would not prevail.

Some examples of circumstances that have been held
by boards and courts to constitute constructive changes
are the following:

1. Impossibility of performance. Time, money, or
impracticality makes it impossible to perform. Draw-
ings or specifications tendered by the government that
are impossible to meet would pass the test of practical
impossibility. (Recognize that with unlimited time
and money, many things are possible, but not prac-
tically possible.)

2. Defective specifications. Ambiguous or defective
specifications that prevent the work from being ac-
complished. The supplier may have spent time and
money after contract award attempting to comply
with the specification as provided by the government.

3. Over-inspection and delays. Actions or inactions by
government representatives that may place overly
stringent inspection and testing requirements on the
supplier after contract award. The supplier may have
experienced delay and disruption when supplies
rejected should have met the contractual inspection
and testing requirements.

4. Additional tasking or direction. Actions that cause the
supplier to perform work in excess of the level of
work anticipated by the contract.

5. Failure to provide timely and/or suitable government-
furnished equipment, property, or information. When
the contract calls for items and/or information to be
provided by the government, timely availability of
those items may be critical to preserving contract
price and schedule. Additionally, property or equip-
ment provided as ‘‘suitable for its intended use’’ is
warranted for its purpose. Unsuitable equipment that
cannot be used by the supplier may constitute a
constructive change.

There are many other circumstances that can occur
during performance of the contract that provide grounds
for claims of constructive change. Government contract-
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ing officers must ensure that all government personnel
involved in postaward activities comply with stated terms
and conditions and are fully aware of the scope of their
authority and the potential consequences of their actions.

As a consequence of a constructive change, suppliers
prepare and submit a proposal for compensation based on
the changed work. The quality of the change proposal is
of utmost importance because the government must
evaluate the validity of the claim. The claim and its
supporting documentation must undergo careful scrutiny
and analysis. To that end, evaluators must look for
specificity in all information provided. A claim that fails
to support entitlement should be returned to the supplier.
If entitlement is justified, then quantum may be subject
to negotiation.

CONTENTS OF THE CONSTRUCTIVE
CHANGE PROPOSAL

At a minimum, the supplier’s change proposal should
consist of the following elements:

1. Statement of the alleged change. This statement
should clearly and precisely outline the basis of the
claim and the equitable adjustment requested.

2. Statement of the relevant contract requirement. The
contract requirements must be clearly established.
The supplier’s interpretation of the relevant contract
requirement may be included. Attention must be paid
to this interpretation because it may be unreasonable
or inconsistent with the contract language. For
example, the use of the word ‘‘shall’’ in the work
statement connotes a requirement while ‘‘may’’
suggests a permissive state. Information given in this
section of the claim is a critical component of the
claim and forms the foundation for continued review
and consideration. It defines what the supplier exactly
perceived to be his responsibilities under the contract
at the time it was signed.

3. Statement of the government action or inaction that
caused the performance of work outside the bound-
aries of the contract. This statement provides detailed
information regarding the government’s action or
inaction that caused the change. It must support the
argument that a gap exists between the contract
language and the government’s action or inaction. In
the absence of a well-written document pointing to
government ‘‘interference,”’ this statement becomes
difficult to prove. For example, a letter rejecting all
supplies tendered for failure to meet a tolerance of 1
in. compared to the contract requirement of a 1.5-in.
tolerance makes entitlement easier to prove. Evalua-
tors are reminded that government action needs only



28

contribute substantially toward the changed work for
a supplier to successfully argue a constructive change.

4. Detailed discussion of the additional work performed.
This portion of the claim must include a detailed
discussion of the excess work performed. For exam-
ple, specific information regarding increased scope of
duties, increased performance levels, higher person-
nel standards, etc., must be provided. It is not suf-
ficient for the supplier to make a broad-sweeping
statement that ‘‘delay occurred as a result of gov-
ernment action.”” The link between cause and effect
must be clearly established. For example, if an item
required rework because of overly stringent testing
requirements, then the claim should include amount
of rework (hours, dates, etc.) and the detailed bill of
material substantiating additional material costs.

5. Detailed cost proposal supporting the additional work
performed. The claim must also include a detailed
cost proposal showing the actual costs of the changed
work. While some suppliers may attempt to use the
total cost method approach toward justifying quan-
tum, evaluators are cautioned that using such a me-
thod does not provide a causal link for purposes of
additional costs incurred. To avoid such a circums-
tance, contracts should include a change order ac-
counting clause that requires suppliers to have an
accounting system in place that segregates costs of
changed work. The cost proposal should contain the
direct and indirect costs strictly associated with the
constructive change. Sometimes, constructive change
determinations are retroactive making the total cost
approach the logical choice. However, total cost
approach suggests that the difference between the
contract price and the new cost of the work (plus
profit) represents the total new value of the work.
Oftentimes, this is not the case. Inefficiencies and
other matters unrelated to the change may find a way
into the cost proposal when the total cost approach is
used. Detailed cost data should be included as a
supplement to the claim and should include all
pertinent cost back-up information. Detailed records,
such as timesheets, supplier’s invoices, and payroll
records, should augment the cost proposal.

6. Compensation requested. The supplier should state
the specific compensation requested, i.e., time, mo-
ney, or both. Remember that the existence of a cons-
tructive change does not automatically confer rights
of compensation. The supplier must demonstrate a
direct link between the alleged cause of the change,
the change, and the additional costs incurred.

In addition, the well-documented claim should include
supporting information that augments or ‘‘backs up’’ the
alleged claim. Information, such as records of conversa-
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tions, technical write-ups, copies of relevant portions of
the contract, data analysis, and basis of cost estimates, are
useful in analysis of the claim. Photographs can also lend
credibility to the claim. In reviewing the content of the
request for equitable adjustment, the evaluator should be
cognizant of information that is noticeably absent or of
conflicting information either among the documents
submitted or among documents not submitted. For exam-
ple, the supplier’s initial technical proposal may address
some aspects of the work in a manner that challenges the
constructive change argument.

Evaluators must also be alert to the submission of su-
perfluous information that has no relevance to the cons-
tructive change itself. Well-organized, clear, and unam-
biguous information should provide support to the claim.
If necessary, additional information should be requested.

IDENTIFICATION AND INVESTIGATION
OF THE ALLEGED CHANGE

As part of the review process, the government must
conduct an independent review and analysis. This will
include a thorough review of all contractual records not
only those contained in the official contract file but any
that might exist in other government files. Interviews and
meetings with government personnel involved or alleged
to be involved provide a valuable opportunity to under-
stand the facts and circumstances surrounding the al-
leged change.

A detailed technical review of the alleged change must
be conducted if technical matters are relevant. Experts in
the field are best suited to conduct a review and analysis
of the supplier’s technical arguments and presentation of
the alleged facts. An independent comparison of the
supplier’s information and the government’s information
must be made to identify any areas that are not in ag-
reement. Such a comparison may form the basis for the
denial of the claim or for negotiation of the claim. The
evaluation must focus on the extent to which a cost and/or
schedule overrun resulted from the government’s action
or inaction.

The government team must establish the baseline
contract requirements. Reviewing the contract and any
extrinsic evidence, such as precontractual correspondence
and records, may point to discussions or clarifications
with the supplier. Additionally, the supplier’s proposal
can provide important information about the supplier’s
intent and understanding when entering into the contract.
Review of the supplier’s proposal is a critical part of
the investigation that cannot be overlooked. In many
contracts, the supplier’s proposal is incorporated into the
contract by reference. This most often occurs when the
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government elects to pay a premium for a better technical
solution. In such cases, the supplier’s proposal forms the
baseline for technical expectations.

Recreating the history of what happened and who was
involved is important. This can be a difficult task because
of personnel change and records transfer. File documenta-
tion may not adequately represent the events surround-
ing the constructive change making the recollections of
government personnel important. In such cases, oral
findings must be documented and added to the govern-
ment record.

This investigation is important for several reasons:

1. It enables the government to assess the validity of
the claim.

2. It allows the government to isolate the extent to which
the government may have caused the constructive
change.

3. It enables the government to reconstruct the events
for purposes of establishing a monetary and/or time
value.

4. Tt prepares the government to support its position in
the event of litigation.

RECOVERABLE COSTS

If entitlement has been determined, then every conceiv-
able type of cost analysis should be performed. However,
recognize that the extent of resources used during this
effort should be commensurate with the value of the
claim. Solid cost analysis will place the government in a
solid position when negotiating the quantum aspect of the
constructive change claim.

It is generally recognized that in a firm fixed-price bid,
a supplier does not include contingency costs. A firm
fixed-price contract type indicates a well-defined work
statement for which no contingency costs are neces-
sary. Additionally, firm fixed-priced contracts are often
awarded to the low-priced bidder. That being the case,
suppliers are not motivated to include ‘‘unnecessary
costs’’ into their bid price. If it is possible to reconstruct
the bid price using some fundamental assumptions, then
analysis of various cost elements and cost-estimating
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relationships may help develop a good negotiation po-
sition. Richard Newman’s Supplier Price Analysis con-
tains useful information that may assist evaluators in
developing solid assumptions about a supplier. Typical
examples of recoverable costs include increased labor
costs caused by productive time problems, additional man
hours, wage increases due to extended performance pe-
riods, overtime costs; increased material costs, increased
overhead costs and repair and alteration costs. The causal
relationship must be established prior to any establish-
ment of reasonableness.

Suppliers are not expected to add costs for anticipated
changes to their bid price. The costs caused by such
changes, if they occur, are expected to be paid by sup-
plemental agreement to the contract. Although a supplier
may identify and quantify all costs incurred that are
associated with the change and a reasonable profit, such
costs may not be an accurate representation of due com-
pensation. In fact, federal procurement regulations cau-
tion that costs incurred are not presumed to be reasonable.
For example, inefficiency on the part of the supplier
may have contributed to the additional costs. Constructive
changes does not provide a supplier the opportunity to
recover acquired losses that are not related to the change.

CONCLUSION

Constructive changes present unique challenges for
government contract managers. Great care must be taken
to avoid situations that can result in constructive changes.
However, if such a claim is made, then a thorough iden-
tification and investigation of the circumstances and facts
surrounding the allegation will ensure that the govern-
ment’s findings and conclusions result in a justifiable po-
sition that leaves the parties whole.
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INTRODUCTION

Despite the diversity across a myriad of policy areas, the
nation states that comprise the membership of the
Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) have
developed a mechanism for ‘‘cooperation’’ in matters
pertaining to public administration and policy across its
member states. ASEAN now provides a regional rival to
the older and arguably more important organization for
public administration affairs in Asia, the Eastern Regional
Organization for Public Administration (EROPA). Al-
though ASEAN was established in 1967, it was not until
the second meeting of the ASEAN Standing Committee in
1980 that the ASEAN Conference on Reforms in the Civil
Service (ACRCS) was established as an ASEAN activity.
The ACRCS was renamed the ASEAN Conferences on
Civil Service Matters (ACCSM) in 1987, with a stronger
emphasis on collaboration between member countries.
Clearly, much of the impetus surrounding these develop-
ments was based on a desire among member states to
facilitate economic integration in addition to positioning
the region as an attractive place for foreign direct
investment underpinned by strong administrative and
policy capacities. A fundamental founding principle of
ASEAN is cooperation between member states, and the
ACCSM is regarded as one of its key cooperation
initiatives. This entry will aim to evaluate the extent of
cooperation between administrative systems in the region
and the nature of the reforms that are being promulgated
by the ACCSM.

PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION IN ASEAN

It is beyond the remit of this entry to describe in any detail
the direction and nature of administrative reforms in each
member nation of ASEAN (see other entries in EPAP).
However, it is useful at this stage to pick up some major
themes and points of difference within these countries.
There are roughly three groupings within ASEAN based
on the extent of modernization within the various
administrative systems where there is a strong correlation
between political stability and economic development.
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Brunei Darussalam, Malaysia, Singapore

In this group, there have been considerable attempts by
stable political leaderships to orientate administrative
systems close to Western models.''! In particular,
Malaysia and Singapore have come the closest to
replicating the New Public Management observed in
western nations, particularly Britain and New Zealand.
However, even here it is difficult to generalize. For
example, Malaysia’s ‘‘Look East’’ policy explicitly
emulated the example set by Japan and to a lesser extent,
Korea, in terms of economic and human resources policy.
Brunei’s civil service has consistently looked to the
United Kingdom for inspiration despite its unique
monarchy.?! Arguably, these three nations are also the
most economically successful in ASEAN.

Indonesia, Philippines, Thailand

This grouping has experienced varying degrees of
political turmoil when compared to the first grouping, in
addition to a similar variance in economic development.
Both Indonesia and Thailand suffered particularly dam-
aging consequences as a result of the Asian economic
crisis of the late 1990s, and had to seek International
Monetary Fund (IMF) loans. For Thailand, in particular,
the program of economic reform that constituted the
IMF response in 1997 included civil service reform.
Economic progress in the Philippines has also been exac-
erbated by political instability. However, attempts have
been made to modernize administrative systems in all
three countries, but here generalizations remain difficult.
For instance, Thailand’s system of government remains
highly centralized when compared with that of Indonesia
and the Philippines.

Cambodia, Laos, Myanmar, Vietham

The third group of countries represent the most recent
members of ASEAN, with Cambodia being the newest,
joining ASEAN in 1999. However, with the exception of
Cambodia, these countries are characterized by authori-
tarian rule and command economies, although Vietnam
and Laos are engaged in cautious reform strategies. For
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the purposes of this entry, what is clear is that
administrative modernization has not been high on the
agenda of any of these countries until very recently.

KEY COMPONENTS OF ACCSM

Under the auspices of ASEAN, it is proposed here that
ASEAN acts as a forum for learning in terms of policy and
administrative development. Comparisons with the Euro-
pean Union (EU) are largely futile in this area as a key
component of the ““ASEAN way’’ is to rely ‘‘on national
institutions and actions, rather than creating a strong
central bureaucracy.”[3 ! However, the 1992 declaration
of an ASEAN free trade area (AFTA) and the Asian
economic crisis created pressures for ‘‘greater coordina-
tion and institutionalization.””'® Thus the ACCSM is
pivotal to understanding developments in public policy
and administration within ASEAN.

The main forum for discussing developments in
relation to public administration policy occurs within the
ACCSM biannual conferences. At each conference,
technical and country papers are presented. The rest of
this section will briefly review developments from the 8th
ACCSM in Manila mainly because it marked the
beginning of ASEAN enlargement and it signaled the
start of closer cooperation and institutionalization of pub-
lic administration practice within ASEAN member states.

At the 8th ACCSM in Manila in 1995, an Action Plan
was endorsed entitled ‘‘Building Dynamic and Respon-
sive 21st Century Civil Services’’ outlining the follow-
ing objectives:

e Human resources development.
e Recruitment and selection.

¢ Information exchange.

e Research and development.

These objectives were to be met by resource sharing
and through the use of ICT."! For instance, in relation to
human resources development, it was declared that
member countries who have a ‘‘special interest in a
particular field of public administration’’ set up ASEAN
Resource Centers (ARCs) to disseminate information to
other ASEAN members. The establishment of the
Resource Centers has emerged as a key plank in the
strategy of strengthening cooperation in public adminis-
tration within ASEAN to allow the exchange of best
practice within ASEAN member states.”! The ASEAN
Covenant, ‘‘Toward Building Better Bureaucracies’’
formalized the establishment of the ARCs ‘‘to optimize
the movement of goods and services across traditional
boundaries.””®! What is apparent is that the ARCs are
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concerned with the micromanagement aspects of public
administration and policy only.

The 9th ACCSM was held in 1997 in Singapore, where
it was proposed that each ACCSM was to be held on a
biannual basis. Thus it was the 10th ACCSM, in 1999 in
Thailand under the theme of ‘“‘Good Governance: A
Challenge for Economic Revitalization and Democracy
Development,”’ that further consolidated the Covenant of
the 8th ACCSM. In addition, it was the first ACCSM to be
attended by all the current members of ASEAN. The
conference also took place under the backdrop of the
repercussions of the Asian financial crisis.

At the 11th ACCSM in Hanoi in 2001, the theme was
““ASEAN Civil Services for Dynamic and Sustainable
Development,”” with the focus shifting to the post-1995
new member states. Both Cambodia and Laos proposed
the establishment of ASEAN resource centers on Capacity
Development of Civil Servants and Civil Service
Performance Management, respectively. Only Myanmar
has yet to submit a proposal.” In addition, the ACCSM
prescribed a role for member states with more developed
administrative systems to guide others in terms of human
resource development.

The theme of the last and 12th ACCSM in 2003 in
Brunei was ‘‘E-Government: An Opportunity for National
Development and Public Sector Modernization.”” This
represents macro-level cooperation within ASEAN and
builds upon the creation of an e-ASEAN task force to
develop a regional ICT strategy, linked to wider ‘‘E-
Government’” initiatives.!”’

OBSTACLES TO COOPERATION

What is the likely outcome of closer cooperation between
the ASEAN nations with regard to public administration?
The sheer diversity of the nation states in question
immediately militates against any generalizations. In
terms of modernizing public administration and policy
making within ASEAN, a strong ‘‘colonial legacy’’ could
be a basis to predict whether a nation’s reform program
will replicate those being undertaken in the West. Turner
and Hulme'® identify the common features of the colonial
legacy including a tendency toward centralization,
ambiguity about the roles and relationships of public
administrators and politicians, and a tradition of appoint-
ing ‘‘generalist’’ administrators to senior positions.
Although these features are readily identified in the
majority of ASEAN countries, the colonial imprint is
uneven across ASEAN. Britain colonized Brunei, Malay-
sia, Myanmar, and Singapore and likewise France in

“For details of ASEAN resource centers, go to Ref. [6].
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Cambodia, Laos, and Vietnam. The Dutch administered
Indonesia until 1949, while its neighbors, the Philippines,
were under the control of the United States until 1946, and
Spain before that, until 1898. Thailand is the only ASEAN
country never to be under the administration of a foreign
power. However, Thailand’s hierarchical society and
bureaucratic polity, although unexposed to modernization
early in its development, is typical of most countries in
ASEAN. In the Philippines, U.S. colonial administration
was influential, which helped some aspects of moderniza-
tion but ‘‘the American emphasis on political and civil,
rather than bureaucratic, action did not result in a highly
trained Filipino officialdom.”’"! In Indonesia, the Dutch
relied on local officials, which sided with the Dutch
during the nationalist revolution, so they were politicized
after independence.””’ Overall, the ‘indigenization’’ of
systems of public administration that followed coloniza-
tion has served to preserve bureaucratic systems, which in
turn, has made them resistant to reform.['”!

Secondly, the elite domination of administration and
politics in the ASEAN countries would suggest that
ACCSM has important symbolic value. As Turner and
Hulme'®' have argued, bureaucracies dominated by
technocrats tend to welcome reforms that give “‘legitima-
cy or the appearance of substance to the regime and
state.”” Moreover, political legitimacy in the ASEAN
countries requires strong economic performance; thus the
appearance of administrative modernization has a strong
appeal.'®! For instance, the Philippines’ policy making is
“‘subject to the particularistic demands of a wealthy elite
or oligarchy’’ supported by the bureaucratic management
of the economy that compromises national economic
development.''" The same is true of Indonesia.

In Vietnam, the major turning point for administrative
reform was the Eighth Plenum of the Central Committee
in January 1995, which focused on the reform of state
institutions, the reform of administrative procedures, and
the creation of a corps of administrative officials. It is the
latter that addressed the civil service in particular as it
was reported that only a minority of civil servants ‘‘were
fully qualified to do their jobs... The reform involved
the design of a new system and code, a new salary
structure, and a new recruitment process based on exam-
ination and the retraining of old cadres.”’!"*! This de-
velopment happened to coincide with accession to
ASEAN the same year.

The newer group of ASEAN nations have had to
quickly adjust to the Association’s initiatives. Market
reforms, implicit in the thrust of ASEAN initiatives, have
also challenged the newer group in terms of bureaucratic
management of the economy. Vietnam’s historically
bureaucratically managed economy has been °‘progres-
sively dismantled.”’'"* For Laos, joining ASEAN was
traumatic, as it ‘‘struggles to pay its ASEAN fees and

Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN)

lacks enough English-speakers and skilled diplomats to
make an impression at the 300 yearly meetings of the
organization and its various committees.”’!"* In Myan-
mar, the problems are different and possibly more acute.
Any colonial impact by Britain was negated by military
rule, which ‘‘drove most of the trained civil officials from
office” in 1962.") The subsequent excessive corruption
was recently exacerbated by a freeze on civil servants’
salaries.''>! Thus of all the ASEAN countries, it is
probably Myanmar’s administrative structure that is least
developed. In a stark warning by Matthews,'® ““there is
simply no infrastructure to sustain a modern nation.”’
Finally, Cambodia has had to respond to economic
initiatives within ASEAN, which have required new
institutional arrangements. This has demanded modern-
ization of the civil service system in addition to
developing appropriate human resources, developing
appropriate incentive structures, and rooting out corrup-
tion.!'” In addition, Cambodia faces similar problems to
Laos when engaging with ASEAN. There is concern about
a general lack of competence in English, the language of
ASEAN, and the requirement to upgrade technical
knowledge to be able to represent the interests of
Cambodia within ASEAN.!'®!

CONCLUSION

Although ASEAN has explicitly promoted cooperation
among its members in terms of policy, the overall picture
tends to be one of divergence rather than convergence.
This is partly explained by the political context as for most
of ASEAN rule by military or civil bureaucracy or both,
rather than rule by party is the norm. Convergence
between such contrasting economies and political elites
through strategies such as the e-ASEAN ICT task force is
unlikely.m However, the main objective of ASEAN,
which is to enhance regional cooperation, as outlined in
the Bangkok Declaration of 1967, looks more likely to be
achieved through the ARCs and the dissemination of
“‘best practice,”” rather than through any conscious
attempt at the impossible task of converging administra-
tive systems.
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INTRODUCTION

The budget stabilization fund (BSF), popularly called the
“‘rainy-day fund’> (RDF), is a fiscal device used by
subnational governments to store extra revenues during
economic booms for use in economic downturns to
supplement inadequate resources for meeting outlay
demands. Since the early 1980s, this countercyclical
device has attracted increasingly more academic attention.

ORIGIN

The concept and practice of countercyclical reserves date
back to Biblical times: Joseph saved Egypt from a great
famine by storing up food in years of harvest.!'! In the
American government system, the BSF also enjoys a
relatively long history, tracing back to the second half of
the 19th century.””) With ineffective controls and too
frequent transfers, many cities then had difficulty keeping
departmental spending within budgeted levels; so the
cities created contingency funds for emergencies.'*! Early
contingency funds were very small as a percentage of the
budget or in absolute amounts' (for example, Boston
reserved only a quarter to half a percent of appropriations
for emergencies and Cincinnati reserved $50,000 for each
half-year period). Rules regarding the use of the funds
were developed involving consensus between the execu-
tive and legislative branches™ (in Boston, the city auditor
could transfer from this fund only when he was directed to
do so by the mayor, with approval of the council’s
committee on finance. Council approval often had to be
majority. In Cincinnati, mayoral direction had to be
accompanied by consent of two-thirds of the council,
while Minneapolis demanded supermajority approval—20
out of 26 council votes).

The earliest use of the name ‘‘rainy-day fund’’ was
by New York City in the 1930s. The NYC rainy-day
fund had inadequate restrictions on approval procedures
and an insufficient mandate on replenishment; its
balance was very ‘‘modest’’ by the early 1960s. ‘“When
NYC borrowed for operating expenses, it also decided
to make use of its rainy day fund’’'¥ (this is a comment
by Mr. Ted Weiss who, in the early 1980s, was chair-
man of the House Subcommittee on Intergovernmental
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Relations and Human Resources. Mr. Weiss was on
the New York City Council in the early 1960s). The
fund soon went into disuse and was forgotten. The
lesson is apparent: a BSF cannot exist long without
restrictive approval procedures. A consensus mechanism
between the executive and legislative branches is a nec-
essary feature.

At the state level, New York was the first to adopt a
formal BSF (1946)—the tax stabilization reserve fund—
‘‘as a safeguard against possible future declines in
revenues.”’®! Tt should be noted that states give their
BSFs different names. Ohio first used the name ‘‘budget
stabilization fund’’ (1981); Michigan adopted a more
descriptive name—*‘countercyclical budget and econom-
ic stabilization fund’’ (1977).

EVOLUTION

From Contingency Funds to General
Fund Balances

Early contingency funds were created out of operational
necessity, but maintaining the funds, especially when the
financial condition was strong, often encountered intense
political pressure. Clow'*! mentioned that although they
saw the strong management and operational rationale
behind the fund, most finance officers involved in setting
up the reserves were unwilling to stand the related outside
pressures. They even preferred not to have a reserve
fund.”!

As a consequence, finance officials often resorted to
“‘unofficial’”’ ways to end up with general fund balances
(GFB)—money that they could use for contingencies. One
way was to intentionally underestimate revenue or
overestimate expenditures. Another way was to designate
GFB for some purpose they knew would not occur or on
which the entire designated amount would not be spent.
This represents a tacit transformation of a contingency
fund into GFB through management gimmicks.'” [Clow
records that such dilemma had led to the purposeful com-
plication of the contingency account by financial officers
(e.g., treasurers), so that politicians could not easily make
clear how much balances were available.
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Countercyclical Role of General
Fund Balances

The development of GFB as a countercyclical fiscal tool is
closely related to balanced budget requirements (BBR) in
the states. The requirements, in one form or another, are
all in stock instead of in flow by nature.'®®! Thus instead
of rigidly requiring each state to balance their budgets in
each fiscal year (or each budget cycle for those biennial
budget states), the BBRs allow states to balance over the
years, creating the need and chance for the establishment
of countercyclical reserves. A good illustration is that
while most states require their governor to submit and sign
and their legislature to pass a balanced budget, allowing
deficit carryover into the next budget cycle is a common
article in state BBRs. Gradually, states developed the
practice of building up their GFB during boom years to
help mitigate revenue shortages in downturns. Historical
data confirm this proposition. From 1957 to 1984, over the
cycles of six national recessions, GFB of the state and
local sector in aggregation grew substantially during
boom years (Table 1, Panel B) and the balances depleted
very quickly in lean years (Table 1, Panel A). Professional
organizations such as the National Association of State
Budget Officers (NASBO) and Government Finance
Officers Association (GFOA) have also advocated main-
taining a certain amount of GFB as one of the ‘‘best
practices’’ (for details, see Refs. [9,10]).

General Fund Balances to Budget
Stabilization Fund

General fund balances, however, became easy targets of
attack by voters in more recent times, as in the case of
Proposition 13 in California. Taxpayers in many states
through referendum voted into effect tax and expenditure
limitations to restrain state and local governments from
keeping large GFB. The vulnerability of GFB made
officials increasingly aware of the advantages of a
properly structured countercyclical fiscal tool as a more
reliable and easier-to-operate vehicle that is protected by
law from spending pressure.'*'"'*! This device is the
budget stabilization fund.

DEFINING BUDGET STABILIZATION FUNDS

The fact that the BSF is a useful instrument to save assets
during booms for use during recessions has been
recognized by state as well as federal legislators, >4

professional organizations'”! rating agencies,!'”! and
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scholars.!'! While there is a consensus regarding the
utility of BSF, there does not seem to be consensus yet
on what a BSF is or what key structural features a BSF
must possess to qualify as a real BSF. GFOA and NASBO,
for example, list different features as essential for a
BSF. The lack of consensus has led to confusion and
misuse of the concept, which in turn causes inaccuracy in
data collection.

Synthesizing past literature and related legislative
history and examining the finance laws of the states
identify three overarching features of the BSF. First, a
BSF must have an enabling legislation as its legal basis.
Second, a BSF is a countercyclical reserve fund across
fiscal years or budget cycles. Finally, a BSF must be a
government-wide reserve for general purposes.

Enabling Legislation

Budget stabilization funds are established with enabling
legislation which describes the details of a BSF, such as its
purpose(s), funding source(s), allowable balance level,
procedure for use approval, replenishment after use, and
so on. This legislation is the legal basis of the fund. It is
very significant in several fundamental ways. First, the
legislation serves as a firewall between the fund and
elected officials. Executive officials cannot easily use the
money at their discretion because the procedure for use
approval is fairly strict in most cases. Legislators cannot
readily engage in pork barrel spending with this fund
either because the money is available only for predeter-
mined purposes.

Second, the legal language creating BSFs provides a
defense for elected officials against popular pressure for
tax returns/refunds or overspending during boom years,
especially in the era of tax revolts and expenditure limi-
tation movements. Third, the law makes it compulsory to
save when the economy is strong and state revenue goes
above the expenditure needs and to replenish the fund after
use, so the state can stay better prepared for reve-
nue shortfalls.

Finally, the existence of a legal basis for a BSF serves
as a dividing line between a countercyclical fiscal reserve
fund and GFB, which is maintained more out of practice
than as a legal requirement in response to daily
operational needs. The fact that a few states do have a
legally required fiscal year-end balance of the general
fund does not diminish this distinction: such required
balances do not go across fiscal year/budget cycles.
Findings from a previous study indicate that when
downturns hit, general fund balances are always the first
to be depleted, followed by budget stabilization funds and
other useable funds.!'” When these resources are almost
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Table 1 State-local fiscal behavior, 1957-1984—average quarterly growth rates of aggregate general fund balances

Panel A: Behavior during recessions

Contraction
Peak Trough Revenue growth (%) Expenditure growth (%) Surplus change (bil $)
1957 10 1958 1 1.7 2.9 —0.55
1960 1 1960 IV 1.9 2.1 -0.1
1969 11 1970 IV 2.8 32 —0.46
1973 IV 19751 2.6 33 —1.32
1980 I 1980 11 0.5 1.9 —4.7
1981 11 1982 IV 1.3 1.8 —1.66

Panel B: Behavior during expansions

Expansion
Trough Peak Revenue growth (%) Expenditure growth (%) Surplus change (bil $)
1958 1 1960 1 2.4 1.5 0.34
1960 IV 1969 111 2.5 24 0.08
1970 IV 1973 IV 2.9 2.5 0.8
19751 1980 1 2.5 2.1 6.15
1980 1II 1981 11T 1.8 1.3 3.06
1982 1V 1984 IV 2.1 1.8 4.95

Sources: 1957-1977 data, Advisory Commission on Intergovernmental Relations (ACIR), State-Local Finances in Recession and Inflation, Report-70.
Washington, DC, 1979; 1978-1984 data, Ronald Fisher, ‘‘Statement before the Intergovernmental Relations and Human Resources Subcommittee of the
Committee on Government Operations,”” in U.S. Congress, Federal and State Roles in Economic Stabilization—hearings before a subcommittee of the
Committee on Government Operations House of Representatives, Nov. and Dec. 1984. U.S. Government Printing Office, 1985; 107.

gone, tax increases, expenditure cuts, and accounting
gimmicks come into use.

Countercyclical Reserves Fund Across
Fiscal Years/Budget Cycles

The BSF is designed as a countercyclical mechanism. As a
reserve to be accumulated in boom years for use in lean
years, it is necessarily a mechanism that operates across
fiscal years (for those states that adopt biennial budgets, it
operates across biennial budget cycles). The focal point of
a BSF is to ‘‘balance,”” or smooth out the peaks and
troughs of, revenues and expenditures through the business
cycle, instead of merely the fiscal year or budget cycle.
This feature separates the BSF from working capital
funds and legally required year-end general fund balances.
A working capital fund serving cash flow purposes
operates mainly within the fiscal year so that the
government does not have to resort to the debt market
for current spending before tax revenues stream in. In
some cases, the working capital fund does go beyond the
fiscal year, but even in those instances, its focus remains
on filling in the revenue gap between two budget cycles.

In a few states (Colorado, Kansas, New Mexico, and
Wisconsin), their finance laws require a balance (surplus)
of the general fund at the end of fiscal years, ranging in
size between 2% and 5% of the current year general fund
revenue. Given the spending pressure from politicians and
taxpayers, these required balances are not guaranteed to
accumulate across fiscal years or budget cycles. As such,
these required year-end balances cannot serve as a BSF.

Government-Wide Reserve for
General Purposes

The U.S. General Accounting Office (GAO) classifies
state reserves into three categories: 1) government-wide
reserves for general purposes; 2) government-wide
reserves for specific purposes; and 3) agency-specific
reserves for specific purposes.'® A BSF should be a
government-wide reserve for general purposes. Any
reserves for single or special purposes are not in this
category. Reserve funds that are set up for use by only
certain agencies in the government are not in this category
either. Contingency funds as currently in use by many state
governments are across-fiscal-year reserves, and they can
be government-wide or agency-specific; but on the whole,
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these funds are reserves for specific purposes, e.g., natural
disasters, litigation settlements, self-insurance, and so on.
Therefore contingency funds are not the same as BSF.

Strict Definition of the Budget
Stabilization Fund

Thus two distinct definitions of BSFs emerge, one
relatively strict and the other loose. Adopting the strict
or the loose definition of BSFs will end up with quite

Table 2 Recessions and creation of BSF
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different data sets and thereby results of empirical
analysis. The strict definition is clear and straightforward
with regards to the accumulation of the fund (during good

times) and purpose (to cope with revenue shortfall during

recessions). It is:

A budget stabilization fund is money set aside while good
economic conditions prevail and then drawn down during

taxes to cope with a recession.[*%!?

poor economic times to lessen the extent to which state
governments will have to reduce expenditures or raise

Recession State Creation Fund name First balance
1945 New York 1946 Tax Stabilization Reserve Fund 1946
1957-1958 Florida 1959/65 Working Capital Fund/Budget Stabilization Fund 1965
1969-1970 Tennessee 1972 Reserve for Revenue Fluctuations 1972
1973-1975 California 1976 Special Fund for Economic Uncertainties 1977
Georgia 1976 Revenue Shortfall Reserve 1976
Delaware 1977 Budget Reserve Account 1979
Michigan 1977 Countercyclical Budget and Economic Stabilization Fund 1978
South Carolina 1978 General Reserve Fund 1978
New Mexico 1978 General Fund Tax Stabilization Reserve No balance
Connecticut 1979 Budget Reserve Fund 1981
1980 Ohio 1981 Budget Stabilization Fund 1985
Washington 1981 Emergency Reserve Fund 1989
1982 Indiana 1982 Countercyclical Revenue and Economic Stabilization Fund 1985
Mississippi 1982 Working Cash-Stabilization Reserve Fund 1983
Wyoming 1982 Budget Reserve Account 1983
Kentucky 1983 Budget Reserve Trust Fund Account 1987
Nebraska 1983 Cash Reserve Fund 1984
Idaho 1984 Budget Stabilization Fund 1984
Minnesota 1984/1996 Cash Flow Account/Budget Reserve Account 1984
Maine 1985 Maine Rainy Day Fund 1985
Maryland 1985 Revenue Stabilization Fund 1987
Massachusetts 1985 Commonwealth Stabilization Fund 1987
Oklahoma 1985 Constitutional Reserve Fund 1988
Pennsylvania 1985 Tax Stabilization Reserve Fund 1986
Rhode Island 1985 Budget Reserve and Cash Stabilization Account 1985
Wisconsin 1985 Budget Stabilization Fund No balance
Utah 1986 Budget Reserve Account 1987
New Hampshire 1987 Revenue Stabilization Reserve Account 1987
North Dakota 1987 Budget Stabilization Fund 1990
Vermont 1987 General Fund Budget Stabilization Reserve 1987
Texas 1988 Economic Stabilization Fund 1990
Alaska 1990 Constitutional Budget Reserve Fund 1992
Louisiana 1990 Revenue Stabilization and Mineral Trust Fund 1999
New Jersey 1990 Surplus Revenue Fund 1993
1990-1991 Arizona 1991 Budget Stabilization Fund 1994
Nevada 1991 Fund to Stabilize Operation of State Government 1994
North Carolina 1991 Savings Reserve Account 1991
South Dakota 1991 Budget Reserve Fund 1992
Iowa 1992 Economic Emergency Fund/Cash Reserve Fund 1993
Missouri 1992 Budget Stabilization Fund 1992
Virginia 1992 Revenue Stabilization Fund 1993
West Virginia 1994 Revenue Shortfall Reserve Fund 1995
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The loose definition purports that the fund is not only
for temporary shortfalls, but also for any nonrecurring
expenditures. The latter gives this definition a much
broader scope. Consequently, the loose definition is broad
enough to count a contingency fund as a BSF. The loose
definition of the BSF runs:

A budget stabilization fund is money set aside. . .against
the chances of ‘reducing service levels or raising taxes and
fees because of temporary revenue shortfalls or unpre-
dicted one-time expenditures.’'"!

ADOPTION OF BUDGET STABILIZATION
FUND BY THE STATES

The creation of budget stabilization funds by the states has
been slow. But recessions and tax revolts have highlighted
the usefulness of BSF as an effective fiscal tool. Gold'!
noticed that the chronology of BSF adoption shows close
correlation between establishment of BSF and recessions
(Table 2).'"!

Every one of the earliest state adopters of the BSF—
New York, Florida, Tennessee, and Michigan—came
within 3 years of a previous recession. The recessions in
the early 1980s made the correlation more apparent: fiscal
stress that led to spending cutbacks and increased taxes as
an effort to sustain funding for public services prompted
16 states (from 1981 to 1985) to establish their BSFs.'®!
Once initiated, the adoption of BSFs spread broadly
among the states. Then the 1990-1991 recession further
increased the number of states with BSFs.

BUDGET STABILIZATION FUND DATA

Up to now, the Fiscal Survey of the States series compiled
and published twice a year by the National Association of
State Budget Officers (since 1977) is the only readily
available source that provides BSF data of the states.
Many empirical studies have based their analysis on this
data source. A drawback with this series, however, is that
the BSF figures provided by the states and reported in the
series often do not match with those in the Comprehensive
Annual Financial Reports (CAFR) of the states. The
discrepancy may be a result of various reasons. However,
because the CADRs are audited financial documents, they
carry weight that should not be ignored. Therefore
researchers and practitioners should exercise caution in
their choice of data sources.

The usefulness of the budget stabilization fund as a
subnational countercyclical fiscal device is now widely
recognized—over 40 states have adopted the fund and
researchers have begun to pay increasing attention to its

Budget Stabilization Fund

study. However, comprehensive and conclusive examina-
tions of this instrument are still lacking.
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Bureaucrats and Politicians in Southeast Asia
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INTRODUCTION

Ever shifting relationships between bureaucrats and
politicians have played a direct or indirect role in several
major debates in Southeast Asia since colonization. One
theme concerns the contradictions of the colonial
inheritance, with its ideology of a politics—administration
separation coupled with extreme executive dominance in
practice. A second theme involves the role of the
bureaucracy in promoting economic transformation in
several Southeast Asian states modeling themselves after
the successful newly industrialized countries (NICs).
Finally, more recent calls for good governance in the
wake of the East Asian financial crisis coupled with
democratization trends in the region have raised the
salience of the concept of democratic accountability of
both politicians and bureaucrats. This review examines
each of these areas, concluding that the dynamics of the
bureaucrat—politician relationship are likely to continue to
be a central point of theoretical and practical contestation
in the coming years.

THE COLONIAL LEGACY

A seminal concept dominating the ‘‘modern’’ democratic
notion of the bureaucrat—politician relationship harkens
back to Woodrow Wilson’s politics—administration di-
chotomy: ‘‘The field of administration is a field of
business. . .removed from the hurry and strife of politics’”
(1887, quoted in Ref. [1]). Both politics and administra-
tion, it was understood, were to be underpinned by
accountability to the public and to the rule of law. This
normative ideal, whatever the realities in the home
country context, did not travel well to Europe’s Southeast
Asian colonies. There, the appointed (European) ‘‘man in
the field”” was the ultimate bureaucrat-cum-politician
ruling with great discretion with no democratic account-
ability.®! This was, in practice, usually consistent with
indigenous patterns of rule in kingdoms of Siam and
Burma or the sultanates of the Malay Peninsula.’*~!

The task of crafting modern polities, whether as part of
the decolonization agenda or revolutionary struggles, was
one of developing and cementing elite consensus within
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functioning organizations capable of commanding a
sufficient degree of legitimacy and of exercising state
power. This task expressed itself in different forms,
depending on the contingencies of the political process.
Three models are evident.

The first pattern, found in Malaysia, Indonesia, the
Philippines, and Burma, involved a semisponsored, more
or less orderly handover of power from the colonial
authorities to a local elite. Colonial authorities looked to
the civil service as the logical—often the only—source of
‘‘acceptable’’ nationalist leadership. In some places, these
authorities explicitly endeavored to leave behind more
ethnically representative bureaucracies (reversing earlier
policies that favored Indians and Chinese in Malaysia, for
instance) and political movements.') When such promo-
tion led, in practice, to uncomfortably close ties between
aspiring politicians and bureaucrats (because of the
shallow pool of politically acceptable talent that colonial
administrators could tap), principle gave way to political
expediency. These former colonies were left with weakly
institutionalized political systems that had but a sem-
blance of political-administrative separation—and none
at all following the military coups that subsequently
occurred in all of the above countries except Malaysia.

Thailand, which avoided colonization, must stand in its
own category. Here, at least until recent years, a military—
bureaucratic alliance dominated. The 1932 coup d’etat
that overthrew the absolute monarchy was motivated as
much by bureaucratic—clientelistic objectives as by calls
for greater modernization or democracy per se.'¥ The
ensuing pattern of Thai institutional life as ‘‘a matter of
competition between bureaucratic cliques for the benefits
of government’’ (David Wilson, quoted in Ref. [4])
remained, in some ways, institutionally consistent for
several decades.

The third pattern—most costly in terms of human
suffering and developmental trajectories—involved pro-
longed violence and instability in Indochina. It began in
the immediate postwar period with the North Vietnamese
struggle to unify the country under communist rule and
ended only in 1993 with UN-sponsored elections initiated
a decade of political consolidation and a semblance of
stability.'”! Prolonged strife, combined with attempts to
implement radical socialist programs, left Vietnam, Laos,
and Cambodia without a professional bureaucracy or even

39
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rhetorical norms limiting regime powers. The bureaucracy
was subsumed under the overriding necessity of develop-
ing revolutionary administrations utilizing neo-Stalinist
forms of political organization.

To summarize, the internal contradictions of colonial-
ism, coupled with the political turbulence that followed
decolonization and modernization period, left bureaucra-
cies in all of these countries (save Thailand) decisively
dominated by political masters. The systems that emerged,
however, varied greatly in their developmental effective-
ness, for reasons explored in the next section.

THE BUREAUCRACY IN NEWLY
INDUSTRIALIZING CONTEXTS

Beginning with the Japanese transformation, several East
Asian countries, together with one Southeast Asian—
Singapore—were able to rapidly transform their econo-
mies, attaining within some 20 years levels of per capita
income that placed them in the ranks of advanced,
industrial countries. Several Southeast Asian countries,
which collectively became known as the new ‘‘tigers’’—
Malaysia, Thailand, and Indonesia—appeared to model
certain aspects of the NIC’s developmental recipe and
appeared to achieve considerable success in doing so.
How had the NICs achieved such a feat? This became
the dominant question in practical and theoretical debates
that continue to this day and in which the relationships
between bureaucrats and politicians came to play a key
role. Contrasting explanations were offered by those!™®”!
who advocated that the state’s role in economic decision
making was decisive and others!'” claiming that state
success in achieving macroeconomic stability and an
external orientation was far more important than bureau-
cratic interventions. An influential explanation among the
former group!''"'? held that the key to developmental
effectiveness, both in the NIC case and potentially in other
countries, was the ‘‘embedded autonomy’’ of the
bureaucracy. Bureaucracies could, by this theory, suc-
cessfully serve as ‘‘midwives’” to economic development
if they enjoyed four conditions. The first was a political
leadership determined to pursue a transformational agenda
with little fear of electoral backlash. The second was a
meritocratic, technically competent bureaucracy (or an
elite, ‘“‘piloting’” segment of it). The third and fourth
requirements were special characteristics of this bureau-
cracy that would allow it to successfully intervene in the
economy. The bureaucracy was to be both ‘‘embed-
ded”’—enjoying dense informational links to the compa-
nies and market sectors to be promoted—and
‘‘autonomous,’’ i.e., not captured by any special interest
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and therefore being capable of ‘‘disciplining’’ capital by,
for instance, stopping subsidies where this was necessary.

To what extent did Southeast Asian countries put these
purported conditions of success in place? Singapore, as
one of the original NICs, was in many ways the
archetypical example of the process. One must only make
the proviso that the bureaucratic ‘‘autonomy’’ in question
was not autonomy from the ruling People’s Action Party
itself. Rather, it reflected the overall autonomy of the

regime, with its technically competent bureaucrats clearly
[13,14]

e

in position as ‘‘implementers’’ of policies.

Malaysia, Thailand, and Indonesia were all held up at
one time or another as exemplary ‘‘new tigers’’ primarily
because of their success in achieving, for extended
periods, high rates of economic growth. Malaysia and
Indonesia shared considerable regime stability (at times
enforced by repression), a commitment of the leadership
to economic modernization, and development outcomes
that were broadly based, whether through programs of
outright redistribution (as in the case of Malaysia’s New
Economic Policy) or successful strategy to boost agricul-
tural productivity (as in Indonesia).

The bureaucracy in all of these cases was thought to be
reasonably capable and ‘‘technocratic.”” Yet economic
interventions were of a generally smaller scale than in the
NICs themselves, and the ‘‘disciplining’’ of capital was
heavily constrained by the need to promote the *‘illegit-
imate’’ (i.e., nontransformational) interests of the ruling
clique itself, as expressed in soaring levels of corruption.
Only in Malaysia did the high degree of unity of the
Malay political-bureaucratic establishment consistently
promote an agenda of redistribution from the Chinese
economic elite to ethnic Malay majority. As shown in
the next section, however, the developmental model
employed by the ‘‘tigers’’ clearly involved less of a “‘steel-
frame’’ bureaucracy than that implied by the embedded
autonomy theory.

Vietnam has more recently emerged as arguably a vital
member of the ‘‘tiger’” community, with economic
growth rates consistently among the highest in the world
throughout the 1990s. Scholarly debates continue as to
whether the far-reaching doi moi (renovation) reforms it
introduced were driven by local bureaucratic responses to
failed central planning or by a far-sighted central
leadership.'15 ! Whatever the case, the rapid growth that
ensued initially reflected gains brought on by the one-off
removal of ‘‘artificial’’ constraints on growth imposed by
poor institutions (such as collective agriculture) but was
later sustained by a political-bureaucratic Communist
Party elite calculus that rapid growth and modernization
was the best chance the party had to maintain its
legitimacy.!'® This strategy of economic reform with
continued political authoritarianism has generated some
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tensions in Vietnam, as it has in countries such as
Singapore and Malaysia, a trend reflecting of democratic
pressures for reform.

PRESSURES FOR REFORM: THE
GOVERNANCE AGENDA COMES OF AGE

The last 15 years or so have seen a shift in the param-
eters of the debate over the politician—-bureaucrat
relationship throughout Southeast Asia. Two overlapping
categories of influence are particularly important in this
context: democratization and the rise of the ‘‘good
governance’’ agenda.

Calls for greater political accountability have been on
the increase throughout the region. A ‘‘third wave of
democratization”’"”! saw civilian, multiparty rule return
in Thailand (1992), Philippines (1986), Indonesia (1998),
and Cambodia (1993). Public anger over the closed
workings of the political-bureaucratic elites dominating
the first three countries was a key factor in bringing down
autocratic rulers. This increased mobilization and citizen
consciousness has carried over into democratic politics in
these countries; use of the bureaucracy for the enrichment
of the political elite continued to feature prominently in
calls for both political and bureaucratic reform in several
contexts, for instance, the ouster of President Joseph
Estrada during ‘‘People’s Power II’” (2002) and more
positively, in the introduction of an ambitious new
constitution in Thailand in 1997. Citizens throughout the
region showed themselves eager and willing to envision
democratization as a check on both unaccountable polit-
ical and bureaucratic power.

In Singapore, Vietnam, Laos, and Brunei, governance
remained both authoritarian and (for practical purposes,
although via very different mechanisms) uncontested,
whereas in Myanmar (Burma), a small group of generals
continued to block any political normalization. Even here,
the ersatz vocabulary of democratization—articulated in
terms of improved governmental responsiveness to citizen
feedback—was an increasingly prominent feature in
officially sanctioned political discourse, although practi-
cal reform efforts betrayed the significant contradictions
of their contexts. For instance, Singapore’s establishment
of district-based ‘‘Community Development Councils’’ in
1996 was touted as an attempt to promote greater citizen
involvement in local decision making, despite the fact that
council members were all appointed by the ruling
party.!"® In Vietnam, much-hyped *‘grassroots democra-
tization’’ reforms introduced in 1997, in practice, meant a
clarification of standards (e.g., regarding local govern-
ment budget transparency) that higher levels of the party-
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state apparatus could use selectively to ‘‘discipline’”
lower levels.!'®!

The ‘‘good governance’” agenda that arose contempo-
raneously with the democratization movement above was
given impetus primarily from donors, academic work
highlighting the impact of governance qualities on
development outcomes, and various think tanks and
nongovernmental organizations. One variant of the
agenda, driven by increasing financial integration of the
region, was concerned corporate governance. Explana-
tions for the Asian financial crisis beginning in 1997,
which afflicted Indonesia, Thailand, and the Philippines
more than other Southeast Asian countries, came to center
on a pernicious set of incentives—of politicians to use
capital markets for personal purposes; of banks to lend
funds for unsound investments; and of bureaucratic
regulators to overlook all of the above.!'” The financial
crisis led to a fundamental reassessment of the supposed
strengths of the region’s political-bureaucratic systems.
More specifically, the call was for greater transparency
and disciplined oversight systems that reinforced the call
for a clear separation of bureaucratic from political
authority and for both to be underpinned by a reinforced
rule of law.

Another ‘‘good governance’’ agenda lies in the
promotion of decentralized decision making and manage-
ment, whether in a democratic, fiscal, or administrative
context. Here there was also much to discuss on the
regional scene, with virtually all countries in the region
engaged in some form of formal decentralization policy.
For most countries, this went beyond rhetorical support
for the concept as an ideological smokescreen. In
Cambodia—arguably the least hospital environment for
devolution in the region—authorities astounded observers
with the speed with which it established democratically
elected Commune Councils, even before presumably
easier administrative reforms supporting such arrange-
ments were in place. Through the rapid introduction of
two decentralization laws (Nos. 22/1999 and 25/2000) in
the immediate aftermath of Soeharto’s resignation,
Indonesia moved ‘‘from being one of the most centralized
countries in the world to one of the most decentral-
ized.””'?°! Thailand and the Philippines both continued to
decentralize decision making to provinces and districts,
the latter quite Vigorously.[21]

There is, finally, a managerialist variant of the good
governance agenda. The New Public Management (NPM)
can be seen as an attempt to reengineer relationships
between politicians, bureaucrats, and the public.*?! Key
strategic elements in this broad family of reforms include:
1) delinking policy formulation (or ‘‘steering’’) from
implementation functions to concretize the specific
accountability borne by all actors; 2) introduction of
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competitive pressures to the bureaucracy using market
mechanisms such as privatization where possible and
systems of performance measurement where not; and
3) deregulation of internal operations to promote flexible,
creative implementation.'**! Application of such ideas to
developing country contexts, where the predictability and
transparency of bureaucratic processes is limited, has been
hotly contested.”*! But attempts to apply NPM principles
to governance reforms are standard policy in the higher
capacity countries covered here (Singapore and Malay-
sia), increasingly, if hesitantly, being applied in the newly
democratic countries of Southeast Asia and are prominent
in public administration reform strategy.

CONCLUSION

In the aftermath of colonialism, bureaucratic—politician
relationships were, like government systems themselves,
weakly institutionalized in Southeast Asia, regardless of
whether they had inherited the ideological veneer of
a politics—administration dichotomy. The ‘‘tigers’’ of
Southeast Asia were able to grow quickly by drawing on a
combination of transformational leadership, an external
orientation, and core bureaucratic agencies of at least
moderate capacity. The politician—bureaucrat relationship
was driven in these cases by a substantial unity of elite
interests (as in Malaysia) or domineering executives or
parties (as in the Philippines, Indonesia, and Vietnam).
Political systems were, in many cases, highly fragile and,
in others (such as Myanmar), rigid but nontransformative;
in all cases except Singapore and possibly Malaysia,
however, bureaucratic capacities and incentives fell well
beneath the threshold levels of ‘‘embedded autonomy’’
that theorists argued were necessary to sustain economic
transformation over a period of not years but decades, as
in the newly industrialized countries.

Democratization and good governance pressures,
driven by the increased sophistication of societies and
by global financial integration, have propelled the
politics—administration link into the center of political
discourse throughout the region. In a few countries
(notably Myanmar, Laos, and Brunei), there is no
discernable movement toward a more institutionalized,
professional bureaucracy. Other authoritarian contexts
(such as Singapore and Vietnam) are attempting to make
their bureaucratic systems more responsive to their
publics without threatening (indeed, while bolstering)
the position of ruling elites. In more democratically
competitive settings, a wider range of reforms—from
formal regulation of civil servants via asset disclosure
requirements to democratic decentralization to increase
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the direct accountability of service providers and local
politicians to the public—is being introduced. Capacity to
implement such ambitious reforms is, in all cases, limited.
The outcomes of attempts to establish transparent
relationships between politicians and bureaucrats, where
these have never sat easily within the region’s political
economy, will be hotly contested in the years to come,
both theoretically and on the ground.
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Cambodia
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INTRODUCTION

After over 40 years of frequent, and unusually drastic,
changes in its political and economic regimes, Cambodia
has made headway since 1991 in rebuilding its gover-
nance institutions. Considerable progress has been
achieved in maintaining public order, increasing revenues,
rationalizing public expenditure policy and management,
introducing new audit mechanisms, launching democrat-
ically elected commune councils, and facilitating a vibrant
civil society, private sector, and free media.

PUBLIC SECTOR

Since independence in 1953, Cambodia has experienced
frequent, and unusually drastic, changes in its political and
economic regimes.!"*! Over the period, it has moved
from constitutional monarchy, to republic, to extreme
Maoist agrocommunism, to Communist party rule, and
back to a constitutional monarchy with an elected
legislature. The most unstable period was the period of
Khmer Rouge rule from 1975 to 1979. During this period,
the market economy and business activities were com-
pletely abolished, and there was no money or trade. No
private ownership of any kind was allowed. Cambodia
was cut off from the rest of the world except China, the
regime’s main supporter. The entire urban population was
forcibly relocated to rural areas to perform agricultural
work. Many educated civil servants, professionals, and
military officers were executed or died from starvation or
disease. People wearing glasses or able to speak a foreign
language, both seen as symbols of higher education, were
killed. Estimates indicate that more than 1 million peo-
ple, or about 15% of the population, died of unnatural
deaths.”!

Since the 1991 Paris Peace Agreement, Cambodia has
rebuilt its key governance institutions. National Assembly
members were selected in an election supervised by the
United Nations Transitional Authority in 1993. Cambo-
dia’s sixth constitution was adopted in 1993 and amended
in March 1999 to establish the Senate as a political com-
promise between Cambodia’s two main political parties.
The National Assembly holds primary legislative power
and has become more active since the formation of a new
coalition government in late 1998. Although there was
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renewed political violence in 1997, the trend has been
toward peaceful resolution of political disputes and in-
creased democratic participation. The National Assembly
has enacted several new laws critical for improving
governance, such as the Financial Institutions Law and the
Audit Law. In addition, television broadcasts of debates
have increased the transparency of the legislative process.
Meanwhile, the Senate is investigating complaints about
illegal confiscation of land and has recommended amend-
ing the constitution to ensure that it has adequate time to
review proposed laws.

The power to initiate legislation rests jointly with the
Prime Minister and members of the National Assembly
and Senate. Most draft legislation originates with the
Royal Government of Cambodia (RGC), led by the Coun-
cil of Ministers. The assembly has simply tended to
review and enact bills drafted by the RGC, often without
being given sufficient time and lacking the requisite ex-
pertise. In addition, there is no central repository for all
regulations or subdecrees, and the legislature rarely
receives copies of regulations or decisions by ministries
related to laws enacted. Finding them consists of visiting
each ministry to see what they have, making it difficult for
citizens to know how to comply.

The imbalance between the legislature and executive
is paralleled by an imbalance of financial and technical
resources available, with far more donor resources going
to the latter.

Executive power rests with the RGC, which directs the
civil administration and armed forces. In 2003, Cambodia
has 166,672 civil servants (including defense forces, but
excluding police, whose numbers are unknown). In com-
parison to other low-income countries, the Cambodian
civil service is about average in terms of cost (the wage
bill as a percentage of GDP, current expenditures, and
revenues) and size (civil servants as a percentage of
population).!

Low salaries in the public sector are one of the most
fundamental structural problems, with direct implications
for the sector’s accountability and transparency (or lack
thereof). If this issue is not addressed, it is likely to remain
as a major obstacle to other governance reforms.

The RGC approved a Governance Action Plan in 2001,
and the Council for Administrative Reform had made
good progress on completing the civil service census and
on a Priority Mission Group scheme (identification of
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staff groups to receive enhanced salaries linked to
performance benchmarks). Perhaps the area of reform
that had the clearest government commitment and
leadership is decentralization. Following the announce-
ment of the intention to hold elections in the country’s
1,621 rural communes and urban sangkats in February
2001, the Law on Commune Elections and the Law on
Administration of Communes were promulgated, and the
interministerial National Committee for Support to
Communes/Sangkats and its subcommittees responsible
for implementing the decentralization reforms were es-
tablished. The commune and sangkat elections were held
in February 2002, and elected councils are increasingly
taking on local government functions guided by the
RGC’s Decentralization Roadmap.

In addition, downsizing the huge defense and security
forces is an urgent issue that requires a new vision for the
armed forces and police. However, their ideal size is
difficult to assess without determining their new roles in
postconflict Cambodia. Military and security agencies need
to promote professionalism, train their staff to observe new
codes of conduct, and develop relevant skills. A reassess-
ment of the roles of the military and police is under way.

The Governance Action Plan also identifies issues con-
cerning the management of natural resources (including
land, forestry, and fisheries) as critical to ensuring social
peace, environmental sustainability, poverty reduction,
and economic development. There are three important
areas: 1) the resolution of land issues (i.e., ownership,
classification, registration, and tenure); 2) combating
corruption and mismanagement of forests; and 3) ensur-
ing long-term sustainability of fisheries. Communities
need to be empowered to play appropriate roles in the
management of natural resources and to help ensure ac-
cessibility by the poor.

The RGC has undertaken several key reforms of public
finance and administration since 1993. For example, the
1993 Organic Budget Law (basic law that defines the
overall legal framework), combined with prudent fiscal
and monetary policy, has helped fight inflation and bring
about macroeconomic stability. The 1997 Law on Taxation
has improved the government’s revenue-raising capacity.

In 2001, total public revenues were only 11.7% of
gross domestic product (GDP), one of the lowest pro-
portions among countries, although up from 8.3% in 1998.
The introduction of a value added tax in 1999 contributed
to the revenue increases, while simplifying the tax struc-
ture, widening coverage, and reducing cascading (taxation
of something more than once). Improvements in tax
administration have included better collaboration among
government departments and strengthening tax auditing.
Collection of tax arrears is expected to be stepped-up
through several enforcement measures, including freezing
bank accounts. However, further reforms in tax adminis-
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tration need to be considered, such as setting up a semi-
autonomous revenue authority and reducing the use of ad
hoc tax and duty exemptions.

Over the period 1998-2001, the RGC has generally
maintained fiscal discipline, and there has been a shift in
expenditures away from the military and security toward
social and economic development, with education spend-
ing doubled and health spending tripled; yet social
spending is still too low to meet development goals.
Furthermore, budget execution has suffered from delays
and unpredictable release of funds because of cash con-
straints, thus undermining operational planning. The
system is plagued by gate keeping, deficient accounting
and reporting systems, and the use of cash rather than the
banking system, leading to a weak control environment.
The Ministry of Economy and Finance is currently
undertaking several measures to improve budget execu-
tion and revenue-enhancing capacity, planning to raise
total revenue to 14-15% of GDP by 2007.

The Governance Action Plan includes provisions to
improve gender equity and to reduce systemic barriers to
accessing services for women and girls. However, until an
output-based, medium-term expenditure framework sys-
tem has been implemented, it will be difficult to ensure
that policies designed to increase gender equity are prop-
erly prioritized and funded.

Legislation establishing the National Audit Authority
consistent with international standards was passed in
March 2000. The authority is independent of the ex-
ecutive, reports to the National Assembly, enjoys financial
and administrative autonomy, and is authorized to
determine the scope and methods of audits. An auditor
general and two deputy auditor generals are appointed for
5-year terms by royal decree at the recommendation of the
government and approved by a two-third-majority vote of
the National Assembly. The current auditor general is
from the ruling party, and the deputies are from minority
parties. Although these are promising developments, more
training and additional equipment will be needed, along
with considerable political will, for the authority to be
fully effective.

The judiciary has four distinct components: the
Constitutional Council, formed in 1998; the Supreme
Council of Magistracy, established in 1994; the courts;
and the prosecutors. The Constitutional Council safe-
guards the constitution and decides cases involving the
election of National Assembly and Senate members. The
Supreme Council is the prime guardian of the judiciary’s
independence and is the only body empowered to dis-
cipline and appoint judges and prosecutors. The Supreme
Court and Appeals Court are located in Phnom Penh, and
each province and municipality has lower courts. There is
also a military court. As of 1999, Cambodia had 117
judges and 54 prosecutors.
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An independent, capable, and uncorrupted judiciary is
the foundation of the rule of law and underpins the de-
velopment of a market economy. Unfortunately, Cambo-
dia’s judiciary does not yet meet acceptable standards in
this regard. The decimation of the legal sector in the 1970s
and the socialist legal principles and processes instituted in
1980s still have a strong influence on the legal system.

Only 33% of judges and prosecutors have any formal
legal education and like other civil servants receive a
salary that is less than a living wage. Budget allocations
are inadequate to cover other basic costs. Thus the general
perception that the court system is riddled with corruption
is hardly surprising.

The procedures for forwarding draft laws to the
Constitutional Council are applied inconsistently. Only
organic laws are consistently sent to the council for re-
view. Contrary to the constitution, other laws are some-
times forwarded directly to the king for promulgation
without prior council review. Rules governing how
judges, prosecutors, and the judiciary in general function
leave many issues of jurisdiction among courts unsettled
and provide no standard for resolving jurisdictional dis-
putes, although a modern set of rules has been drafted and
is under discussion.

In 2002, the government made commitments to the
following: 1) a time-bound legal and judicial reform
strategy would be completed; 2) the Supreme Council of
Magistrates would be restructured; 3) a Law on the Statute
of Magistrates would be submitted to the National
Assembly; 4) reported cases of corruption would be
immediately investigated and prosecuted appropriately
within the existing legal framework; and 5) an anti-
corruption law would be submitted to the National
Assembly. In addition, Cambodia in 2003 became the
19th country to endorse the Anticorruption Action Plan
for Asia-Pacific, designed in collaboration with the Asian
Development Bank and the Organization for Economic
Cooperation and Development. The goal of this initiative
is to help countries work together to build effective
anticorruption mechanisms.

CIVIL SOCIETY AND PRIVATE SECTOR

Since 1993, the government has vigorously promoted the
transition to a market economy. Laws regulating the
private sector include the 1994 Law on Investment, the
1995 Law on Organization and Functioning of a Council
for Development in Cambodia and the Cambodia Invest-
ment Board, and the 1997 Law on Taxation. New institu-
tions were created to enforce these laws. The economy has
started to recover since the downturn of 1997-1998, with
real growth rate of 6.3% in 2001 and 4.5% in 2002. While
the RGC’s efforts thus far deserve credit, challenges
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remain in reducing transaction costs, both formal and
informal. Weaknesses in land law and enforcement need to
be addressed. Businesses need clear rules that guarantee
their property rights, resolve commercial disputes, regu-
late anticompetitive conduct, and limit state interference.
Promoting fair and consistent enforcement of laws is also
important. Setting up monitoring systems to enforce newly
enacted laws and to strengthen the enforcement capacities
of relevant agencies may be useful.

Although nongovernmental organizations (NGOs) had
an important role prior to 1991 in the absence of other
donor agencies, their numbers and the value of their assist-
ance have increased dramatically since then, with NGO
disbursements equal to over 11% of external assistance
during the period 1999-2001. The government’s attitude
toward international NGOs is liberal while somewhat
more restrictive toward national ones.

Other civil society organizations have also emerged
since 1991. Establishment of the Cambodian Bar
Association in 1995 was a notable development. Among
civil society organizations, the financial position of
Cambodian NGOs is generally weak and highly depen-
dent on foreign sources of funding. Some NGOs appear to
be under the strong influence of political parties, while
others reportedly abuse their NGO status. However, many
are providing much needed development services.

The lack of a legal framework for NGOs may allow
some NGOs to abuse their status or give government
officials the discretion to issue arbitrary decisions on the
status of NGOs. To address these concerns, a draft legal
framework is being finalized for discussion.

In the 1980s, media organizations were used for political
party propaganda, and no privately owned media existed.
Currently, Cambodia has more than 200 newspapers and
magazines, including several foreign language newspa-
pers, and a number of television and radio stations. The
constitution guarantees the freedom of expression, press,
and publication. The Press Law creates a legal framework.

While the Press Law guarantees more freedom than
equivalent laws in other countries in Southeast Asia,
journalists worry that vague definitions of terms present a
risk that they could be used as excuses to suppress the
freedom of the press. The media needs mechanisms to
curb irresponsible reporting, sometimes influenced by
political parties.

CONCLUSION

Cambodia’s experience in rebuilding its governance
institutions since 1991 highlights that reform is a long-
term process that requires setting achievable goals and
providing consistent support. Considerable progress has
been achieved in maintaining public order, increasing
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revenues, rationalizing public expenditure policy and
management, introducing new audit mechanisms, launch-
ing democratically elected commune councils, and
facilitating a vibrant civil society, private sector, and free
media. While many challenges lie ahead, the commitment
to the reform process demonstrated by the government
and the achievements made to date are heartening.
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INTRODUCTION

Capital equipment is usually defined as any equipment
with a useful life of at least three years.''! In the public
sector, it is usually funded by the capital budget. In many
ways, capital purchases differ from purchase of services
and other relationships defined by contracts between
public sector agencies and private vendors.

These differences often produce controversial issues
that the purchasing staff must face in buying this
equipment, often coming into conflict with the agency
that requests the equipment. First, there is conflict
between those who wish equipment with the latest
technological advances and those who argue in favor
of the equipment with the lowest price. Although
this equipment may be more expensive and the use
of the new technology cannot be fully justified by
the using agency, the attractiveness of owning the fastest
personal computer in anticipation of future uses is
very appealing.

Second, ignoring the issue of productivity may result
in purchasing inappropriate equipment. Part of the
analysis in deciding what equipment to purchase
depends upon how the purchased equipment impacts
productivity. To achieve this information, outputs of the
equipment must be identified and analyzed. The number
of copies per minute for a copy machine, as well as the
number of copies made by a using agency should both
be identified. In this manner, a unit cost—cost per unit
of output for a given time period—is calculated. The
purchase of more expensive equipment may not be
justified if the unit cost is much higher than that of less
expensive equipment. This may be the case if the
number of outputs and the resulting productivity of using
the equipment is low.

Third, life cycle costing (LCC) assesses the total cost
of owning, operating, maintaining, and disposing of the
equipment. As early in the acquisition process as possible,
LCC should be performed. The lowest initial cost
equipment model may not be the wisest purchase because
repair and maintenance costs may be higher than a more
expensive model.

48

The increased technological advances for equipment
such as personal computers and customer service systems
based on on-line access have significantly altered the
capital purchasing process. As writing specifications for
such equipment may be difficult, as in-house purchasing
staff may not have sufficient knowledge to do so, ob-
taining the equipment relies more heavily on processes
such as Invitation to Negotiate (ITN) in which the pur-
chasing process is very different from the acceptance of
the lowest cost item.

THE CAPITAL PURCHASING CYCLE

An overview of the procedures and methods used in
purchasing capital equipment will help to illustrate the
unique aspects of capital purchasing. Because the process
repeats itself as old equipment is replaced, it is most
accurately viewed as cyclical in nature.

Need Determination

Various factors contribute to determining the need for
capital equipment. Changing service or workload may
require additional equipment to maintain acceptable
levels of productivity. Advances in technology may make
the currently operating equipment obsolete because it
cannot maintain new standards of responsiveness.

Also, accompanying a replacement policy and set of
procedures are decision rules chosen by an agency that
identifies the need for new equipment to be purchased (or
leased). For example, when the cost of repair reaches 60%
of the value of the equipment, the agency may determine
that replacement is necessary. Police vehicles may be
replaced after 80,000 miles of usage.

Planning and Budgeting

Depending on the requirements of the budgeting process
of the government, capital equipment needs must be
identified one or two years into the future. In many cases
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these needs must be prioritized, justification provided by
the using agency, and funds identified to support the
purchase. The impact of the capital purchase on the
operating budget is usually part of the projections that
need to be made.

Specification Development

A specification is a description of the physical and/or
functional characteristics of the equipment to be pur-
chased. It may include the requirements to be met by the
equipment and the procedures used to assess whether
these requirements have been met.!”) There are many
aspects to developing specifications that provide chal-
lenges to the procurement official. First, the specifications
should not be restrictive so that competition among
potential suppliers is not dampened. Second, the use of
brand names may be too restrictive and should be avoided
unless it can be justified by the using agency. The
purchasing official must guard against the possibility that
the agency has been persuaded by sales personnel that
their brand is superior.

The issue of standard specifications vs. customized
specifications must be resolved in many instances before
purchasing can proceed. The using agency may request
more customized equipment, stating that ‘‘it’s our
money.”” Unless a specific need can be identified, it is
the role of the purchasing official to explore with agency
personnel using standardized specifications as much as
possible. The more standardization that is possible, the
more ‘‘off- the-shelf’’ software and hardware, for
example, can be purchased, usually at a lower cost to
the government.

In some CE areas, such as the purchase of in-
formation technology (IT) and related telecommunica-
tions products, the fast-changing technology may make
it difficult to identify and write accurate descriptions
of what hardware and software is needed to meet a
customer service need. In the field of advanced traveler
information systems, for example, governments have had
to state the goals of the system they wish to acquire
without detailed specifications identified. It is expected
that with this ITN or similar purchasing process, that
specifications will be identified as a result of a nego-
tiation among purchasing and agency personnel and
potential suppliers.

Sourcing

This part of the process involves identifying and
maintaining a list of those vendors or suppliers that
produce or can obtain the required equipment and
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would respond to an invitation to bid (ITB), request
for quotation (RFQ), or request for proposal (RFP)
provided by the government. To maintain competition,
the list should be updated as much as possible by adding
new vendors. Purchasing staff can obtain these from
agency personnel who are more likely to be in contact
with relevant vendors. Also, those suppliers who have
failed to respond to an ITB or who have provided
unsa[lgsfactory performance should be removed from the
list.

In many cases bidders are required to pre-qualify. This
process not only is more efficient for the purchasing
department, as vendor qualifications do not have to be
reviewed after every bid award. It also facilitates the bid
review and award process by assuring that all vendors
considered have the capability to provide the equipment
as required.

Source Selection

The process of selecting which equipment to buy is
different for capital equipment compared to purchasing
services or other supplies. No matter what source
selection process is chosen, there is likely to be more
negotiation with capital purchases. Other items are
consumed relatively quickly after purchase, while capital
equipment may be with the agency for years. Even if
standard specifications can be chosen for the equipment,
and an ITB, RFQ, or RFQ is used, there may be the
expectation by the supplier that a counteroffer from the
government or agency will be forthcoming, and that
negotiation will resolve differences.!"

If the equipment is customized, or complex enough
so that specifications cannot be written in great detail,
or part of a larger system, e.g., information technology,
a RFP or invitation to negotiate may be the source
selection process chosen. These are multistep processes
that may involve extensive negotiation with more than
one vendor. Usually, there is a proposal review process
that involves creating a bid rating scale, establishing a
team of raters from purchasing, the using agency, and
from other governments or agencies, and prioritizing the
bids received.

At the highest degree of complexity, when the agency
goal or problem is clear/well-defined but the equipment
and the means to accomplish that goal are unclear, the
agency may use the source selection process to assist it
in choosing the means. The Commonwealth of Ken-
tucky, for example, has established a pre-qualification
process for obtaining agreements with information
technology. As of fall 2000, 15 IT vendors were pre-
qualified: 5 for ‘‘full-service’’ while the other 10 fill
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specific niches. Once private vendors are qualified, then
any state agency sends a letter to all vendors outlining
the problem that needs to be solved, and inviting vendor
to propose solutions. If there is an interest, negotiations
begin. The final result is a fixed price contract, with
specific deliverables identified.

Contract Administration

This function ideally should be performed by a team of
purchasing and agency personnel. The activities involved
are similar to the administration of all contracts, including
1) monitoring the delivery of equipment to ensure that it is
provided in a timely fashion according to the dates
specified in the contract; 2) resolving problems/com-
plaints if deadlines are not met and/or equipment does not
meet specifications; 3) assessing the capability of the
supplier to provide the equipment as required; and 4)
assessing penalties or other sanctions including termina-
tion of the contract.

In the case of capital equipment, however, there must
be a process testing the delivered equipment to ensure
that it produces the required output. In addition, admin-
istering the warranty, including knowing when and
under what conditions the warranty applies, is part of
contract administration.

Maintenance and Service

The primary decision rules adopted by the agency pertain
to the use of routine or preventative maintenance (PM).
Without such maintenance, the equipment is repaired
when it fails to operate. This is known as failure
maintenance (FM).

The obvious benefit of PM is that frequent usage will
extend the useful life of the equipment. The assumption
here is that the more funds invested in PM, the lower the
costs of FM. Failures will be less frequent, and resulting
downtime less costly as well. Preventative maintenance
costs include the cost of materials, the time/salary of
those performing the repairs, the cost of spare parts that
may be installed, and the downtime of the equipment
while being maintained.

The issue of downtime becomes important in deter-
mining the usefulness of PM. In many cases, the cost of
downtime is negligible. Alternative equipment may be
available. If a personal computer needs PM for one day,
email may be accessed via another computer. A laptop
computer may substitute for the PC. If a vehicle is ‘‘in the
shop’” for PM, work can be rescheduled or another
vehicle may be available. If downtime incurs realistic
costs, however, and requires renting replacement equip-
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ment, then these costs must be factored into the need
for PM.

An opposing view is that PM is not needed. When the
equipment fails, it should be repaired at that time. This
approach can be adopted under certain conditions. If the
assumption expressed above about PM is not accurate:
increased PM does not lessen or has little impact on the
cost of FM, then PM may be of little value. Preventative
maintenance for a personal computer may have little
bearing on whether a hard drive crashes.

A second condition is relevant to the value of the
equipment when FM is likely to be necessary. If the
value depreciates quickly, so that when the equipment
breaks down the cost of repair is a high percentage of its
value, then replacement instead of repair is a more
feasible option.

Replacement Planning

As indicated above, many agencies have a replacement
plan or policy in place that will start the purchasing cycle.
Decision rules exist that are often implemented based on
industry standards and/or past experience. These will
trigger replacement of existing equipment. Agency or
government committees may be established to monitor
and oversee vehicle and equipment replacement.

Disposal

In many respects the capital purchasing cycle ends and
begins again with the disposal of the equipment and the
planning for its replacement. There are several disposal
options available, including 1) trade-in for new equip-
ment; 2) sell to a used-equipment buyer; 3) used for spare
parts; and 4) pay to have the equipment removed.

The option chosen depends upon the availability of a
market for the used equipment. In some cases, if upgrades
have been added to the equipment over its useful life, it
may be worth more when disposed than its initial cost.

CONCLUSION

With the need to purchase computer hardware and
software, especially in the context of creating information
technology systems, the importance of capital purchasing
has risen dramatically. The stakes are higher, as the risk of
failure increases with the complexity of the equipment
purchased. Countless numbers of examples are similar to
the following instance.
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Florida state legislators plan to audit a child welfare
computer system that is seven years behind schedule and
more than $200 M over budget. The system, designed to
replace paper files and several separate computer systems
that track abused and neglected children in Florida, was
first approved by the legislature in 1990. It was originally
supposed to be completed in 1998 at a cost of $32 M. It is
now scheduled to be completed in 2005 and cost nearly
$232 M.

The greater need for a partnership approach to capital
purchases is evident from this example.””! Public sector
purchasing and agency personnel need to partner with
private vendors so that the requisite knowledge needed to
accomplish the goals is shared by all. Problems need to be
identified early in the implementation process, and
solutions sought with the input of all concerned to avoid
waste, delays, and cost overruns.
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INTRODUCTION

During the past decade, the devolution of responsibility
for health care and social support services programs for
persons infected and affected by human immunodeficien-
cy virus (HIV)/acquired immune deficiency syndrome
(AIDS), from the federal and state levels to the local
level, was accompanied by an increasing utilization of
community-based participatory planning entities. These
entities became the primary means used for prioritizing
services and allocating resources to meet the needs of
persons living with AIDS, caused by the HIV, and for
implementing HIV prevention programs throughout the
United States. These participatory planning entities are
also being used in other service areas including mental
health, substance abuse counseling, housing, tobacco
control, and disease prevention and education programs.
They include such organizations as health services plan-
ning councils, health care consortia, disease prevention
planning groups, tobacco control coalitions, and housing
planning committees.

Despite their widespread usage, very little is known
about community-based participatory planning entities,
their formation, operations, development, and effective-
ness over time. The study of community-based partici-
patory planning entities can be based on a variety of
theoretical perspectives including small group forma-
tion, authority in groups, procedural justice, group
decision making, conflict resolution, organizational
environment and form, institutionalization of new
organizational forms, population ecology of organiza-
tions, organizational innovation and change, organiza-
tional alignment with the environment, management of
strategic alliances, and coordination of services. The
goals of this chapter are to examine several of the
leading theoretical perspectives that are relevant to the
study of the expanding organizational population of
community-based participatory planning entities, and to
suggest a methodology for conducting case studies of
these entities.
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BACKGROUND

This article is an update of Chapter 11, ‘‘Community-
Based Planning,” by Kieler.!"

The rapidly changing health care industry in the United
States suggests a dynamic and turbulent organizational
environment. Into this complex and unpredictable envi-
ronment, an unusual type of planning organization is
being embedded, namely, the community-based partici-
patory planning entity. This type of organization is
variously called a community-based planning council,
committee, consortium, coalition, or group. Establishment
of these new organizations is mandated by both federal
and state legislation. The premier examples of these new
entities are the HIV health services planning councils
mandated by Title I of the Ryan White Comprehensive
AIDS Resources Emergency Act of 1990 (i.e., the CARE
Act), under Public Law 101-381 as amended, and the HIV
health care consortium mandated by Title II of the CARE
Act. Another such planning entity is the HIV prevention
community planning group (CPG) that is mandated by the
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.!”) The HIV
prevention CPG has responsibility for addressing the needs
for education about and prevention of HIV infection in
almost all public health jurisdictions in the United States.

Community-based participatory planning entities have
many of the characteristics that define a coalition.!**
Definitions of each of these entities, as well as enu-
meration of their respective roles, responsibilities, and
mandates, are usually provided in the specific legislation
or program announcements authorizing their use. Specific
instructions to local governmental or health jurisdictions
about establishing these entities are usually contained in
the program guidance issued by the federal or state agency
responsible for implementing the program. For example,
Minkler™ provided guidance in community organization
and community building for health, whereas the Academy
for Educational Development'® and McKay!”! both
provided extensive discussions of the HIV prevention
community planning process.
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Several papers on Title I planning councils look at:
1) various issues and challenges that confront planning
councils;lg’9J 2) the initial stages of development of a
typical planning council;"*'" 3) institutionalization and
legitimation of a planning council process;''' 4) decision
making by a planning council;""! and 5) organizational
environment and organizational form of a planning
council.!"""'?1 Other papers on the Title T process focus
on the types and availability of HIV/AIDS services before
and after the allocation of Title I funds,!'*™'® as well as on
the impacts of the various CARE Act titles.!'"~>*! Several
major unpublished manuscripts focus on the implementa-
tion of the various CARE Act titles, including a report on
challenges facing Title I and Title II planning entities that
was submitted to the AIDS Action Foundation in 199324
and a report on the implementation of Title I in six major
U.S. urban areas that was submitted to the Kaiser Family
Foundation in 1994.5°!

Funding for the various CARE Act titles
effectiveness of services provided by these funds
explored in a number of reports and position papers. The
general conclusion is that the CARE Act has resulted in
substantial additional services and increased access to
services for persons living with HIV disease. The re-
curring challenges that the CARE Act community-based
planning entities must face in their decision-making
processes are noted both in news reports and published
research. These would include reports on contractual dis-
putes, program management, program effectiveness, and
use (and misuse) of funds.?234

In reporting on a multiyear observational study of
the Oakland HIV health services planning council, Kieler
et al.”® noted that, at the time the CARE Act was enacted
by the U.S. Congress, the use of community-based parti-
cipatory planning entities was popular with HIV/AIDS
advocates, HIV/AIDS service organizations, and federal
officials alike. This model of health care and support
services planning provided a way for community-based
organizations and public sector agencies, as well as indi-
viduals infected and affected by HIV disease, to play key
roles in these newly initiated and federally mandated
planning councils. Additionally, this model appealed to
local agencies because it offered local control over the
allocation of funds to meet local needs for health care and
support services. It appealed to federal officials because
this model placed AIDS constituency groups in the po-
sition of having to work collaboratively at the local level
to achieve expanded availability of services, rather than
constantly appealing to Congress and the federal execu-
tive branch in an ad hoc fashion for more funds.

The experiences of a number of planning councils in
different parts of the country, most notably the Oakland
HIV health services planning council, suggest that this
model of planning does work, but not in the collaborative,
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rational fashion envisioned in Title I of the CARE Act. As
Kieler et al.’®! reported, local control of the program in the
Oakland area was accompanied by interorganizational
conflict, accusations of personal and organizational mis-
conduct, frequent challenges to the legitimacy of the
process, and a general sense that local political factors
played too great a role in priority setting, resource al-
location decisions, and contracting for services. Not only
in Oakland, but nationwide, local governmental entities
and community-based groups have experienced chal-
lenges in grass roots decision making regarding imple-
mentation of Title I. In his study of planning council
decision-making behavior, Slack!*” applied a political
model (the zero-sum model) and a bureaucratic model (the
Herbert thesis) to identify the factors triggering conflictual
zero-sum behaviors.

However, the Kieler et a study found that, in spite
of these difficulties, the Oakland planning council was
able to distribute funds approximately on schedule to local
service providers, and the availability of needed services
was increased. The findings of the Oakland study sug-
gest a number of ways that a planning council could be
structured to increase its effectiveness while reducing
interpersonal and interorganizational stress among service
providers that the process induced in the past.

Additional work needs to be done to develop a theory-
based literature that will document, explain, and analyze
all aspects of the establishment, operation, development,
and effectiveness of these newly mandated community-
based participatory planning entities, and guide the
establishment and development of future participatory
planning entities. Such a literature might also serve as the
basis for building organizational theory specific to
participatory planning entities such as planning councils,
consortia, CPGs, and coalitions.

1.8

AN INTEGRATED THEORETICAL MODEL

Federal and state programs mandating the use of
community-based participatory planning entities in local
health care and support services environments are only
a part of the major changes that are resulting in the
restructuring of health care and health-related services.
Scott*®! observed that the medical care field is a multi-
faceted and dynamic scene that it is complex and rapidly
changing, that health care organizations in the United
States have undergone a revolution during the past half
century, and that particularly dramatic changes have
occurred during the past two decades. ‘‘To throw some
light on the current situation,”” Scott described the nature
of the changes that have occurred in health care orga-
nizations, particularly those in the medical care delivery
system. Scott was convinced that ‘‘we will not make much
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headway in our understanding of complex societal
systems until we begin to examine the ways in which
institutional and technical environments, organizational
fields, [organizational] populations, organizational sets,
and individual organizations act and interact to constrain
and change each other’” (p. 296).

In describing the nature of the changes that have
occurred in health care organizations and the medical care
delivery system, Scott formulates a general theoretical
framework within which to view, interpret, and explain
such changes. This framework may provide us with a
basis for studying the formation, operations, and organi-
zational development of numerous new organizations,
including community-based participatory planning enti-
ties, that are emerging in the health care and support
services environment.

Scott begins by noting that the various organization
theories (e.g., population ecology, strategic management,
resource dependency, transactions costs, and institutional
theory), which are used by analysts to account for one or
another feature of the changing health care scene, ‘‘have
only recently been developed (most appeared after 1975)
and are typically treated by organizational analysts
as offering contradictory or competing explanations’’
(p. 272). Scott feels, however, that each of these per-
spectives is limited and provides only a partial account of
the complex phenomena being observed. Although devel-
opment of unified theory is beyond the scope of his paper,
Scott does propose that ‘‘the search for an improved,
detailed understanding and for verifiable accounts will be
advanced by the development of more integrative frame-
works that seek to define where and when—to what types
of phenomena and under what conditions—the various
theory fragments apply’’ (p. 272). Scott proposes that the
“‘effort to understand the medical care system should
begin at the most comprehensive level—the institutional
environment—and then proceed to examine more and
more delimited systems and units’’ (p. 273).

The key features of the organizational analysis model
that Scott proposes include three levels, namely, the
organizational environments level, the organizational
fields/populations level, and the organizational sets/
organizations level. For each level, Scott identifies the
appropriate theoretical perspective to use in discussing
activities at that level.

Scott then identifies the major trends in the develop-
ment of the U.S. health care sector. These include such
features as the increased scale of the medical care system,
increased concentration of medical resources devoted to
the delivery of health services, and increased specializa-
tion of both individual providers and medical care
organizations. These trends also include greater diversifi-
cation, such as in the range of services and types of clients
served. Scott points out that other trends in the health
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care sector include increased linkages among provider
organizations, increased governmental involvement in
the health care system, increased privatization, increased
managerial and reduced professional influence, and
increased market orientation of the health care system.

Within this rapidly changing health care sector are
embedded the newly established community-based par-
ticipatory planning entities to which many must now turn
for health care, support services, and prevention/educa-
tion services.

ORGANIZATIONAL ENVIRONMENT
AND FORM

Bidwell and Kasarda®”! noted that organizational form is
not only composed of interpersonal relations of members
of the organization, but also contains properties that
pertain to the organization conceived of as a collectivity
with a unitary character. Some of these properties can be
regarded as aggregates of interpersonal relations, such as
the division of labor and hierarchy. Others may not be
so regarded, such as the size and composition of an
organization’s membership, its stock of technological and
material resources, its own institutional characteristics
(structure, bylaws, rules, policies, and processes), and the
technological, physical, demographic, and institutional
properties of its environment. The authors caution against
using a behavioral approach to a theory of organizational
form because of the likelihood that such an approach
would yield a theory of ‘‘unmanageable complexity and
intellectual difficulty.”” Instead, they espouse a macro-
social approach that allows the treatment of aggregative
properties of the organizational collectivity without
appeal to the mediation of interpersonal ties or exchanges.
They note that in ‘‘taking this step, other properties of the
collective unit (such as technology, rules, and laws) are
introduced into the web of systemic relationships at the
level of the collectivity’” (p. 25).

Bidwell and Kasarda next define organizational
environment to include all external phenomena that affect
or could affect an organization. They identify four aspects
of the environment, namely, supplies of resources, actors
who supply them or who in other ways may affect their
supply, flows of resources to and among various pop-
ulations of organizations within the environment, and
relationships among the environmental actors that influ-
ence the flow and utilization of resources. The first two
are compositional aspects of the environment and the third
and fourth are relational aspects (p. 38).

Bidwell and Kasarda divide the organizational envi-
ronment into an ‘‘internal’’ and an ‘‘external’’ environ-
ment. The internal environment is synonymous with the
structure of the organization itself. They posit that
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organizational structure is the locus of opportunities for
and constraints on the organization’s further morpholog-
ical evolution. The existence of the external environment,
in its relational aspects (i.e., the surrounding social and
normative order), is another principal source of these
opportunities and constraints (p. 39).

In viewing community-based participatory planning
entities, such as the CARE Act Title I planning councils
and HIV prevention CPGs, as organizations, one finds
that this particular population of organizations is con-
tinually expanding as additional metropolitan and rural
areas turn to this type of organization to address local
needs for health care, support services, and disease pre-
vention/education. The specific organizational form that
characterizes all community-based participatory planning
entities is not a unique form. Although at first glance
an argument might be made that these entities have the
characteristics of ‘‘synthetic’’ organizations, as defined
in Thompson,® their apparently increasing permanence
and institutionalization in the local health care envi-
ronment suggest something more. All such entities ap-
pear to have many of the characteristics of what is known
in the organizational behavior literature as a ‘‘minimal-
ist’’ organization.

The minimalist organizational form is identified by
Halliday et al.***°! in a study of the vital events observed
in the organizational population of state bar associations.
Furthermore, Aldrich et al.'*! used a similar approach in
their study of U.S. trade associations. Both of these studies
focus on minimalist organizations in the private sector and
use the population ecology of organizations perspective.
(For comprehensive discussions of population ecology of
organizations, see Hannan and Freeman,”pm] Hannan
and Carroll,MS] Singh,m] and Tucker et al.[‘m)

The studies of minimalist organizations observe that
such organizations are structurally flexible, frequently
exist in relatively noncompetitive environments, and have
long life spans. These organizations may not demon-
strate the patterns of foundings and failures character-
istic of most business organizations, and especially not
the liability of newness. They are called ‘‘minimalist’’
because they require minimal resources for founding
and sustenance.

The differences between minimalist and nonminimalist
organizations can be stated in terms of four core di-
mensions. Halliday et al.**! identified these dimensions
as follows:

1) Initial Costs. Many organizations require extensive
zcapital investments and labor commitments for
birth, but minimalist organizations can be founded
with very limited labor commitments and capital. In
the case of Title I planning councils, the establish-
ment of a council is mandated by federal law. To
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qualify for funding, an eligible metropolitan area
(EMA) must use its own resources to form a council,
the costs of which are not reimbursable. Following a
metropolitan area’s qualification for the program,
application can be made for Title I formula and
supplemental grant funding, and a small part of the
total grant funds can be utilized for council support
and development.

2) Maintenance Costs. Nonminimalist organizations
require resource abundant environments for survival,
but minimalist organizations can subsist in substan-
tially poor resource environments. In the case of Title
I planning councils, even when federal program funds
are reduced or withheld, the work of the planning
council continues.

3) Reserve Infrastructures. Most nonminimalist orga-
nizations have few shadow organizational structures
or external resources to fall back on in times of hard-
ship, but many minimalist organizations can supple-
ment organizational resources with administrative
and other infrastructures to be called on when neces-
sary. In the case of Title I planning councils, numerous
reserve infrastructures may exist, including assistance
and staffing from the local public health jurisdiction,
members who are only nominally or minimally re-
imbursed for their participation, agencies that main-
tain their employees on the payroll while they serve on
the council, and various incidentals, such as travel
time, out-of-pocket expenditures, and use of personal
equipment and time for council business, all of which
are usually not reimbursed by the Title I grant.

4) Adaptiveness. High sunk costs in capital and labor
commitments impart structural inertia to many or-
ganizations, but low sunk costs enable minimalists
to adapt readily to changes in their environments.
Minimalists may also gain an advantage from
normative flexibility: their conception of what the
organization is about can more readily be altered. In
other words, the minimalist organization can easily
adapt or evolve to fit the particular environment
in which it must function. In the case of Title I
planning councils, there is an expectation that
individual councils will develop in response to the
constraints found in each of their local health care and
services environments.

In addition to these four critical dimensions, Halliday
et al.”*! identified a subclass of minimalist organizations
that have a unique distribution of vital events because they
evidence a high standing on two additional dimensions
(p. 457). These dimensions include the following:

5) Niche Definition. Most organizations have over-
lapping or poorly defined niches that encourage
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competition, but many minimalist organizations have
well-defined niches and segmented competitive
environments that require minimal defense. This
dimension pertains, in some instances, to govern-
ment-sponsored corporations. In the case of Title I
planning councils, a specific niche has been defined
by the CARE Act, namely, the planning, prioritizing,
and allocation of resources to meet the needs of
persons with HIV disease for health care and support
services in a specific geographical area. Originally,
HIV prevention and education were specifically ex-
cluded from the purview of Title I councils. In the
case of the HIV prevention CPGs, the Centers for
Disease Control and Prevention defined the niche
to include HIV prevention planning in a specific
geographical area, usually a health jurisdiction or a
combination of jurisdictions.

6) Norms of Competition. Competition is tolerated in
many organizational populations, but a number of
minimalist organizations tend to discourage compe-
tition. In most cases of this type of minimalist
organization, a specific niche has been preserved for a
particular minimalist organization (i.e., the minimal-
ist organization has a ‘‘regional monopoly’’ in a
clearly delineated territory and no other similar
organization is permitted to function within the con-
fines of that specific niche).

In the case of Title I planning councils, the boundaries
of each respective EMA define the area in which a
particular planning council has the responsibility and
authority to plan, prioritize, and allocate resources for
health care and support services for persons with HIV
disease. Except for the required periodic submissions of
supplemental grant applications, through which the
metropolitan areas participating in the Title I program
receive additional grant funds based on the merits of their
application, there is supposedly no competition among the
organizational population of Title I planning councils or
the EMASs in which they operate. The same is said for each
regional HIV prevention CPG. There is no competition
among CPGs for funding.

Kieler et al.''*! posited that the HIV health services
planning council, as mandated by Title I of the CARE
Act, have all four of the core dimensions manifested by
minimalist organizations as well as the dimensions of the
subclass of minimalist organizations enjoying a mono-
poly in a particular environmental niche. They conclude
that the Title I planning councils represent a new
organizational population of mandated minimalist organ-
izations in the public sector. Use of the population
ecology of organizations perspective in the study of
these planning councils could contribute to a greater
understanding of this particular organizational population
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as well as other organizational populations of commu-
nity-based participatory planning entities such as con-
sortia, CPGs, and coalitions.

COORDINATION OF SERVICES

The responsibility for developing a regional comprehen-
sive plan for the delivery of health care and support
services for persons with HIV disease makes the HIV
health services planning council mandated by Title I of the
CARE Act a key element in the coordination of such
services at the local level. Therefore it can be expected
that the planning council could face many of the same
problems and barriers that Aiken et al.**! found to be
impeding efforts in the planning and implementation of
integrated and coordinated mental health service delivery
systems. These barriers include fragmentation of services,
inaccessibility of services, lack of accountability of
service delivery agencies, discontinuities in services,
dispersal of services, wastefulness of resources, ineffec-
tiveness of services, short-term commitments, and multi-
ple local governments. Barriers to coordination are linked
to aspects of the service delivery system including
organizational autonomy, professional ideologies, con-
flicts among various client interest groups, and conflicts
over who is to control the resources (p. 4). Many of these
same barriers to coordination and issues of ideology that
Aiken et al. observed in the 1970s were also observed by
Kieler et al.”®! during the Oakland planning council case
study in 1992-1995, or 20 years after they were first
identified in a similar study of mental health service
delivery systems.

Aiken et al. noted that professional ideologies often
prevent professionals in one field from wanting to
cooperate with professionals in another field. They
observe that competing client interest groups may work
at crosspurposes, cancel out each other’s efforts, and
present a less than united front in the community. They
also note that service organizations frequently put their
own survival and prestige ahead of the needs of the
clients. They point out various studies which show that
acceptance of clients by service organizations depends on
social, cultural, and historical factors, and not just on the
needs of the clients; that agencies refer clients to places
that profit the agency, rather than to places good for
clients; and that agencies like to have the ‘‘right’” clients
rather than those with the most pressing problems.

Aiken et al. suggested that one way to conceive of a
coordinated delivery system was to view it as a change
process having several stages. These stages of develop-
ment are identical to those noted by Hernandez and
Kaluzny[49] and include awareness, initiation of effort,
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implementation, and routinization or institutionalization.
In each stage, specific critical problems emerge:

1) Awareness Stage. The coordination effort usually
has an initial period of increasing agitation by com-
munity groups and awareness by professional groups
that treatment requires specialized services and new
programs (p. 22).

2) Initiation of Effort Stage. Problems of gaining
power, legitimacy, and funding usually occur in the
initiation stage of the coordination effort (p. 22).
Kieler' ! elucidated this stage of development in the
Oakland planning council study.

3) Implementation Stage. The problems that arise
during implementation usually stem from the choice
of the organizational structure for the service
delivery system, internal conflicts among key
participants, and lack of effective control over other
organizations (i.e., resistance to implementation by
some of the participants). Another problem that
might arise is the transformation of the goals of the
change agent. As failures in achieving objectives
occur, goals of the program may become displaced
(i.e., the change agent might scale down its
objectives and begin to concentrate on particular
goals that reflect its inherent interests and values)
(p. 23). Again, Kieler''"! found evidence of this
stage in the Oakland planning council study.

4) Routinization Stage. The primary problem that
might emerge lies with the resource controllers.
Without their continued support, even the best of
programs or service delivery systems would be
jeopardized (p. 23). In the study of HIV planning
councils, one recent example of this stands out,
namely, the suspension of health care and support
services for a person with HIV disease in Norfork,
Virginia, because of a contract dispute between the
resource controllers (i.e., the city manager of Norfork)
and the service provider (i.e., Eastern Virginia
Medical School Clinics)."*”!

Not only could the Title I planning council process in
a particular metropolitan area face the various problems
associated with the first three stages noted by Aiken
et al.,[48] it could also face the uncertainty of continued
funding. Beginning in spring 1995, efforts were initiated
in the U.S. Congress to secure reauthorization of the
Ryan White CARE Act for an additional 5-year period.
As of January 1996, the fate of the CARE Act had not
yet been decided, nor had any funds been appropriated
for the act’s various titles for the fiscal year to begin in
fall 1996. Nonreauthorization of the CARE Act would
have resulted in major changes in the organizational
environment of all Title I planning councils, and possibly
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in their demise as a regional planning and coordinating
process for health care and support services for persons
with HIV disease. However, Fortunately, final reautho-
rization was approved by Congress in March 1996. Since
that time, Congress has periodically reauthorized the
CARE Act.

IMPLICATIONS OF THE OAKLAND STUDY
FOR PRACTITIONERS

Analysis of the data pertaining to the Oakland metropol-
itan area’s HIV health services planning council includes
a systematic examination, discussion, and critique of
several key aspects of the Ryan White CARE Act, the
organizational form of the planning council, and the
organizational environment in which a planning council
must function. It also includes a description of the
organization of the Title I process in the Oakland EMA
and a discussion on the major issues that the planning
council successfully dealt with during the period 1992—
1994. It applies a process model of organizational de-
velopment and change to the planning council’s efforts to
reform its organizational structure, bylaws, processes, and
procedures, and it examines the planning council’s efforts
to assure adherence to the planning council’s own bylaws
and Robert’s Rules of Order, and to assure the compliance
by all planning council members with the conflict-of-
interest requirements.

The Oakland study also presents the implications for
practitioners of the issues that arose to challenge the
planning council during the period of observation. The
primary issues and challenges that the Oakland HIV
health services planning council faced are probably
typical of all such community-based participatory plan-
ning entities. These include multiple complex interorga-
nizational relationships, conflicts of interest, preexisting
societal tensions, factionalism and competition for
influence by the major social groups in the area, changing
trends in the epidemic, consumers’ conflicting demands
for services, competition among service providers for
funding, membership burnout, accountability, compliance
with bylaws and rules of order, dealing with financially
troubled service providers who were understandably
reluctant to relinquish grant funding, and competition
with other metropolitan areas for a fair share of the
Title I funds. Kieler et al.”™'*! and Kieler!'!! presented
discussions on several of these major issues challenging
community-based planning entities.

In mandating the establishment of the HIV health
services planning council as the mechanism for assessing
needs, setting priorities, and allocating Title I funds to
health care and support service providers in an EMA, the
CARE Act mandated the creation of a population of new
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minimalist organizations in the public sector. The CARE
Act embedded this new organizational population in local
HIV/AIDS-related health care and support services
environments that are characterized by uncertainties and
limitations of multiple complex interorganizational rela-
tionships, rivalries between services providers competing
for limited funds, and conflicting demands of various
populations that the planning council is mandated by
Title I to serve. In other words, the CARE Act set the
planning council into a multifaceted, diverse, and dynamic
environment (i.e., a turbulent environment). Such an
environment can have unpredictable impacts on the
membership, functioning, credibility, and viability of the
planning council process.

Any new organization, including community-based
participatory planning entities, may face a liability of
newness. A new planning entity could conceivably face an
enormous burden in establishing its organizational
legitimacy, in settling on an appropriate organizational
structure to facilitate the accomplishment of its legislative
mandates, and in adopting a standard operating procedure
that would accommodate and satisfy its various stake-
holders. The effort to achieve organizational legitimacy
could consume an inordinate amount of time and effort
during the first years of such an organization’s existence.

The Oakland data suggest that a Title I planning
council, even though it is a government-mandated or-
ganization, can have serious organizational legitimacy
problems. These problems with legitimacy were reflected
both in the various letters of complaint and in the opinions
of providers and consumers about the planning council’s
prioritizations, allocations of funds, request-for-proposals
process, appeals process, and contracting process. Addi-
tionally, the periodic efforts to change the planning
council’s organizational structure, prompted by internal
opinion as well as by concerns expressed by federal
program monitors, indicated a minimalist organization
that was attempting to structure itself in response to
environmental challenges to its legitimacy. The chal-
lenges to the legitimacy of the Oakland planning council
stemmed primarily from the planning council’s involve-
ment in the direct allocation of Title I funds to local-level
service providers, a role that more appropriately should
have belonged to the grantee. However, removal of the
planning council in the mid-1990s from involvement in
provider-specific allocations served to increase the
perceived legitimacy of the planning council process in
the Oakland metropolitan area.

If the organizational ecology concept of failure to
survive could be defined to include abrupt and sig-
nificant changes (i.e., massive changes) in a planning
council’s membership, organizational structure, bylaws,
policies, processes, and/or interorganizational relation-
ships (i.e., its core features), then strong evidence of
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failure to survive by certain members of this new
organizational population could be expected and prob-
ably be at a much higher rate than is found in the event
histories of other populations of minimalist organiza-
tions. However, it should be noted that an initial high
rate of ‘‘organizational death’’ typifies many organiza-
tional populations, but that this initial high rate de-
clines over time as the population of organizations is
legitimated and as the population’s members successful-
ly compete with each other for limited resources.

Because it is almost inconceivable that the chief
elected official of an EMA and the various stakeholders
in the Title I planning council process would condone a
nonfunctional or dysfunctional planning council for very
long, massive changes in a planning council’s core
features might suggest that the planning council is in the
process of rapidly adapting itself—it is being adapted—to
fit the specific social and organizational environment in
which it must function. That is to say, the planning council
is evolving to fit the local environment, and its evo-
lutionary track is characterized by punctuated patterns
of morphological change. In other words, it is experienc-
ing periods in which changes are unusually significant
when compared to its prior state.

However, given the event history of the Title I planning
council in the Oakland metropolitan area through 1995,
the case for evolution seems weak. The Oakland data from
this period suggest an alternative hypothesis concerning
massive changes in a particular planning council’s core
features, namely, that a replacement of an existing plan-
ning council by a successor planning council occurred.
Furthermore, it appears that replacement of a planning
council by a successor planning council is highly feasible,
basically without cost, and might even serve to enhance
the acceptability, credibility, and viability of the Title I
process in an EMA. Swift replacement of an existing
planning council, a dysfunctional planning council, or a
collapsed planning council does not appear to jeopardize
either the area’s Title I status and eligibility, or its Title I-
funded health and social services delivery system. How-
ever, the ramifications of the replacement procedure on
perceptions of empowerment of the HIV/AIDS commu-
nity are yet to be articulated.

CONCLUSION

An examination of the event histories of other Title I
planning councils, or other similar community-based par-
ticipatory planning entities, might provide additional evi-
dence of the occurrence of replacement of an established
planning entity by a successor planning entity. Quite pos-
sibly, it might be found that, in certain metropolitan areas
and jurisdictions, there have been repeated replacements
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of the local participatory planning entity. Additionally,
elaboration and analysis of the phenomenon of replace-
ment of a planning council by a successor council may
provide additional support for the hypothesis that en-
vironmental selection is occurring in this new population
of public sector minimalist organizations.
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Cooperative Purchasing
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INTRODUCTION

Cooperative purchasing refers to a variety of arrangements
in which two or more entities buy goods and services under
the same agreement or contract. The National Association
of State Purchasing Officials (NASPO) (Ref. [1], p. 94)
defines cooperative purchasing as ‘‘buying through public
solicitation of competitive bids or competitive proposal by
two or more other public jurisdictions, authorities, or agen-
cies.”” According to NASPO (Ref. [1], p. 94), cooperative
purchasing ‘‘may include the resale or exchange of goods
and services without competitive bidding and the shared
use of facilities, procurement information, and procure-
ment personnel.”” Generally, cooperative purchasing
arrangements require that participating entities sign a vol-
untary agreement or memorandum of understanding
specifying, among other things, procedures for participa-
tion in contracts, warehousing, fee payments when appli-
cable, contract dispute resolution, terms of agreement, and
payment of invoices. Sponsorship of cooperative purchas-
ing programs vary among states. However, all require
participating jurisdictions to use best value in the procure-
ment of goods and services.

OVERVIEW

There are many forms of cooperative purchasing agree-
ments. The most common types include the join-bid con-
tract, piggybacking, and joint administrative or consoli-
dated purchasing. The join-bid method is popular among
state and local government units. Under this technique, two
or more jurisdictions take advantage of the benefits of cen-
tralized purchasing by reaching consensus on specifica-
tions, contract terms, and conditions for common products.
The bidding requirements of the participating jurisdictions
are pooled in a single invitation for bids to realize larger
volume and better unit pricing. The piggybacking method
requires a lead jurisdiction or large purchaser of product(s)
to invite bids, enter into a contract, and arrange for other
jurisdictions to purchase the same products under the same
conditions.”” Local jurisdictions often piggyback purcha-
ses on procurement done by state agencies especially of
heavy equipment. The joint consolidated or administrative
purchasing method is a formal contractual arrangement
where several jurisdictions agree to set up an administra-
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tive agency responsible for partial or entire purchases for
the participating entities. Under this method, each jurisdic-
tion must give up its freedom to comply with terms of the
formal contract. The lead agency is in charge of preparation
of specifications, solicitation and evaluation of bids, mon-
itoring participation, and administration of the contract.
Participants share the administrative costs of the program.
Joint purchasing is typically used by public agencies within
a specific metropolitan area, agencies within a state,
jurisdictions taking advantage of contract prices negotiated
by a state, and educational institutions using contract prices
negotiated by national educational associations."!

Other variants of cooperative procurement, especially
among local jurisdictions, include the joint use of facilities
and exchange of technical information and personnel.'”!
Under the former method, two or more entities may agree
to jointly use facilities such as a warehouse or a testing
laboratory. Such an arrangement is intended to reduce
procurement costs. In the event that jurisdictions are not in
position to purchase cooperatively, ‘‘they at least can help
one another by sharing information, loaning their staff, or
letting others use their facilities or product specifications’’
(Ref. [2], p. 352).

Cooperative purchasing is used by private, public, and
nonprofit sector entities. In the public sector, federal agen-
cies, state agencies, and the approximately 87,000 local
jurisdictions in the United States can engage in cooperative
procurement. Nonprofit agencies, such as hospitals,
colleges, universities, and religious organizations, are also
major participants in cooperative purchasing. Although
jurisdictions or organizations may have operational
differences, they buy basically the same types of goods
and services. The most jointly procured goods and services
by state and local jurisdictions include vehicles, computer
systems, software, office supplies, gasoline, automotive
and heavy equipment parts, furniture and office equipment,
asphalt, tires, pharmaceuticals, janitorial supplies, training
services, travel services, and telephone services. In general,
products or services, which are utilized by a large number
of jurisdictions, are awarded by competitive bids.

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

Cooperative purchasing is not new in the United States.
The earliest known established practice in the public
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sector dates back to about 1930 in Alamosa, CO, when
eight school districts formed a purchasing pool. Other
early initiatives in cooperative purchasing included the
formation of a joint procurement venture between the City
of Cincinnati, OH, and the Hamilton County, OH, in 1931
and the purchase of fire hoses by the Michigan Municipal
League for eight municipalities in 1938. The Cincinnati—
Hamilton County plan was formed on a voluntary basis
and managed by a coordinating committee of purchasing
agents of Hamilton County composed of the purchasing
agents of Hamilton County, the City of Cincinnati, the
Cincinnati Board of Education, the Public Library of
Cincinnati, and the University of Cincinnati. By the late
1970s, intergovernmental cooperative purchasing reached
its maturity. The publication in 1978 of the Model
Procurement Code marked a milestone in the efforts of
state and local governments to adopt laws and ordinances
that encouraged and facilitated intergovernmental pur-
chasing cooperation. Today, the practice is widespread
among states, counties, cities, towns, villages, school
districts, special school districts, colleges, universities,
agencies, authorities, commissions, and other bodies with
the power to award public contracts.

BENEFITS

Cooperative or pool purchasing has several benefits. First,
by buying identical or similar goods and services in large
volumes, participants save money and time. Volume
purchasing provides participants with economies of large-
scale purchasing by lowering unit costs of products.
Pooling of purchasing functions further lowers adminis-
trative costs by substantially reducing duplication of
efforts associated with competitive procurement. Second,
cooperative purchasing programs save participants time
to research specifications, to identify vendors, and to
prepare, advertise, and administer a bid proposal or
maintain a contract. Third, pool purchasing offers pro-
gram subscribers standardized specifications, better qua-
lity control, and broader selection of goods and services.
Finally, cooperative purchasing facilitates information
sharing and expertise, especially among smaller jurisdic-
tions that lack resources to hire full-time professional
purchasing managers. Professional management of pur-
chasing functions further benefits smaller jurisdictions in
technical procurement functions such as preparation of
specifications, training, economic analysis, development
of buying strategies, testing and inspection of products,
and disposition or exchange of surplus property.m

DRAWBACKS

Despite the benefits highlighted above, cooperative
purchasing has some major drawbacks. First, certain legal
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and political obstacles impede the growth and devel-
opment of cooperative purchasing programs. The major
political obstacles include ‘‘preference of local vendors,
the fear of loss of autonomy, the difficulty of settling on
standardized items to all, and the feeling of the larger
participants that their savings will be less than those of the
smaller units.”’"! Experience indicates that over time,
political barriers are more difficult to overcome than legal
barriers.! Second, sharing of administrative and technical
overhead costs, especially under a join-bid arrangement,
is problematic. Great effort is needed to assemble the
participating jurisdictions, to draft and coordinate terms
and specifications, to prepare bidders’ lists and draft so-
licitations, and to tabulate and evaluate responses.m Last,
if poorly designed, a cooperative purchasing program can
increase the carrying costs for participating jurisdictions.
Volume buying typically increases storage, insurance, co-
ordination, and transportation costs. As noted by Reed and
Swain,'5 I “‘when items are purchased in large amounts,
those items will need to be stored since products must be
stored for an extended period of time. They must be stored
so that they do not deteriorate, which may require special
facilities. ... Clearly, considerable thought needs to be
given to the costs of such enterprises.”’

CONCLUSION

Cooperative purchasing promotes sound administrative
values, including economy and efficiency, by maximizing
the time and resources of participating units. It is cost-
effective and provides participants with the economies of
large-scale purchasing. Thus it renders high value for
taxpayers dollars. Well-rounded cooperative purchasing
programs further foster intergovernmental cooperation
and reduce duplication of work. However, as noted by
NASPO (Ref. [1], p. 96), ‘‘successful programs need
favorable laws, adequate implementing regulations,
energetic leadership, and cooperation among the parties.’’
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INTRODUCTION

The courts of the United States have experienced a quiet
revolution over the past two decades. Once strictly neutral
forums for case adjudication, courts have evolved into
tribunals with a dual function. They remain the primary
forum for resolving civil and criminal matters; but today
courts also proactively seek ways to solve human and
community problems. This fundamental change has
brought with it new service demands and organizational
challenges that have created a need for more systematic
and integrative long-term planning. To confront this
increasingly complex and dynamic environment, court
systems have turned to long-established strategic planning
tools and methods. This article explores concepts,
models, and common practices adopted by federal, state,
and local court systems in developing and implementing
strategic plans.

PUBLIC SECTOR STRATEGIC PLANNING

By definition, strategic planning is a formalized and
systematic process used by any organization, enterprise,
or community to identify and achieve future goals through
collective action. Long employed by large private sector
corporations as a means of improving competitive
advantage, strategic planning did not come into wide-
spread public sector use until the 1990s.""! Faced with
ever-increasing social and technological challenges,
coupled with vocal demands for improved performance
and accountability, government and nonprofit organiza-
tions are now keeping pace with the private sector in
instituting strategic planning processes as a matter of
course. Today, strategic planning plays an important role
in the management of many governments, government
agencies, and nonprofit organizations.

The public sector has adopted strategic planning as part
of its organizational management structure for a number
of reasons. According to Mintzberg,'”! strategic planning
processes serve multiple purposes. They are effective
devices for self-assessment, improved communication,
and consensus building. Bryson!!! points also to strategic
planning’s utilization of participative decision making,
which is central to solving public problems in a
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democracy, as a key reason why the approach has been
widely adopted and persists.

Legislative mandate provides another impetus to
public sector adoption of strategic planning. Some gov-
ernments have enacted laws and regulations that call
for the submission of regularly updated strategic plans to
executive and legislative authorities. A case in point is the
Government Performance and Review Act (1993) that
directs federal agencies to develop and submit strategic
plans to Congress and the Office of Management and
Budget (OMB)."*! Strategic planning and routine submis-
sion of plans and performance reports to Congress and
OMB are an ongoing part of the management processes of
federal agencies.

The availability and proven track record of a number
of strategic planning models have also contributed to
the rapid expansion of public sector strategic planning.
Bryson''! has developed a widely recognized and
frequently referenced model for public sector strategic
planning in the United States. Bryson’s!!! process consists
of the following stages: initiate and agree on a strategic
planning process; identify mandates; clarify mission and
values; assess the organization’s external and internal
environments; identify strategic issues; formulate strate-
gies to manage issues; review and adopt the strategic plan;
establish a vision of success; develop an effective
implementation process; and, reassess strategies and the
strategic planning process.

COURT SYSTEM STRATEGIC PLANNING

Like its executive branch and local government counter-
parts, the judicial branch operates in an increasingly
dynamic and uncertain environment. Increased case loads,
public demands for greater accountability, and the
introduction of grassroots problem-solving court pro-
grams are changing the environments in which courts
operate. To respond to these changes, many courts have
instituted strategic planning processes over the last decade
and they continue to do so. The National Center for State
Courts (NCSC) provides an extensive bibliography of
court-related strategic planning materials as well as a
comprehensive state-by-state reference list of court
strategic plan documents. The NCSC also supplies access
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to many electronic documents and links to sites contain-
ing court strategic plans and process information at their
web site, http://www.ncsconline.org/.!"

Strategic Planning in Federal Courts

The federal judiciary has long operated under a formalized
process of strategic long-term planning that reflects its
unique Constitutional obligations. Administration of the
federal courts, which includes long-range strategic plan-
ning among its various functions, is carried out under the
policies and direction of the Judicial Conference of the
United States. The Judicial Conference, made up of Senior
Circuit and District Court Judges, directly oversees the
Administrative Office of the Courts and authorizes and
establishes standing and advisory committees that deal
with specific areas of administration.”® In 1990, the
Judicial Conference began a (http://www.uscourts.gov/lrp/
index) long-range planning process with its establishment
of the Committee on Long-Range Planning. The Com-
mittee’s work reflected a highly decentralized and
consultative process consistent with the federal judiciary’s
organizational structure and legally defined operations.

In meeting its charge, the Committee reviewed key
historical plans and reports and coordinated its work with
other committees of the Judicial Conference. These
committees collaboratively prepared a number of sub-
ject-specific long-term plans, which included input from
individual judges, supporting documentation from several
judiciary sponsored research projects, and extensive
public review and comment. Four years later, in 1994,
the final product was a comprehensive draft long-range
strategic plan containing dozens of long-term goals and
implementation strategies.

In December 1995, the Judicial Conference of the
United States adopted a final version of the Long-Range
Plan for the Federal Courts, which contained a Vision
and Mission Statement and 93 goals and 76 implemen-
tation strategies. A complete copy of the Long-Range
Plan for the Federal Courts is available at the federal
courts web site, http://www.uscourt.us.gov/Irp.'"

Strategic Planning in State and
Local Court Systems

At the state and local level, while many different
approaches have been applied to strategic planning
development and implementation, most court systems
have relied on only a few strategic planning methodol-
ogies and models to guide and coordinate the process.
According to Martin and Wagenknecht-Ivey,””! these
methods and models address organizational improvement
issues and reflect an external and community focus. They
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invite broad-based public participation and include
stakeholders from outside the court to assure sustained
community involvement. According to Rottman et al.,'®
community collaboration in the court planning process
inculcates greater understanding of the role of the courts
and fosters public trust and confidence.

While the composition of planning committees varies,
two distinct approaches are generally used in structuring
court strategic planning committees. According to Martin
and Wagenknecht-Ivey,!”! the first approach is broad-
based, made up of judges, court personnel, local govern-
ment officials, lawyers, citizens, and community groups. In
the second approach, the committee is entirely composed
of judges, court staff, and court system administrators.

In the following section, two models that illustrate the
key attributes, processes, and methods common to court
strategic planning will be discussed:

1. Court Community Planning Model (Judicial Council
of California).

2. Nine-Step Court Strategic Planning Process (Center
for Public Policy Studies).

COURT STRATEGIC PLANNING MODELS

State of California Court
Community Planning Program

The State of California Court Community Planning
Program is an excellent example of the application of
the community-focused model of court planning. In
keeping with the model, the California program has been
designed to promote community outreach and develop-
ment of court—community partnerships.!”’

The Judicial Council of California, the governance
board for the State’s judicial branch, is responsible for
improving the administration of justice in California. The
Council has adopted an official strategic planning process
and management cycle that is integrated with other ad-
ministrative processes, including annual judiciary budget
preparation. In 1998, under the direction of the Judicial
Council, the California courts launched its community-
focused strategic planning process. The process fosters
inclusion of community stakeholders as full partners in the
planning process and relies on a five-stage community-
outreach model developed in consultation with national
experts."” Much of the planning in this model is
delegated to courts at the county level and is accomplished
by teams of county court judges, court staff, local govern-
ment officials, bar representatives, and community groups.

Several features of the five-stage model are common
to other public sector strategic planning models. For
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instance, there are similarities with strategic planning
steps recommended in Bryson’s' framework, such as
clarifying vision and mission, scanning the environment
to determine important issues and trends, and develop-
ment of goals and measures of success. But what sets
the California model apart is its emphasis on broad-
based public participation and the ‘‘enablement’’ of pub-
lic involvement.

To enable community participation, the California
model recommends creation of planning teams that in-
clude broad-based representation both from within and
outside the courts. In the enablement phase, training is
provided to all planning team members in the basics of
strategic planning and use of the five-stage model as a
means of building planning capacity and group cooper-
ation and cohesion.

The California Courts Community Planning Model has
generated a variety of local ideas for improving court
operations and making courts more responsive to the
unique needs of the State’s socially and economically
divergent communities. This planning process has also
spawned a variety of community justice partnerships.
For example, court- and school-based education pro-
grams have been instituted in a number of small rural
jurisdictions to enhance student understanding of the legal
system. Elsewhere, a citizen advisory board has been
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established to build court and community trust and co-
operation in the Los Angeles Superior Court.”®! The suc-
cess of the collaborative model used in California can also
be seen in the rapid response and participation in the
planning effort. As of 2002, all 58 counties of the State
had submitted court community strategic plans to the
State’s Judicial Council.!'"’

Nine-Step Court Strategic Planning Process

By far, the most popular model used for court system
strategic planning is that developed by John A. Martin and
Brenda J. Wagenknecht-Ivey as consultants to the Center
for Public Policy Studies (CPPS). According to Martin
and Wagenknecht-Ivey, the Nine-Step Court Strategic
Planning Process offers a standard systematic approach
that can be readily adapted for use by any court system,
court, or court subdivision. Although input from the
wider community is a feature in the model, it is not a
requirement. The nine-step model focuses on organiza-
tional change, learning, and improvement. As of the year
2000, more than 50 state and local courts and other justice
agencies have reported adoption of this model for
strategic planning (Fig. 1).!")

According to Martin and Wagenknecht-Ivey,””! be-
cause strategic planning requires significant resources and

Long Range Strategic Planning Process
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Fig. 1 A nine-step strategic planning process for courts. (From Ref. [7].)
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time commitments, courts need to be sure that conditions
are right for introducing strategic planning. The authors
recommend that, prior to undertaking strategic planning,
court leaders must be able to focus on long-term
priorities, be ready to embrace organizational change,
and be willing to involve a wide-range of participants
in planning. Wagenknecht-Ivey has developed a tool
to score and evaluate an organization’s conditions of
readiness.”’! If ‘‘readiness’’ criteria are met, court
organizations are given the green light to move ahead
with a strategic planning efforts.

Following the readiness assessment, the nine-step
model begins with a commitment from court leaders and
managers and an agreement from the planning group about
the scope and purpose of the effort. Steps 2 and 3 focus on
development of vision and mission statements. Step 4
consists of a trend analysis and scenario constructions.
Scenario construction, according to the authors, can help
planners picture how a variety of trends may impact on
the courts and how courts can shape a positive future.
They are creative tools that involve speculation and
imagination, but are not predictions. Use of scenarios
facilitate systematic future-oriented and ‘‘what if”’
thinking to help organizations better understand the
potential forces impacting on desired future conditions.!""!

Step 5 in this model is an organizational assessment
that, according to the authors, allows the court to see how
its structures, policies, attitudes, and resources align with
“‘expected’” and ‘‘desired’’ future conditions. In step 6,
strategic issues and key-result areas are identified.
Strategic issues are the critical policies or challenges to
the court organization that will impact on future
effectiveness. Step 7 involves development of compre-
hensive strategies to respond to each strategic issue area.
The authors consider this step to be the heart of the model
and recommend that broad goals, objectives, and end
targets be established.

Step 8 moves plan formulation into operational and
action planning stages and involves project selection,
setting time frames, and evaluating resource availability
and impacts.!”! The model assumes that strategic planning
will be an ongoing and continuous process. As a result,
step 9 urges courts to set up methods for monitoring and
evaluating results and developing plan updates.

Mentoring guidelines have been prepared as a practical
tool to guide court strategic planners in using the nine-
step model.l”! The guidelines provide a case study of the
Florida judicial branch long-range strategic planning
effort. This case study illustrates the application of the
nine-step model in an actual court system environment
and shows how the model facilitates a court strategic
planning process. The value of the nine-step strategic
planning approach is confirmed not only by the Florida
courts example, but by the number of other strategic plans
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it has helped foster. For example, see the plans of several
statewide court systems—California, Michigan, and
Wisconsin, and at the trial court level—Los Angeles
County Superior Court, 36th District Court in Detroit,
Michigan; and, Yakima County Superior Court in
Washington State.

Other Tools That Aid Court Strategic Planning

Along with models that are used to guide, coordinate, and
quicken the pace of strategic planning, several other
practical tools are available to facilitate the strategic
planning process in state and local court systems. One
such tool is a set of performance standards that have been
adopted and used by hundreds of trial and municipal
courts across the country to improve the quality and
accountability of court programs and services.'?! The
Trial Court Performance Standards (TCPS), " developed
by the Commission on Trial Court Performance Stan-
dards, provides 22 guiding principles covering five public
interest areas:

Access to justice.

Expedition and timeliness.
Equality, fairness, and integrity.
Independence and accountability.
Public trust and confidence.

AR > e

To support vision and mission statement, development
state and local courts often rely on these national per-
formance standards as a key resource.

A second tool available to state and local court systems
is one that can help shorten the time frame and reduce the
cost, complexity, and work required of strategic planning.
This tool is referred to as the ‘‘environmental scan’’ and
is a concept presented in detail in the Environmental Scan
for State Courts 2002, developed by the National Center
for State Courts and Futures.com.”'*! As explained in the
overview of the Scan report: ‘‘Environmental scanning
attempts to identify events, trends, and developments or
drivers, shaping the future....”” Trends, for instance, can
include those in social, scientific, technological, econom-
ic, political/governmental, and professional categories.!'"
In its broadest sense, environmental scanning involves an
effort to take a court beyond its current ways of doing
things (or encouraging it to rethink its ‘‘paradigms’”). The
scan report can be used by a court or court system to
support strategic planning either as the sole resource for
identifying forces and changes in the external environ-
ment or in combination with locally prepared environ-
mental trends information and analyses.

A third tool that can be used as a foundation for
strategic planning is the information gathered in court
““futures’” reports. As indicated by the National Center for
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State Courts web site, during the 1990s, 22 state court
systems created futures commissions or committees.
These study groups were generally initiated by visionary
state judicial leaders whose objectives were to assess
economic, social, cultural, technological, and political
trends and to consider how court systems should adapt
their structures, rules, workforce, operations, and inter-
governmental and community relationships to effectively
respond to expected changes.

The Ohio Courts Future Commission undertook one
such ‘‘futures’’ study. Conducted by a variety of legal
experts, community and business leaders, and citizens,
the Ohio study provides a good example of the breadth
of issues and long-range horizons generally reflected in
court futures studies. The Commission’s final report
identified 10 key attributes of the Ohio courts that would
be desirable by the year 2025, including, among other
things, courts that are physically, economically, and
functionally accessible to all citizens, a jury system that
respects jurors and lets them take a more active role in
court proceedings, selection of judges based on superior
legal and personal qualifications (trained and continually
reeducated on topics of relevance to the courts), and a
workforce that is well trained and professional.'>

Strategic Planning Issues
and Future Directions

Even with its benefits, such as clearer mission and goals,
coherent decision making, and improved performance,
strategic planning may not be suitable for some court
organizations or in all circumstances. Bryson''l cites a
number of difficulties and challenges that must be
addressed to ensure success, including, foremost, the
commitment of key leaders and stakeholders. Bryson
further recommends that if implementation appears
unlikely, strategic planning should not be considered.
Martin and Wagenknecht-Ivey!’! also recommend that
courts assess their readiness for change and the commit-
ment of leaders and stakeholders before embarking on a
strategic planning effort. Critics of strategic planning are
also concerned with the costs and time-consuming aspects
of the process. Hamel,''® for example, argues that
strategic planning is not only too costly but also does
not provide for the fast-paced strategy development
needed by today’s organizations.

Henry Mintzberg,'” in his classic work on the “‘rise
and fall of strategic planning,”” cites several other
limitations of strategic planning including the conflict
between the creativity necessary for innovation and the
logical and systematic requirements of formal planning.
For the public sector, he reiterates the challenge of
ensuring that the desires of the people are adequately
represented. Mintzberg'?' does not entirely dismiss the
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process, but notes that while strategic planning may have
benefits, at best, ‘‘[it is] a process with particular benefit
in particular contexts” (p. 4). More recently, Raffoni'!”}
argues that strategic planning often founders at the
execution stage because of a limited understanding by
management of what it takes to successfully implement
strategies. Raffoni also contends that few plans recognize
the importance of translating broad-brush conceptual
strategies into decisions about who will carry out the
associated tasks and how much time and money will
actually be expended.

In spite of these difficulties, the need for effective
methods to deal with the dynamic forces of change
remains a major challenge for court systems and other
public sector institutions. Strategic planning and related
techniques that facilitate communication, collaboration,
goal setting, and accountability have helped many public
sector organizations better prepare for the future. At the
same time, there is recognition”gl that more robust,
focused, coordinated, and democratic methods will be
needed if strategic planning is to remain a viable and
beneficial tool for the next generation of public leaders,
managers, and citizens.

CONCLUSION

Strategic planning concepts, tools, and models have
helped many court systems prepare for the future and
transform themselves into more responsive public orga-
nizations. As the pace of change quickens and public
expectations for effective performance increases, system-
atic planning processes will become even more critical in
ensuring the effectiveness of courts and court/community
cooperation at all governmental levels. Recognizing this,
several state court systems have made strategic planning
an integral and ongoing organizational management
process. Also, the National Center for State Courts
continues to expand its resources and services to help
court systems build and sustain their strategic planning
capacity. While public sector conditions have dramati-
cally changed in recent years, those courts that have
a history of long-range, systematic, and broad-based
strategic planning are likely to be able to adapt to
changing conditions and meet new demands for service
and effectiveness now and in the future.
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Crisis Policy Making and Management in Southeast Asia

Scott Fritzen
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INTRODUCTION

Crises severely test the capacities of bureaucracies,
politicians, and, at times, the overall resilience of political,
economic, and social systems. Studying crisis manage-
ment across country contexts enables the exploration of
systemic capacities and policy-making patterns as these
undergo (at times, extreme) stress. This review briefly
introduces a framework for cross-country analysis and
applies to Southeast Asia. It has four sections. First, it
presents hypotheses for how different crisis types interact
with country governance characteristics to influence de-
cision making. Second, summary characteristics of crises
influencing policy making and management are presented
for a range of crises that have affected Southeast Asia in
the past 10 years. Third, regional responses to the emer-
gence and spread of the Severe Atypical Respiratory
Syndrome (SARS) virus in 2003 are analyzed as one ex-
ample of interconnections posited between governance
characteristics and crisis management. The concluding
section explores implications of the framework for those
interested in improving the robustness of crisis manage-
ment in the region.

CRISIS DECISION MAKING AND
GOVERNANCE CHARACTERISTICS

Analytical frameworks for comparing crisis decision
making across national boundaries are at an early stage
of development, in contrast to the considerable literature
that exists on individual types of crisis, such as terrorism
or natural disasters (see the Handbook of Crisis and
Emergency Management' for comprehensive coverage).
Two types of generalizations are likely to be important for
future work in this area.

The first stems from the pioneering work of Grindle
and Thomas,”” who analyzed ways in which problem
characteristics and context help determine patterns of
policy decision making. Distinguishing between ‘‘crisis-
driven’’ and ‘‘bureaucratic politics-as-usual’’ reform
contexts, they find that decision making in the latter case
is likely to be addressed at senior levels of government and
to be strongly influenced by the need to maintain regime
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stability. Together with Kingdon,'*! they also stress the
importance of the leadership abilities of ‘‘policy entre-
preneurs,”” who are shown to make a profound difference
on outcomes even in resource-poor environments.

Building on the Grindle and Thomas dichotomy,
we can posit that ‘“‘not all crisis are created equal:’’
Different types of crisis will “‘trigger’” different decision-
making modalities. Four characteristics seem particular-
ly important:

1. Degree to which a problem threatens overall regime
stability. Ability to threaten the tenure of senior
leaders became in effect a defining characteristic of a
crisis in Grindle and Thomas’ framework, but it is
clear that different types of crisis threaten political
stability to very different degrees; it is also clear that
the impact of the same type of problem on political
stability will vary between regimes. The greater the
degree to which regimes and incumbents are threat-
ened by a crisis, the more decision making will
tend to be dominated by the political calculus of
senior officials.

2. Degree to which a problem is potentially amenable to
a “‘technical’’ solution. The effectiveness of decision
making in crises involving considerable technical
complexity (such as environmental protection) will in
large part be determined by the bureaucratic capac-
ities that exist in a given system.

3. Degree of cross-national spillover involved. Interstate
crises raise the complexity of problem solving by
forcing decisions to be negotiated with multiple
stakeholders, both within and outside of a polity.
The greater the spillover effect, the more outcomes
will be shaped by the effectiveness of regional forms
of cooperation and by differentials in power be-
tween states.

4. The continuity of issue as crisis (whether short-acting
or chronic). All crises, by definition, thrust themselves
unpredictably onto the policy agenda. Some, however,
are recurring in nature—sometimes over decades—
such that precedents and ‘‘organizational reper-
toires” 'l —patterned national and bureaucratic
responses to a given problem—are triggered with
each recurrence of the crisis. In unprecedented crisis
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contexts, the role of individual leaders in shaping
responses may be highlighted to a greater extent than
in the case of ‘‘chronic’ crises.

A second broad generalization, to date insufficiently
explored in the literature (but see Grindle!®), is that state
capacities matter in crisis management. A strategic
approach to crisis policy making and management!®”
focuses on three categories of capacities:

1. Political and leadership capacities, which, as the
name implies, has two aspects depending on whether
the capacities involved adhere primarily to an
individual or to the system as a whole. A critical
feature is the way political leaders (or, in rarer cases in
Southeast Asia, policy entrepreneurs outside govern-
ment) direct attention to a problem in a manner that
shapes how the crisis is perceived.

2. Bureaucratic and process capacity involves the
ability to manage a high-quality decision-making
process during a crisis®™® and to execute decisions
taken with predictability and control. This is a pro-
foundly institutional capacity resting on many foun-
dations: a well-functioning bureaucracy, clear
information systems and resources (both manpower
and fiscal) to tackle implementation challenges
that arise.

3. Social capacity in times of crisis relates to the
willingness of social or economic groupings to accept
overall government coordination and/or to participate
in the constructive response to the crisis.

Looking across these categories, one can make what
might be called the ‘‘weakest link’” hypothesis. Any given
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crisis may invoke multiple types of decision-making
responses and rely for its resolution on multiple capacities.
Yet some capacity constraints will be more binding for the
“‘successful’’ management of crises than others. For
politically sensitive crisis points, a governance system’s
political capacities will, in particular, be tested, and crises
involving high technical complexity will depend heavily
on a system’s bureaucratic capacity. Crises with high
spillover effects, in turn, will depend prominently on the
strength of mechanisms for interstate cooperation—a
capacity that in Southeast Asia has been growing steadily
over the past two decades, but which is still stretched thin.

COMPARING CRISIS CHARACTERISTICS
IN SOUTHEAST ASIA

Multiple kinds of crisis have affected Southeast Asian
countries of the past 5 years or so, each with different
characteristics based on the framework above (Table 1).
These can be divided into three groupings that suggest
different hypotheses for future research.

The first grouping includes chronic, largely political
problems that are generally not amendable to any ob-
vious ‘‘technical’’ solution, but are also unlikely to
precipitate regime change on their own. Terrorism,
internal violence, secession struggles, and human rights
disputes all might fit into this category. In between
inevitable crisis points, these problems have tended to
simmer without resolution where they have affected low-
capacity political systems (as in Indonesia or Cambodia).
Their resolution will depend on the degree to which
political and adaptive capacities develop in, as yet,
weakly institutionalized democracies.

Table 1 Characteristics of crises buffeting Southeast Asia since 1997

Technical solution Spillover Regime threat Continuity
Health (SARS, bird flu) High High Low Low
Health (HIV-AIDS) Moderate Moderate—high Low High
Terrorism (e.g., response to Low High Low Moderate
Jemmah Islamiyah)
Economic and financial crisis (1997-1999) Moderate Moderate Moderate—high Moderate
Regime challenge (e.g., ‘‘People’s Power II'” or Low Low High Low
the fall of Soeharto)
Interstate dispute (e.g., Cambodia—Thailand Moderate High Low Low
““‘Angkor Wat’’ incident in January 2003)
Internal civil violence (e.g., Maluku unrest) Low Moderate Moderate Moderate
Secessionist struggles (e.g., Aceh, Mindanao) Low Moderate Moderate High
Human rights problems in regional countries Low Moderate Low High
(e.g., ASEAN response to Myanmar’s detention
of Aung San Suu Kyi in May 2003)
Environmental dispute (e.g., Indonesia—Singapore Moderate High Low Moderate

“‘smog’’ problem, 1997)
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A second category of problems includes technical
problems with high ‘‘contagion,”” moderately capable of
threatening regime tenure. Handling of epidemic out-
breaks and regional economic crises, such as (notably) the
East Asian financial crisis beginning in 1997, fall into this
category. Outcomes in these cases depend, to a large
extent, on problem continuity and the technical capacity
and interest of the affected governments to address the
problems. Addressing major problems of high contagion
in this manner clearly goes beyond the capacity of less-
developed Southeast Asian countries, which must there-
fore rely, to a large extent, on regional management
mechanisms. As shown by the SARS example below, the
degree to which bureaucratic capacity and interstate
norms can simultaneously develop becomes critical to
the eventual resolution of crises in this category.

The third category involves direct challenges to
government tenure, extending in the extreme to challenges
to the entire governance system (as in Indonesia during
the fall of Soeharto). These are, of course, political crises
points, the resolution of which depends on the balance of
state capacity, legitimacy, and institutionalized conflict-
management mechanisms built up over the history of the
polity concerned.

RESPONDING TO A CRISIS OF UNKNOWN
PROPORTIONS: THE CASE OF SARS IN 2003

Different responses in Southeast Asia to the outbreak of a
new and deadly disease—Severe Atypical Respiratory
Syndrome (SARS)—serve as an illustration of the
interaction effects of crisis and governance characteristics.
SARS originated in southern China in November 2002,
reached Hong Kong in February 2003, and peaked in May
2003, by which time it had spread eventually to over
25 countries. It was to cause just fewer than 800 deaths
before its chain of transmission was declared broken in all
countries in July 2003. Of the 10 worst affected countries,
seven were in Asia, foremost among them mainland
China, which accounted for almost 90% of worldwide
cases.””! This health crisis gripped the public imagination
in a manner much different from the far more devastating
HIV virus, in part because it erupted in a short time,
caused widespread uncertainty (including over transmis-
sion modalities and fatality rates) and massive economic
costs to the countries worst affected. SARS posed a
tremendous challenge above all to East and Southeast
Asian countries and territories that bore the brunt of the
disease—seven of the 10 worst affected countries were in
Asia.l'!

The SARS epidemic had a high technical content; the
policy response to SARS was predicated on getting better
information on transmission routes and effective mecha-
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nisms of control. It was moderately threatening in political
terms, with fears concentrated on the potential economic
costs as well as the social fallout from being seen to
handle the virus incompetently. Of course, SARS had high
international spillover (and therefore generated high
amounts of pressure from the international community
for affected countries to institute transparent control
mechanisms). Despite sharing these crisis characteristics,
the way the SARS virus was handled differed substantially
in China, Vietnam, and Singapore in ways that shed light
on the intersection of governance qualities and crisis-
management modalities.

In Vietnam, early detection of the virus and a swift
response led to eventual containment. The government’s
response drew praise from the World Health Organization
(WHO):'" <“Vietnam demonstrated to the world how a
developing country, hit by an especially severe outbreak,
can triumph over a disease when reporting is prompt and
open...”" Partly, the response was one of luck, as a rapid
initial effort to contain the spread was successful. As was
shown eventually in neighboring China, this success was a
function of effective dissemination of information through
Vietnam’s some 10,000 rural health centers, demonstrat-
ing that even in relatively poor countries, infrastructural
and organizational capacities, once mobilized, may be
impressive. The resolution of the SARS outbreak in
Vietnam, and the slower but eventually effective response
in China, was multifactorial, ‘‘involving improvements in
management and triage in hospitals and communities of
patients with suspected SARS and the dissemination of
information to health care workers and the public.”*!*

It is the initial Chinese response that calls for further
analysis. Information regarding the true extent of the
outbreak in China was suppressed for some weeks before
the government launched a full-scale attack on the
disease. The normally diplomatic (by necessity) WHO
noted as much, saying, ‘‘SARS is now known to have
begun in mid-November [2002] in Guangdong Province.
Cases during the earliest phases of the SARS outbreak
there were not openly reported, thus allowing a severe
disease to become silently established in ways that made
further international spread almost inevitable.”’!'?!
Harsher assessments were found in the international press,
with The Economist magazine!'¥ likening the Chinese
performance to that of the Soviet Union during the
Chernobyl disaster. It was as the international spotlight
fully glaring on the Chinese that the stakes, in terms not
least of national image, became great enough for the
central leadership to initiate its rapid and comprehensive
course correction that finally led to an effective response.

Singapore generally drew high praise for its response to
the outbreak. As an international trading and tourist hub,
Singapore clearly stood to lose a great deal to the virus.
The government’s early response to it was to pull no
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stops; virtually all containment measures imaginable,
including use of military forces to enforce quarantine
requirements,"">! were taken with alacrity. The leadership
was engaged in a high-profile manner in communicating
information regarding the latest occurrences of the virus
and its transmission mechanisms. A recent review of
Singapore’s experience, based on a survey of 1200
Singaporeans, found that respondents evaluated highly
the authorities’” management of the SARS crisis, with a
special emphasis on their openness to communication.
The authors also pointed to the importance of social
capacity in responding to the virus, finding ‘‘a relatively
high level of social discipline in the population.’*!'®!

Singapore, Vietnam, and China are all authoritarian
states generally capable of mobilizing society behind
high-priority national decisions society unencumbered by
legal niceties and challenges. However, in this type of
crisis, technical capacities and leadership—the ability of
the authorities to grasp the situation at the grassroots and
their willingness to act in a transparent manner on this
information—mattered more than the macrogovernance
characteristics of the regimes. As a technologically savvy
city—state, transaction costs to access information about
what was ‘‘really’’ happening over the course of the
disease were reasonably low in Singapore, whereas the
complexity of governing the world’s most populous
nation, coupled with classic distortions in center-periph-
ery communications in China, led to its central govern-
ment initial incapacity to take action transparently to
thwart this emerging crisis.

IMPLICATIONS

Regime characteristics and systemwide capacities clearly
matter in determining crisis-management outcomes. Three
types of capacities can be examined, in particular, country
contexts—political, technical, and social. Overlapping
their boundaries are two additional ‘‘meta-capacities:”’ for
systemwide learning and adaptation and for effective
international cooperation and lesson sharing. Mechanisms
for responding collectively to problems of high technical
complexity are still at an early stage of development in
Southeast Asia, although—as demonstrated in part by the
SARS example—they are improving.

The characteristics of crises themselves also matter,
and this has implications for those seeking to shore up
regional capacity to address crises in Southeast Asia.
Technical capacities will be particularly important where
the crisis context allows decision making to proceed in a
relatively politically neutral fashion (unlike the early
response to SARS in China). Reformers seeking better
crisis management in such cases might hope to mobilize
external parties affected by the issue—i.e., to raise the
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“‘spillover’” salience of an issue—in order to prompt
better cooperation and national responsiveness.

Where political motives are paramount in responses to
crisis, answers will be more complex. Systems of conflict
resolution are needed at the regional level that are both
technically and politically viable. The influence of NGOs
and others in keeping unpopular issues on the policy
agenda will be essential, as will ongoing attempts to open
policy making to greater external scrutiny and input.
Although state capacities to handle crises in Southeast
Asia are highly uneven, robust institutions to manage
political transitions and accumulated social pressures are
in fairly short supply in most Southeast Asian countries.
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INTRODUCTION

Decentralization is an important political process that
holds the promise of enhancing any society’s enjoyment
of democracy and development. This article focuses on
how its two principal types, devolution and deconcentra-
tion, have been manifested in Southeast Asia. Specifical-
ly, it discusses how colonialism and the later struggle
against home-grown authoritarian regimes have put a
stamp on the efforts of the countries of the region to close
the gap between the rulers and the ruled. The present trend
is a movement from centralization to devolution, with
even those states choosing deconcentration doing so
within a larger governance framework of a limited state
and popular participation. The article ends with warnings
about possible pitfalls of decentralization and how these
may be contained.

PRINCIPAL DECENTRALIZATION
CONCEPTS: DEVOLUTION
AND DECONCENTRATION

“‘Decentralization’’ refers to the transfer of powers,
functions, and resources away from the central govern-
ment. It is supposed to bring government closer to the
people. How it does that depends on the type of
decentralization chosen. Greater physical access to
government offices and services can be accomplished
through ‘‘deconcentration,”” which is the creation of a
system of field units staffed by civil servants who draw
their salaries from, and implement programs drawn up by,
the central government. Deconcentration, also called
“‘administrative decentralization,”” is more strictly de-
fined as the transfer of functions and resources alone,
because power remains at the center and the transfer is
effected to agents of the central government that remain
responsible to, and are controlled by, it. The expected
main strengths of deconcentration are greater efficiency in
service provision and the equal treatment of all localities
within the national territory.

Government can also be brought closer to the people by
granting them power to select their own officials, and,
through them or directly, make the decisions for their own
localities. This type of decentralization is called ‘‘devo-
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lution,”” where the central government transfers powers to
elected local governments. Devolution, also called
“‘political decentralization,”’ is usually accompanied by
local autonomy and is often regarded as the higher form of
decentralization. In fact, ‘‘decentralization,”’ unqualified,
is usually used as a synonym of devolution.

Devolution shares with deconcentration the advantage
of improved access and efficiency. However, the principal
strengths of devolution lie in its accountability and
responsiveness to the people. Although the center
continues to see to it that all local governments maintain
national standards and less developed ones are assisted in
the performance of their functions, the accountability of
local governments is primarily to its citizens. Because of
this, it is expected to fashion programs more in tune with
the particular demands of its local inhabitants, instead of
being bound by the homogenizing ethic that deconcen-
tration follows.

Deconcentration and devolution are two ends of a
continuum rather than mutually exclusive categories. For
instance, devolution in the Philippines is widely accepted
as the most evolved in the region, with local governments
elected for the last half-century and major functions
transferred to these local units since 1991. However,
education, the biggest sector (accounting for 18% of the
state budget and a third of the civil service force), remains
a deconcentrated function. Besides, the central govern-
ment continues to perform some of the devolved functions
instead of concentrating on national standard setting,
monitoring, and incentives provision, its appropriate roles
in a regime of devolution.

Also, federalism, being a union of autonomous
subnational units called states, is usually associated with
devolution. However, despite having the only federal
structure in the region, Malaysia maintains a deconcen-
trated system of governance. Local chief executives of the
states are either hereditary or appointed by the Malaysian
king, the Yang di Pertuan Agong. In turn, the state
governments appoint the heads of local bodies. Moreover,
the federal government can make and has made binding
decisions on matters in the State List, with nary a
complaint from the local units. Besides, close to 85% of
total government revenues accrues to the federal govern-
ment, giving the states very little room to fund their own

programs. "’

Encyclopedia of Public Administration and Public Policy
DOI: 10.1081/E-EPAP 120024437
Copyright © 2004 by Marcel Dekker, Inc. All rights reserved.



Decentralization in Southeast Asia

The wide variety of arrangements and processes that
fall under the rubric of decentralization conveys a sense of
the complexity of the concept. No nation has stuck to only
one option, and the decentralization regime of each
country is a product of its own history and culture; the
pressures of its political, economic, and social forces; and
even the demands of the global environment.

IMPACT OF COLONIALISM ON SOUTHEAST
ASIAN DECENTRALIZATION

Western colonialism to a large extent drew the boundaries
of the nations of Southeast Asia, and its legacy continues
to be manifested in the decentralization status and
struggles of these nations. What is now Malaysia consists
of individual kingdoms until the 18th and 19th centuries.
The British consolidated them as a federation under a
British resident-general, with each territory ran by their
respective sultans with a British adviser. Thus the federal
structure of Malaysia has its roots in colonial times.
Meanwhile, French Indo-China consisted of Cochin
China, Tonkin, Annam, Laos, and Cambodia. Upon
independence, Laos and Cambodia claimed the land of
their precolonial kingdoms, while the first three territories
formed the present Vietnam.

Perhaps the most problematic colonial bequests are
the archipelagoes of Indonesia and the Philippines
whose component islands were separate kingdoms un-
til they were ruled as single colonies by the Nether-
lands and Spain, respectively. The idea of a single nation
was born practically only in their respective struggles
for independence.

The Netherlands imposed a federation of 15 republics
on newly independent Indonesia in 1947. This was
reversed with the creation of a unitary state in 1950. At
present, most of the former Dutch East Indies have
accepted the idea of national unity under one Indonesia,
except for Aceh and Papua whose demand is for
independence. Indonesia has responded with Law 18/
2001 and Law 22/2001, granting them greater autonomy.
East Timor, which was recently granted independence
from Indonesia, used to be a Portuguese, and not a Dutch
colony. For the rest of the country, resistance has been
directed instead against the centralizing policies of Jakarta
and the loss of regional identity and autonomy. Similarly,
the Philippine territory is defined as it was when the
United States (successor colonizers to Spain) left in 1946,
but secessionist movements raged in areas not completely
colonized by the West. The Philippine government
countered with proposals to give autonomous status to
Muslim Mindanao and the Cordilleras, upon approval by
their inhabitants in a special plebiscite. The organic laws
were accepted in parts of Mindanao but not in the
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Cordilleras; thus the former enjoys devolved powers while
the latter remains simply an administrative region. In the
case of both Indonesia and the Philippines, the autonomy
afforded these territories is an exception to the general
level of devolution provided to the rest of the local
governments in these nations.

While there is no necessary historical sequence to
decentralization, most countries experience it first as
deconcentration. It has been said that in Thailand, anyone
wishing to ignore the government simply disappears into
the hinterlands.””' However, a field unit makes that less
possible. Thus deconcentration extends the reach of the
State. Moreover, it also attempts to maintain equity and
justice by treating all areas as homogeneous parts of the
territory. Nevertheless, with no accountability to the
people it serves while being so distant from the center to
which it is supposed to be responsible, that unit may
simply intone, as the Spanish colonial field officials used
to say in the Philippines, ‘‘obedezco pero no cumplo’ (*‘I
obey but I do not comply’”).*! Thus rules and regulations
that stream from the center may be followed to the letter,
but the spirit of service and equity that animates them may
be lost as they move down through several layers of the
bureaucratic hierarchy.

GROWTH OF DEMOCRACY
AND DEVOLUTION

The last decade of the 20th century has seen a clear trend
in Southeast Asia toward devolution and a loosening of
central control even in deconcentration. Devolution has
commended itself as a result of the growth of democracy,
or at least, the idea of democracy, in the region, and the
rise of an awakened citizenry that demands a say in
governance. These factors are associated with economic
growth and an expanding middle class. They are
complemented by the demonstration effect of experiences
in neighboring countries, made visible and immediate by
mass media, technological developments, intraregional
information exchanges, and the support of international
donor organizations for decentralization. The effects of
these factors can be seen in the devolution experiences
of the Philippines, Indonesia, Thailand, and Cambodia, all
of whom emerged from authoritarian rule in the last 15
years of the last century.

The Philippines started the trend with the overthrow of
Martial Law President Ferdinand E. Marcos in a peaceful
4-day ‘‘People Power Revolution’ in 1986. In the
redemocratization period that followed, it wrote into
the Constitution of 1987 the principles of local autonomy
and people’s participation in governance. Although the
Philippine decentralization movement has its roots in
the 1960s with the election of councils at village level,
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the landmark devolution law was enacted only in 1991,
with people power euphoria still in the air. The Local
Government Code devolved major powers to local
government units, and increased their revenues as well
as their taxing powers. It also provided for citizen
participation in local governance through the inclusion
of people’s representatives in five local special bodies.

Similarly, devolution in Indonesia is a component of
Reformasi, the movement for reform that toppled the
three-decade-long rule of President Suharto in 1996. Post-
Suharto amendments to the constitution provide for wide-
ranging autonomy to regional governments and demo-
cratically elected local legislatures at provincial, town,
and city levels. Law 22/1999 and Law 25/1999 provide for
devolution and its concomitant, fiscal decentralization,
respectively. These laws are based on the principles of
democracy, community participation, equity and justice,
recognition of the potential and diversity within regions,
and the need to strengthen local legislatures. Law 22 gives
the provinces a dual status, as autonomous regions and as
administrative arms of the center. Meanwhile, it gives full
autonomy to districts and municipalities (rural and urban
local governments, respectively), devolving powers to
them except in security and defense, foreign policy,
monetary and fiscal matters, and justice and religious
affairs, similar to a federalistic allocation of powers.[*~"!

A peaceful revolution of the Thai middle class
overthrew the military government in 1992, and gave rise
to the new democratic Constitution of 1997. That con-
stitution was both democratically written—because even
ordinary citizens could submit their suggested drafts—
and democratic in substance and spirit. It sought to en-
hance public participation in governance and to promote
new channels for democracy, including a National Decen-
tralization Committee that includes private citizens.'™
Nine articles on local self-rule and decentralization have
served as the basis for a series of decentralization laws
and policies passed since 1999. The most important of
these is the National Decentralization Act, which speci-
fies devolution in 4 years and change of the ratio of
expenditure between central and local government from
91:9 in 1999 to 65:35 in 2006. Meanwhile, the Munici-
pality Act of 2000 mandates that mayors of metropolitan
municipalities and cities would be directly elected at the
end of their current term.'!

Cambodia, meanwhile, emerged from a bloody civil
war that transformed it from a socialist state into a
multiparty liberal democracy in 1993. Decentralization
has been at the heart of its rehabilitation, being a feature of
the Seila (Stone Foundation) Program and other reform
initiatives of the Royal Government of Cambodia. A
poverty-alleviation pilot program supported by the United
Nations Development Program, Seila attacks poverty by
strengthening local government structures from the
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commune level upward. The government has written
Seila’s decentralization mechanisms into the 2001 Law of
Administration of Communes. In 2002, elected commune
officials replaced state appointees and started to wield
powers in order and security, health, economic and social
development planning, cultural and environmental prop-
erty, and general welfare.!'")

For the other countries, deconcentration remains the
prevailing decentralization mode. However, recognizing
the problems of central control that it represents,
administrative decentralization is now embodied within
a larger governance framework that involves providing
field units more autonomy, the participation of the
citizens, and fledgling efforts toward elected local units.
The size of the city-state of Singapore gives it little option
except deconcentration, but it is nevertheless moving
away from classic central control to allowing more
autonomy to be exercised by administrative units such
as schools and health centers. This has happened even in
Vietnam, a socialist State that recognizes the Communist
Party as the force leading State and society and practices
democratic centralism. The Government is the executive
body of the National Assembly and the highest adminis-
trative body of the State. It directs the work of ministries
at the central level as well as People’s Committees
(PCOMs), the executive bodies at the local levels.
Although People’s Councils are elected at provincial,
district, and commune levels, they are supervised and
guided by the Standing Committee of the National
Assembly and the Government and are thus not
autonomous local bodies. Nevertheless, as the program
of doi moi (renovation) is moving the country from a
centrally planned to a more market-oriented economy,
Vietnam’s Public Administration Reform (PAR) pro-
gram embodies a complex decentralization agenda.
Launched in 1995, PAR specifies the centralization of
all regulation-making tasks and the decentralization of
economic and social decision making. Thus the Grass-
roots Democracy Decree (No. 29, passed in 1998) gave
elected commune-level administrations the task of
ensuring that the citizens exercise their rights, and that
government be accountable to households for informa-
tion about local activities and finances.

CONCLUSIONS: PROBLEMS AND
CHALLENGES FOR DECENTRALIZATION

The popularity of decentralization in all the countries of
the region does not imply that it is a panacea for all the ills
of governance and development. There is a need for
complementary policies and measures to be able to
achieve poverty reduction, people’s participation, and
economic development.
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Moreover, there are problems associated with decen-
tralization itself. If power is transferred to officials who
care more for their self-interest than the general welfare,
decentralization can conceivably nurture fiefdoms of
corruption and abuse. This suggests the need for decen-
tralization to be accompanied by strong accountability
mechanisms, such as local media and civil society, and
impartial central oversight agencies. Many analysts also
point to the issue of fiscal decentralization, which do not
necessarily move concomitantly with power decentraliza-
tion. Some countries decentralize power but keep the
control of funds at the center, making the local units
incapable of adequately serving their constituents. On the
other hand, a generous center may keep local units
dependent on its largesse and unable or unwilling to
generate local revenues that could make them unpopular
with the people. Other problems may arise because of the
weakness of the new decentralized structures, the lack of
competent officials and staff in many localities or their
greed and power-hunger, and the absence of active
citizens and institutions that can help both in capability
building and in exacting accountability from the field
units and local governments. Decentralization is a means
of moving government closer to the people. Yet as has
been seen, in many Southeast Asian countries, this is not a
one-way street as the people have gotten new decentral-
ization policies through their own demands and struggles.
A similar militancy is necessary so that its gains are
constantly monitored and defended and its ills minimized.
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INTRODUCTION

Any discussion of the definition, the attributes, or the
purposes of democracy invariably entails a consideration
of public policy. The two terms, although distinct and
different, are closely intertwined. Democracy is a form of
government and, as such, refers to a system of authority
and power. Discussions of democratic theory revolve
around the organization and use of political power within
a society—who should govern, how they should govern,
and for what ends or purposes they should govern. By
contrast, public policy refers to a purposive course of
action established by public officials that is binding on the
residents of a community or nation. Simply put, public
policy is what governments choose to do or choose not to
do."" Who exercises power or has authority to take actions
binding on a community or a society will obviously affect
what actions are selected or not selected. Likewise, the
organization of authority will also shape its use as
manifested in policy choice. Because of this link between
form of government and performance of government, the
theory of democracy, in Henry Mayo’s?! words, ... is
one answer to the question of how the political policy
decisions are made and should be made.”

DEFINITIONS OF DEMOCRACY

Since its emergence in Greek political thought, the literal
definition of democracy, ‘‘rule of the people,”” has
remained more or less constant. But how this simple
two-element formula of demos (people) and kratos
(power) is interpreted and translated into actual practice
has been a major industry in political theory circles from
Socrates and Solon to Rousseau and Mills to the multitude
of today’s theorists. Books addressing questions such as
““Who are the people?,”” Which people should exercise
power?,”” and ‘‘How many people are required to make a
decision binding on the community?’’ fill whole sections
of libraries around the world. ‘“Today the term democracy
[italics in original],”” Dahl observes,! ““is like an ancient
kitchen midden packed with assorted leftovers from
twenty-five hundred years of nearly continuous usage.’”’
Yet, these definitional debates can be distilled down to the
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basic issue of identifying . the best constitutional
means of approaching the ideal, it already agreed that this
ideal includes or involves a large participation of the
common people in the forming of public policy’’*! (as
quoted by Mayo from Robinson, Richard: Definition.
Oxford 1949, 166).

Much of the theorizing about democracy falls into one
of two perspectives. For much of its history, democracy
was conceived as a form of government applicable only to
communities of relatively modest populations such as the
Greek city-states or the Italian and Swiss cities of the
Renaissance period. Within small-scale societies, the
people, usually defined as the (male) citizens, formed
the government, typically an assembly of the whole, and
decisions of the assembly were binding on citizens as well
as all other residents of the community. This theoretical
position is often labeled as direct democracy and ‘... is
principally concerned with ensuring democratic rights for
the community as a whole.”’ [italics in original].l4J

Critical to direct democracy is the notion that citizens
possess the capacity and the volition to govern them-
selves. Rule of the people requires ‘‘rule by the people,”’
or self-government. Direct democracy rests on two core
principles: 1) citizens are ‘‘sovereign’’; that is, citizens
make public policy and 2) each citizen is legally and
politically equal to every other citizen. Also necessary to
direct democracy are two important rules: 1) when un-
animity does not exist among citizens, the preference of
the largest number of citizens becomes public policy, and
2) freedom to express one’s opinion about public policy
is protected, and the majority may not ‘‘silence’ the
minority (though the minority must obey policy decisions
until the decision is changed). Because policy decisions
reflect the choice of the community, policy must be
obeyed by all citizens, officials as well as nonofficials.
Furthermore, the processes of deciding and then admin-
istering public policies are legitimate only if the estab-
lished procedures have been followed. That is to say,
political power is limited by a set of rules as to how it will
be exercised. Instead of government by privilege or by
force, government acts through popular consent.””! Direct
democracy, it should be noted, is not immune to the
problems commonly associated with the exercise of power
such as the difficulties of 1) arriving at a community-wide
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consensus, 2) controlling conflict among citizens with
different preferences, and 3) ensuring compliance with the
collective decision.

As modern nation-states developed between the 1600s
and the 1800s, rapid population growth and urbanization
posed a significant challenge to democratic theorists. The
sense that direct, communal democracy in a large-scale
city or country was untenable became increasingly wide-
spread. If it was impossible for each person to participate
in the deliberation and choice of public policy in a large
city or country, then democracy had to be redefined. It
was crucial to find ways for citizens to control the
government as well as to be protected from actions by the
government that would lessen or eliminate ‘‘popular
sovereignty.”’ Liberal ideas of representation were pro-
posed as a solution, and rule by the people was redefined
as the choice of one’s rulers.

The ideas motivating the revolutionary break from the
medieval order strongly influenced the second perspective
to democracy. Instead of democracy embodied in a com-
munity-wide consensus, ‘‘general will,”” or ‘‘public inte-
rest,”” democracy became associated with the revolutionary
ideal that each person, to quote Thomas Jefferson, has
‘‘certain unalienable Rights.”” If the people were to rule,
then each person had to be guaranteed the exercise of
certain rights such as belief, speech, assembly, and re-
presentation. Likewise, certain limits had to be established
beyond which the community could not impose its will on
the individual (NB: limits also had to be imposed on
individual behavior). If every person was inherently equal,
then a mechanism that allowed each person to express a
preference for who would rule had to be developed.
Furthermore, because most persons could not devote all of
their energy and time to the occupation of ruler, then those
few persons who would rule had to be held accountable to
the ruled.

Elections became the set of procedures held to be most
important to the operation and maintenance of a democ-
racy. If the question is when do people exercise popular
sovereignty, the answer, according to Sartori,'® *‘is easy—
during elections.”” Citizens would select rulers from
candidates who sought votes by offering different visions
of public policy, and the candidate that attracted the most
support (votes) became the ruler, typically in the form of a
representative to an assembly of elected officials who had
the authority to make public policy.

Once elections became the mechanism through which
the people ruled, then the procedural rules for the conduct
of elections became a matter of high interest for citizens,
candidates, and officials. Important procedural questions
included the following: who may vote, who may be a
candidate, how are votes counted, may candidates form
groups of like-minded candidates (i.e., political parties),
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how many representatives will serve in the legislative
assembly, how will representatives be selected by voters
(e.g., by geographic territory or by occupation), how long
a term will each representative serve, and may a re-
presentative become a candidate in the next election?
Because many different answers to these questions can
be devised, different nations have developed different
electoral procedures. Consequently, indirect or represent-
ative democracy is characterized by a variety of elec-
toral procedures.

These two distinct perspectives on the definition of a
democracy—communal vs. individual—bear directly on
how one arrives at a policy decision as well as what
constitutes legitimate public policy. Direct democracy
holds that public policy emanates from decisions made by
the whole community, or, to paraphrase Rousseau, sov-
ereignty cannot be represented. Thus, only a collective
body composed of all or as many members of the com-
munity as practical can truly determine the ‘... common
identity, its life and its will.”’'”! The test of public policy
in a direct democracy is whether it ‘‘embodies a moral
imperative for people to promote common interests.”’!”!
Indirect democracy, by contrast, holds that the realities of
daily life make it impossible to involve all or most citizens
in the continual process of policy making. Put another
way, if every adult citizen devoted significant amounts of
time to making public policy, there would be no one left to
perform all the other tasks necessary to a functioning
society. Therefore, some citizens must be selected to form
a government and make public policy. Policy decisions
are legitimate if they are made by the elected representa-
tives of the people. The key to indirect democracy is the
creation of one or more mechanisms by which the people
exercise control over the representatives and the policy
choices they make. Because each representative is
presumed to express the views of the individuals who
elected the representative, it is also presumed that a wide
range of opinions will exist among the representatives.
Consequently, policy will not reflect the ‘‘common will”’
or the ‘‘public interest’’; instead, public policy will be, as
Madison argued, the product of bargaining and negotia-
tion among the individual representatives.

ATTRIBUTES OF DEMOCRACY

Democracy has always been a contested concept, not just
in terms of what democracy means in the abstract, but also
what constitutes an actual, functioning democracy. What
are the identifiable attributes or features that make pos-
sible (or better, probable) ‘‘rule by the people?’’ On what
bases or criteria can we decide that one nation (or
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community) is democratic, while another is not? Democ-
racy as an ideal ultimately has to be translated and trans-
formed into governing institutions that resolve societal
problems and produce policy decisions that reflect the
consent of the governed.

Citizen influence over policy makers and policy de-
cisions occurs in both democratic and nondemocratic
regimes. Benevolent dictators populate the pages of his-
tory, and even tyrants understand that it is often too costly
to ignore popular opinion in every policy decision. If not
popular influence, then what? The most typical single
answer given by scholars is popular control of policy
makers and policy decisions. But even this change of one
word (control for influence) does not clearly distinguish
democratic government from nondemocratic ones. Obvi-
ously then, multiple mechanisms are necessary to ensure
“‘rule by the people,”” and so scholars of democracy have
sought to construct lists of attributes by which they
identify a government as democratic.

Although several scholars have offered particular lists,
the most widely known and cited list of political insti-
tutions that characterize modern democratic government
is the one proposed by Robert Dahl. Since his early mas-
terpiece A Preface To Democratic Theory in 1956, Dahl
has sought to identify the distinguishing marks of de-
mocratic government. His current version'™ includes
1) elected officials, 2) free, fair, and frequent elections,
3) freedom of expression, 4) access to alternative sources
of information, 5) associational autonomy, and 6) inclu-
sive citizenship.

Of the six that Dahl identifies, other scholars typically
concur with his first four or five features of democratic
government: elected representatives, noncoercive elec-
tions, basic political freedoms, associational autonomy,
and access to independent information. In a very real
sense, the marks of a modern democracy were first
specified in the U.S. Constitution’s initial 10 amendments,
the ‘‘Bill of Rights.”

It should be noticed that political equality is not
specifically included in Dahl’s list; rather, equality is
implicit in the notion that (practically) all citizens have
rights to vote, to run for public office, and to exercise a
broad range of political freedoms. Also missing from
Dahl’s list is the requirement for majority rule. It is
omitted because majority rule is simply one of several
possible decision rules by which an assembly of citizens
or representatives may arrive at a decision. Representative
bodies in democratic nations function with different
decision rules, including plurality, simple majority, and
various forms of extraordinary majorities (more than
50%+1).

Dahl’s list of fundamental requirements must be
present in any political system that is to be considered
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democratic, but they may be manifested in very different
political institutions and policy processes. Comparative
studies of democratic politics, to simplify a large body of
research, recognize at least three distinct models of
democratic political institutions, each of which exhibits
a different style of policy making. Variations of each of
the three models exist, but the basic institutional differ-
ences among the three models are critical to the particular
styles of policy making and the way in which popular
sovereignty is exercised.

Parliamentary institutions combined with a majori-
tarian political party system constitute the first model,
sometimes referred to as the ‘“Westminster’’ model, after
the Palace of Westminster where the British Parliament
meets. The key features (although not all) of Westminster
majoritarian democracy are 1) fusion of executive and
legislative power, 2) executive power concentrated in a
ministerial cabinet, 3) asymmetric bicameralism, 4)
exclusively representative government, 5) unitary, cen-
tralized government, and 6) two-party system. Majori-
tarian, parliamentary institutions provide for ‘‘rule by the
people’’ through an emphasis on a responsible, strong
political party model in that two parties contend for
popular support by offering competing policy visions. The
winning party gains essentially exclusive control over the
instruments of government action and is expected to enact
its policy platform. The leader of the majority party in the
parliament is also the prime minister who selects the
cabinet, thus there is unified control across legislative and
executive institutions. Only a vote of no confidence or
a loss at the next scheduled election can seriously un-
dermine the party in power’s control over public policy.
The United Kingdom is the preeminent example of this
model, and many of its former colonies exhibit this form
of democratic government.'!

Presidential government is a second model of indirect
democratic government, and is characterized by a for-
mal separation of powers between executive and leg-
islative institutions. Instead of the fusion of legislative
and executive powers that typify parliamentary govern-
ment, the executive ‘‘head of state’’ in presidentialist
governments is selected independently from the legisla-
tive branch and cannot be removed by the legislature,
except for very serious reasons and through complex
procedures. Presidents may propose new policy direc-
tions but cannot enact them into law because the
legislature is independent of the executive. Instead, the
president must build a coalition of legislators (of the
president’s party or other parties) that is willing to
support the executive’s policy preferences. Presidential
systems may be unitary or federal, may have two or
more political parties, and may have a bicameral
legislature, especially if the country is large in territory.
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Presidential governments provide for popular sovereign-
ty through the following three key features: 1) the
independent election of the executive from the legislative
members of the government, thus reducing the concen-
tration of power in the hands of one office or institution,
2) policy making requires bargaining within and between
each legislative chamber as well as between the legisla-
ture and the executive, thus ensuring that a multiplicity of
views are represented, and 3) because the executive is
typically the only public official elected by the whole
electorate, the president’s policy positions are considered
to be those of the electorate (or at least of those who
voted for the incumbent).[lo] The United States of
America is the preeminent example of presidential
government, and it can also be found in several Latin
American nations.

A third model of representative democratic govern-
ment combines the parliamentary form with the presiden-
tial to create what is labeled as a ‘‘dual power,”” or ‘‘semi-
presidential’’ government. The key institutional features
include the following: 1) an independently elected head of
state [the president], 2) a legislatively selected head of
government [the prime minister], 3) an executive cabinet
presided over by the prime minister, and 4) a legislature
elected independently from the head of state. These
nations usually have unitary government, multiple polit-
ical parties, and may have a unicameral or a bicameral
legislature. The reputed benefits for popular sovereignty
of a dual-power government are: 1) the stability associated
with an independent president, 2) the flexibility of a
parliamentary majority, and 3) the ability to avoid poten-
tial stalemates between the president and the legislature.
France is the preeminent example of a ‘‘dual-power’’
democracy, and other examples can be found in Portugal,
Finland, the Czech Republic, Poland, Estonia, Lithuania,
and Slovenia.!'”’

Each of these three models of democratic government
vary by institutional features, style of leadership, nature
of policy bargaining, and constitutional rules. The or-
ganization of these different types of democratic govern-
ment affects differentially the ability of citizens to
influence policy making. For example, in parliamentary
governments, much of the bargaining and debate over
policy choices occurs as part of the electoral competition,
and once a party wins a parliamentary majority, it can
enact its policy platform without any serious obstacles.
By contrast, in presidential models, bargaining and
debate over policy continue past the election of the
president and the legislature, and as a consequence, it is
often the case that each policy initiative requires an
extensive effort to build a bipartisan majority to support
the proposal. The point here is simply that the ideal of
“‘rule by the people’” must be transformed from ideas
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to functioning institutions and rules by which govern-
ing institutions produce policy results that are acceptable
and legitimate.

PURPOSES OF DEMOCRACY

Governments of whatever form exhibit some common
purposes, among which are social order, dispute resolu-
tion, coordination of collective action, and protection from
external attack. But many different forms of government
have been established with the intent of achieving certain
objectives. For example, a Communist government seeks
to ensure a dictatorship of the proletariat and to alter the
means of production to create a socialist utopia.!'!)
Fascism sought to develop and maintain ‘‘the glory of
the State’” so that all other activity in society was sub-
ordinate to the State."''! But what objectives are to be
achieved by establishing a democratic government?
Although there is no agreement as to what purposes de-
mocracy is designed to attain, there are at least five
distinct answers to the question, and each of these answers
contains an expectation about the goals of public policy in
a democracy.'”!

The first answer about the purposes of a democratic
government is implicit in the core notion of rule of the
people. To ensure popular sovereignty, democratic gov-
ernment is designed to constrain the emergence of an elite
or a permanent ruling class and to encourage widespread
civic participation. The rules of the democratic political
game, as expressed in law, create opportunities and re-
sources so that citizens may participate in policy deci-
sions. To put this another way, democratic government is
rule by a continually changing cast of amateurs. Further-
more, there are no preordained goals for public action;
instead, public policy will be the product of the contin-
ually shifting diversity of interests within the community.
““All policies will be compromises, and it is unlikely that
we shall find any democracy committed to one all-
consuming purpose.”’ !

Second and probably the most widely accepted
purpose of democracy is the protection of individual
rights. Liberal democrats, in their revolutionary attacks
on the absolutist State, defined freedom as independence
from government control. Jefferson’s (and Thomas
Paine’s) dictum that ‘‘the best government is the one
that governs least’ concisely captures this attitude, but it
is important to understand that the context was one where
the State controlled most spheres of human activity—
commerce and trade, religion and culture, property and
status. Locke, who was Jefferson’s inspiration, argued
that every power government exercised came at the ex-
pense of individual liberty and, therefore, the less public
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policy the better. Rousseau, on the other hand, argued
that individual rights could be increased by government
action, e.g., where public policy restricts the rights
of employers in order to eliminate unacceptable prac-
tices such as gender and racial biases in hiring or child
labor.!"?! This debate over negative vs. positive concep-
tions of freedom does not detract from the basic point
that an important purpose of democratic governments is
to constrain government as well as individual action to
ensure rule by free consent of the governed.

The struggles that produced modern democratic
nations were motivated not only by efforts to freely
exercise religion and to freely choose one’s rulers, but also
to protect one’s property from confiscation by the State.
Much of the justification for limited government rests on
the protection of personal property rights, and, by
extension, it is often held that an important objective of
democratic government is the maintenance of a free or
market economy. The fact that one can find market
economies in nondemocratic nations undermines part of
this idea that only under democracy can capitalism
flourish. However, because all democracies support
capitalist markets, there is obviously a connection
between these two distinct societal institutions.™'3!4
The link is through public policy, which creates and
enforces the rules required to sustain these two institu-
tions. Both democracy and capitalism depend on the
freedom of individual choice. Just as democracy depends
on a set of procedural rules that provide for competition
among candidates, so also does a liberal market depend on
rules that provide for competition among producers.
Critical to the functioning of market economies is an
extensive set of laws and regulations ensuring free choice
for producers and consumers, employers and workers. The
contemporary efforts to foster economic development in
the nations of the former Soviet Union illustrate the
necessity of an extensive body of public policy that
establishes and maintains the institutions of a modern
capitalist economy (e.g., property ownership, enforce-
able contracts).

A fourth purpose, it is argued, that democracy serves is
the development of the individual. The pursuit of equality
has been part of the pursuit of liberty because freedom for
only some individuals leaves others unfree and unequal.
The Christian ideal of the inherent equality and worth of
all individuals predates the development of modern
democracy, but this idea strongly shaped the earliest
arguments for democracy.”” Without equality for all
persons, the notion of government by consent of the
governed is hollow, and so the campaigns to end
government by hereditary rulers promised equality as
well as liberty. Equality first meant equal franchise—the
right to vote—but usually only for males with certain
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attributes—education, property, and/or race. It is only
within recent history that universal suffrage has become
widely accepted.''!

Closely associated with equal franchise is the impor-
tance of the vote as a means for citizens to communicate
their policy preferences to candidates and elected offi-
cials. If a whole class of persons is denied the right to vote
(e.g., women), then matters of concern to this class of
persons is likely to be ignored by public officials.
Similarly, if one’s vote counts less than someone else’s
vote (the problem of malapportionment), then one’s pol-
icy interests will be disadvantaged. Furthermore, if one is
not provided with the means to participate in the electoral
process (e.g., education, information, finances), then one’s
ability to participate is diminished. Over time many
democratic governments have enacted policies to foster
equal participation and one can see the results in the
increased diversity of today’s elected (and administrative)
officials, compared to previous eras.

More recent views on equality have focused on
equality of opportunity—the provision of sufficient re-
sources to individuals to permit them to pursue and
“fulfill’ their dreams. ‘“The notion of democracy has
always contained the notion of equality. Not arithmet-
ical equality of income or wealth, but equality of
opportunity to realize one’s human capacities.””!'® Pre-
democratic societies where most persons were serfs or
slaves used force or tradition to prevent individuals
from realizing their potential. Democratic governments
were the first to proclaim the establishment of justice
and the promotion of the general welfare as their prin-
cipal purposes. This has led over time to a policy
cornucopia of goods and services that today is labeled
as the modern welfare state. From education to em-
ployment, from health to social security, the bulk of
public policy in a modern democratic state aims to
ensure a minimal quality of life for all and to facilitate,
in the words of modern psychology, each person’s
“‘self-actualization.””!"”!

Perhaps the most unique purpose allegedly served by
democracy is that it makes possible a new type of
human character. ‘‘Democracy, then, both presupposes
and tends to promote a particular type of character or
personality; or alternatively we may say—since character
is a slippery concept—that the system relies on certain
attitudes or dispositions or behavior patterns and these it
tends to foster because they contribute to the working
of the system.”’*! This argument goes back at least as far
the writings of J. S. Mills and de Tocqueville, and has
been revisited by such writers as James Bryce and
Harold Lasswell. But how is it that a form of govern-
ment can shape character or personality? An important
answer is found in the recent writings that advocate
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‘‘participatory democracy’’ as a remedy to the ills of
liberal representative democracy. Critics of representa-
tive democracy such as Benjamin Barber see the reliance
on elections, interest groups, and political parties as
producing a ‘‘thin democracy’’ in which ‘‘citizenship is
only legal matter; people are bound together by self-
interested contracts; and they are politically passive’” (as
quoted in Ref. [7]). Departure from ‘‘possessive indi-
vidualist ways of thought and action’” (Macpherson’s
phrase to describe consumerism and self-centeredness),
Carole Pateman claims, ‘‘is facilitated by a change in
people’s values that results from political participation
itself”” (as quoted in Ref. [7]). Democratic citizens are,
in a sense, forced to be free; that is, in order to solve
problems in the community they must act together
collectively—there is no ruler ordering them to act. In a
society where all are free to hold and express different
views, a democrat not only must tolerate these differ-
ences of opinion, but also must strive to find compro-
mises to which a majority can consent. Such complex
attitudes and behaviors, it is argued, depend on the
development of a public-regarding spirit, and nothing
does more to foster this new character than participation
in public affairs; that is, action can alter attitudes.

That there are multiple purposes associated with the
advocacy of democracy comes as no surprise. Democracy
became the wave of the future in the 1600s because the
purposes it alleged to serve ‘‘fit the minds of men,”” in
Burke’s phrase. Freedom and liberty, equality and in-
dividuality, were exciting ideas that pointed away from
tradition and toward a new society. Democracy’s pur-
poses, open and indeterminate, do not constitute the stuff
of a dogmatic ideology,'”! but instead offer a design with-
in which individuals can shape public policy to fit the
general interest of their community. Sen'”! tells us that
“‘a country does not have to be deemed fit for democracy;
rather it has to become fit through democracy’’ [italics in
original]. Democracy, as rule of the people, allows the
people to enact public policies designed to pursue pur-
poses that are beneficial to the community. This is what
makes democracy, according to Sen,[ls] ‘“‘a universally
relevant system.”’

CONCLUSION

The establishment of a democratic form of government is
a fundamental public policy decision and makes popular
sovereignty the primary principle of the policy-making
process. Democracy depends on a set of necessary at-
tributes, but how these critical features are built into
governing institutions may vary from place to place.
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Parliaments and presidents are merely instruments through
which popular sovereignty may be achieved; what is cri-
tical to democracy is a sufficient level of citizen par-
ticipation so that the policies selected reflect the diverse
preferences and values within a community or country.
Abraham Lincoln proclaimed the core ideas of democracy
in his famous aphorism, ‘‘government of the people, by
the people, and for the people.”” The continuing challenge
to theorists of democracy as well as to citizens and public
officials is the adaptation of the institutional features of
government to changing societal conditions without
sacrificing the core ideas of popular sovereignty. Just as
direct democracy was modified to accommodate popula-
tion growth, so too must representative democracy be
modified to ensure popular sovereignty in a world
characterized by deep economic and social inequalities.
Although universal suffrage is now widely accepted in
most parts of the globe, public policy to provide a mini-
mal quality of life to all citizens has not been attained.
Long ago, Jefferson pointed out that certain public
policies such as universal education were necessary to a
functioning democratic government. The continued im-
poverishment of a majority of the world’s population
stands as a major obstacle to the spread of democracy. But
the continued existence of nondemocratic forms of
government in too many places also blocks action to
reduce severe economic and social inequalities. Sen!'”
explains the pragmatic connection between the demo-
cratic procedures of government and the substance of
public policy:

Political and civil rights give people the opportunity to
draw attention forcefully to the general needs and to
demand appropriate public action. The response of a gov-
ernment to the acute suffering of its people often depends
on the pressure that is put on it. The exercise of political
rights (such as voting, criticizing, protesting, and the like)
can make a real difference to the political incentives that
operate on a government.

Democracy offers citizens a set of instrumental pro-
cedures and rules that allow citizens to shape public policy
so that ‘‘rule of, by, and for the people’’ is possible. Other
forms of government are neither premised on this goal nor
are designed to foster it.
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INTRODUCTION

Development administration was welcomed into newly
independent countries of Southeast Asia after the Second
World War as a vehicle for facilitating economic and
social development. The rate and nature of its adoption
varied between countries and have been mediated by
factors such as resource endowment, development poli-
cies, political regimes, and history. Thus the contempo-
rary profile of development administration in Southeast
Asia varies significantly between countries in the region.
The appreciation of the importance of development
administration for improving human welfare and eco-
nomic progress has never been stronger, with all the
regions’ countries currently engaged in a variety of
reforms and innovations selected from a lengthening list
of possible development administration initiatives.

FROM DEVELOPMENT ADMINISTRATION
TO DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT

Development administration was a form of social
engineering imported from the West in the 1950s and
1960s, which was built on a belief in the application of
rational scientific principles and Keynesian welfare eco-
nomics. Governments in the West and Southeast Asia
perceived it as a managerial weapon in the war against
communism, which would stem revolutionary appeal by
delivering the benefits of modern capitalist development.
Its success in this venture was circumscribed by the triumph
of revolutionary forces in Vietnam, Laos, and Cambodia.

Development administration demonstrated faith in a
“‘big government’’ and the leading role the state should
play in development. It was also synonymous with public
administration, although it was distinguished from
practices in rich countries by ‘‘that inconvenient combi-
nation: extensive needs, low capacities, and severe
obstacles.””!"! A tool bag of development administration
interventions was created and transferred to Southeast
Asia via foreign aid programs. In the 1970s, questions
over the efficacy of this approach resulted in ‘‘a period of
self-criticism, reflection, and uncertainty.””'?! Develop-
ment administration had reached a “deadlock,”[3] or was
seen to be in “‘crisis.””!
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A rethinking of development administration was
urgently needed. This coincided with the rise of
neoclassical economics in determining the development
agenda. Big government was out, and private sector
ownership and management techniques were in. Thus new
public management (NPM) was soon being exported to
the public sectors of developing countries in Southeast
Asia, although its reception was less than welcoming in
many instances. Participation also moved to the main-
stream of thinking either by nongovernmental organiza-
tions (NGOs), or by a renewed interest in territorial
decentralization. The agenda of development administra-
tion broadened considerably beyond its early public
administration focus to embrace diverse activities from
privatization to community participation.

Today, we can define development administration, or
development management as it is often known, as:

e An academic subfield in the social sciences

e Built around a set of problems relating to the
management of development, rather than being a
distinct body of theory

e Heavily but not exclusively focused on public
administration

¢ Embracing a wide range of approaches to managing
development, including actions by nonstate actors

e Being concerned with power and politics as determi-
nants of development policy making and its imple-
mentation

e Applying to almost 75% of the world’s population,
residing in countries displaying diverse characteristics.

CONTEMPORARY SOUTHEAST ASIA

Development administration operates in a variety of
contexts in Southeast Asia (Table 1). At one extreme,
there is Singapore with a GNI per capita above that of its
former colonial ruler, the UK; whereas at the other
extreme, there are impoverished nations such as Cambo-
dia and Laos. Populations are as large as 212 million in
Indonesia, but are as low as 350,000 in Brunei. There are
countries that have functioning democracies, semidemoc-
racies, and one-party or authoritarian states. Culture is
variegated both between countries and even within them.
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Development Administration in Southeast Asia

Thailand is predominantly Buddhist, the Philippines is
Roman Catholic, and Indonesia is Moslem. However,
there are small but significant Islamic minorities in
Thailand and the Philippines, whereas Indonesia has
substantial Christian and Hindu minorities. What this
means is that the environment for development adminis-
tration in Southeast Asia differs between countries—often
quite dramatically. Thus the practices and innovations that
are employed under this broad umbrella are many and
vary according to circumstances.

PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION AND
ITS REFORM IN SOUTHEAST ASIA

In Southeast Asia, the concept of bureaucracy as set out in
Weber’s ideal type has retained a strong appeal among
civil service elites, who have most often been able to
direct the design and implementation of public adminis-
tration reform. They are attracted to what the model
appears to offer—efficient administration, reliance on
formal rules, hierarchy, and upward accountability—
rather than by dysfunctions that have frequently charac-
terized public administration in the region. For example,
the Philippine public administration has been criticized for
being under the influence of ‘partisan politics, geograph-
ical ties, the compadre system, familial obligation, and
personal factors.””'® In Indonesia, dysfunctional civil
service practices have included the sale of positions,
extortion of money for promotions, seeking bribes for
favorable decisions, and marking up project costs to
secure illegal payments. Among the problems in Thai-
land’s public service have been ‘‘patronage and corrup-
tion in appointments and promotions, lack of performance
incentives, and overcentralization.”””! In Vietnam, there
has been concern with the failure to integrate public
administration reform with political strategies, the poor
quality of legal documents, the overlapping and unclear
definition of organizational functions, and low skill levels
and budgeting geared to the number of staff rather than
functional priorities or results."™

The dysfunctions of public administration have not
been ignored in Southeast Asia. There is a long history of
reform, although there have been considerable contrasts
between countries. For example, Singapore and Malaysia
have almost 50 years of experience with successful
incremental reforms, whereas in the Philippines, despite
most presidents having a comprehensive public adminis-
tration reform program, not one has ever been imple-
mented.””! The governments of Vietnam and Lao PDR
have, until recently, been reticent to engage in substantial
public administration reforms, perhaps fearing a diminu-
tion of political control.
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However, today, all countries in Southeast Asia are
engaged in public administration reform, often with great
enthusiasm. The reasons for the growing importance of
public administration are as follows:

e A perceived link between public administration and
international competitiveness

e The potential contribution good public administration
can make to sustainable human development

e Democratization requiring reconsideration of the
relationship between state and society

e The promotion and support of good governance,
including public administration reform, by multilater-
al and bilateral development agencies.

The dominant theme in public administration reform
across Southeast Asia has been bureaucratic moderniza-
tion. Although the preferred method of reform has been
incremental adjustments, there is currently some interest
in systemic reforms. For example, in Vietnam, a Public
Administration Master Plan has been introduced for the
period 2001-2010. It builds on prior incremental changes
and includes the following:

1. Program to renovate the development, issuance, and
quality improvement of legal normative documents

2. Program on roles, functions, and organizational
structures of the agencies in the administrative system

3. Program on staff downsizing

4. Program on improving the quality of cadres and civil
servants

5. Program on salary reform

6. Program on renovation of financial management
mechanisms for administrative and public service
delivery agencies

7. Program to modernize the administrative system.

These are not new ideas. The novel aspect is putting
them together in an integrated program on a major scale,
guided by a vision of what the government hopes to
achieve. Thailand has also commenced an ambitious
program of systemwide public administration reforms.
The civil service has, in the past, been able to resist any
radical reforms due to its powerful position in the Thai
state. However, the gradual erosion of that power and the
impact of the Asian financial crisis in 1997 provided the
policy opportunity and impetus for the introduction of far-
reaching changes to the public service. These include a
move toward ‘‘strategic performance-based budgeting’’;
the introduction of accrual accounting; a more efficient
and transparent procurement process; improved proce-
dures in revenue collection, especially through new
information and communications technology; reorganiza-
tion of the structures and functions of ministries; the
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introduction of results-based management; and the
establishment of a Public Sector Development Commis-
sion (PSDC) to monitor public sector reform and advise
the cabinet on policy."'”!

Although there has been considerable interest across
Southeast Asia in public administration reforms in other
countries, there has been only a limited adoption of NPM.
If we view NPM as a menu of items, then we can classify
the countries of Southeast Asia into three distinct groups
according to the number of items selected for implemen-
tation.''"! Singapore and Malaysia are *‘enthusiastic
diners’’ having introduced a wide range of NPM-style
reforms. However, some initiatives are not new for these
countries, whereas other items from the NPM menu have
not been introduced. Borrowing reform initiatives and
modifying them to suit local conditions have long
histories in Malaysia and Singapore. The Philippines,
Thailand, and Indonesia can be described as ‘‘cautious
diners’’ because they are familiar with the menu but so far
have experimented with a few reforms from the NPM
menu. However, Thailand’s new reform program may lift
it into the ‘‘enthusiastic diners’’ category. Finally, there
are those countries that are ‘‘unfamiliar with the menu,”’
such as Lao PDR, Cambodia, and Vietnam. The govern-
ments appreciate the need for public sector reform and
are, to some degree, engaged in it. However, they lack
institutions and other environmental conditions necessary
for NPM reforms.

There are several important variables that explain the
differential adoption of NPM and the widespread
persistence of bureaucratic modernization as the overrid-
ing reform theme across Southeast Asia. First, the most
NPM-friendly countries are also the wealthiest, and, in the
cases of Singapore and Malaysia, have many institutions
derived from Britain—the heartland of NPM. In poor
countries such as Lao PDR or Cambodia, NPM-style
reforms may be unaffordable, impractical, and irrelevant.
Second, state—society relations in Southeast Asia involve
greater responsibility for national development being
claimed by the state than in Organization for Economic
Cooperation and Development (OECD) countries. Third,
there are Southeast Asian values that may clash with NPM
notions of public administration reform. These values
could include group reference rather than individual
reference; conflict avoidance; importance of ‘‘face’’;
respect for authority and seniority; paternalism; respect
for academic credentials; undervaluation of the profes-
sional role of women; belief in cosmology and supersti-
tion; and the importance of family support.''*!?! Although
these values may also be found in Western countries, their
relative importance and particular combination in South-
east Asia produce different behavioral outcomes. Fourth,
the political regimes of Southeast Asia show considerable
diversity—ranging from authoritarianism in Burma,
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through one-party regimes in Vietnam and Lao PDR, to
semidemocracies in Malaysia and Singapore, to ‘‘elite
democracy’’ in the Philippines. Some of these regimes are
not receptive to particular NPM initiatives, especially
those that could be seen to diminish regime power and
legitimacy. Finally, some items on the NPM menu fit well
with the longstanding Southeast Asian theme of bureau-
cratic modernization focusing on efficiency gains.

DECENTRALIZATION

One of the most significant trends in development
administration in Southeast Asia has been decentraliza-
tion. Power and authority have been taken from
centralized bureaucracies and have devolved to elected
local councils or deconcentrated offices of central
agencies. The driving forces behind decentralization have
been democratization and the belief that service delivery
will be improved. The Philippines was the first country to
decentralize through the Local Government Code of 1991.
This legislation gave local government units responsibility
for basic services in health, agriculture, public works,
social welfare, and environment and natural resources.
Funds to pay for these new functions were also given to
the elected councils at provincial, city, municipal, and
barangay (community) levels. Participation by NGOs and
the private sector in local governance was also decreed in
the Local Government Code of 1991. The general opinion
is that the decentralization in the Philippines has been
“fairly successful’’ in bringing devolved democratic
governance to people across the Philippines.““’ls] Wheth-
er it has led to improved service delivery is more difficult
to determine.

Indonesia was the next country to engage in decen-
tralization. Under the authoritarian New Order regime of
President Suharto, Indonesia had been a highly centralized
state. Hasty legislation (Laws 22 and 25 of 1999) after
Suharto’s removal from office resulted in Southeast
Asia’s most radical decentralization program. The region-
al hierarchy was abolished, leading to a considerable
reduction in the authority and importance of the province,
and a great increase in the authority of the districts. A long
list of functions was placed under the control of the
autonomous districts. The list includes public works,
health, education and culture, agriculture, communication,
industry and trade, capital investment, environment, land,
cooperatives, ‘‘manpower affairs,”” and the management
of national resources. Locally elected assemblies have
become very important as they now set regional policy
and manage vastly increased resources. Implementation
has been problematic. The schedule was too short; the
legislation had some fundamental weaknesses and is to be
revised; the regulatory program necessitated by Laws 22
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and 25 has not been completed; there are regional
inequities; accountability provisions are suspect; and
““money politics’> has arrived in the regions.!'!

Further experiments in decentralization have taken
place in Thailand where the current government is
enhancing the powers of the provincial governors—now
referred to as chief executive officers (CEOs)—at the
expense of central ministries, and is also trying to enhance
the role of the grassroots Tambon Councils. In Cambodia,
steps have been taken to both devolve and deconcen-
trate."'”! Devolution is to the elected Commune Councils
while deconcentration is to the field offices of ministries
such as health, education, and agriculture. Progress has
been slow, with very limited resources and functions
devolved to the Commune Councils, whereas deconcen-
tration moves at a pace and in a manner determined by
cautious central ministries.

CONCLUSION

All governments in Southeast Asia appreciate the
importance of development administration for national
development, and all are engaged in reform initiatives to
improve the performance of their public service and local
government institutions. The longstanding theme of
bureaucratic modernization is still evident in public
administration reforms to increase the efficiency of the
government by initiatives such as reducing red tape,
introducing ICT, and downsizing and strengthening
budgetary procedures. This has been accompanied by
decentralization experiments in the Philippines, Indonesia,
Cambodia, and Thailand. The pace and content of reforms
have varied between countries according to a range of
environmental features. Interest in reform and continued
activity in the field will undoubtedly persist as Southeast
Asian countries seek to improve their international
competitiveness, extend participation and democracy,
and seek to improve the amount and quality of services
delivered to their citizens.
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Environmental Policy

Thomas Greitens
Northern lllinois University, DeKalb, Illinois, U.S.A.

INTRODUCTION

Federal environmental policies center around three pieces
of legislation: the Clean Air Act, the Clean Water Act,
and the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA).
These acts enhanced federal involvement in environmen-
tal policy and established a system of command and
control regulation of industry. However, by the late 1980s
this emphasis on command and control regulation
diminished as policymakers started to emphasize concepts
of decreased federal involvement that could help control
environmental pollution. Among these concepts were
notions of cooperative frameworks between industry and
government as well as the concept of organizations
implementing environmental management systems to
improve economic efficiency through better environmen-
tal performance.

This decreased federal involvement in environmental
policy is nothing new. In fact, initial federal statutes
regarding clean air and water policies did not rely on
direct federal involvement. Rather, these statutes typically
allowed states to set environmental standards with no
federal guidelines. Beginning in the 1960s and 1970s, this
began to change as the public increasingly became aware
of environmental problems and the federal government
realized states implemented environmental standards
inconsistently. By briefly analyzing the historical devel-
opment of federal environmental policies, this changing
pattern of federal involvement in environmental policy
becomes clarified.

CLEAN AIR POLICY

Before 1955, air pollution statutes were mainly state or
local affairs. This started to change with the 1955 Air
Pollution Control Act. In this act, the federal government
provided states with funds to conduct air pollution
research and train personnel.!') By 1963, this act
was supplanted with the original Clean Air Act. The
original Clean Air Act provided additional federal support
for air pollution research, funded the development of
state pollution control agencies, and allowed the federal
government to assist states when issues of interstate
air pollution occurred.!'! Although significant, these
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acts represented indirect federal involvement in air
pollution policy.

Direct federal involvement began in 1967 with the
passage of the Air Quality Act. This act required states to
use federal research on air pollutants to develop air
quality standards for areas with major air-pollution
concerns.'"! Unfortunately, many states did not develop
air quality standards by the time the act expired in 1970.!"
This set the stage for the 1970 amendments to the Clean
Air Act; what many refer to when speaking of the Clean
Air Act. Under these amendments, the federal govern-
ment established national ambient air quality standards
(NAAQS) for major air pollutants from stationary
sources, states were given responsibility for implementing
air pollution plans within federal guidelines, and both the
federal and state governments enforced these plans on
industrial polluters.””) These NAAQS represented the
maximum concentration of common air pollutants per-
mitted and were divided into primary standards protecting
human health and secondary standards protecting forests,
agricultural products, and buildings."!

Further amendments to the Clean Air occurred in 1977
and 1990. Most significantly, the 1977 amendments
formally added the prevention of increased air pollution
in areas such as national parks or forests having minimal
air pollution concentrations below NAAQS."! The 1990
amendments included provisions that established new
emission standards for mobile sources of air pollution,
phased out certain ozone depleting chemicals, and created
a program of emissions trading for sulfur oxides.”*! Of
particular interest, policymakers implemented the sulfur
oxide trading program as a way to reduce command and
control regulation of industry. Although the federal
government was still actively involved in this program,
it represented a move back to indirect federal involvement
in clean air policy.

In 1955, federal clean air policy began as a program of
grants to states for research and training. However, by
1970 federal clean air policy had evolved to a command
and control system attempting to reduce certain types of
air pollutants. This evolution of environmental policy
occurred because of increasing public concern over
environmental issues and an increasing awareness by
the federal government that most states would not
implement air pollution standards without compulsion
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from the federal government.! By 1990, political
influences forced parts of this direct federal approach
back to a more indirect approach, yet command and
control regulations still constituted the majority of federal
air pollution policy. A similar progression of federal
involvement in environmental policies can also be
observed in clean water policy.

CLEAN WATER POLICY

Federal involvement in controlling water pollution
technically commenced with the Refuse Act of 1899.
In an attempt to ensure navigable waterways, this act
prohibited the discharge of waste such as sludge and
sawdust into navigable waterways without a federal
permit.!”) However, federal legislation emphasizing the
improvement of water quality for purposes other than
navigation began with the Water Pollution Control Act
of 1948. In keeping with the prevailing view of the time,
this act emphasized indirect federal involvement in
controlling water pollution. Specifically, the act gave the
federal government authority to conduct research on
water pollution and to establish a loan program for
municipalities wishing to construct municipal sewage
treatment facilities.”) This act was amended in 1956.
The 1956 amendments created a federal grant program
for municipalities constructing sewage treatment facili-
ties and established the concept of holding conferences
to determine who should clean up interstate water
pollution.[SJ However, because these statutes did not
implement water quality or effluent standards and
because the conference concept proved to be unwork-
able, these statutes were unsuccessful in controlling
water pollution.

The Water Quality Act of 1965 had water quality
standards. In this statute, states were required to develop
water quality standards for interstate waters within state
borders and determine the maximum discharge allowed
into these interstate waterways.m However, as in con-
trolling air pollution, states did not consistently imple-
ment or enforce these standards. Consequently, direct
federal involvement in water pollution policy came in
1972 with the Federal Water Pollution Control Act. This
act established federal standards for point source (i.e.,
industrial or commercial) discharges of conventional
water pollutants based on available technology, gave the
federal government initial responsibility for enforcing
those standards on individual polluters within a certain
time period (states could take over this enforcement
duty at a later time), and expanded the federal grant
program for municipalities constructing sewage treatment
facilities.'®!
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Further changes to clean water policy occurred in
1977 when Congress passed the Clean Water Act. This
act delayed some of the deadlines included in the 1972
statute for establishing technology-based effluent stan-
dards for individual dischargers and added effluent limits
on toxic pollutants.”) Changes occurred again when
Congress passed the Water Quality act in 1987. This act
further postponed deadlines for establishing technology-
based effluent standards, required states to implement
plans for controlling non-point sources of water pollu-
tion such as runoff from agricultural land and urban
areas, and reduced the amount of federal aid available to
municipalities constructing sewage treatment facilities."

Over time, federal involvement in water pollution
increased because of state inconsistencies in controlling
water pollution. However, by the late 1980s the prevailing
political environment contributed to a decrease in federal
involvement in clean water policy. This decreased federal
involvement resulted in a reduced federal grant program
for the construction of municipality sewage treatment
facilities and the continued delay of establishing technol-
ogy-based effluent standards for industry and businesses.
During this time, policymakers started to advocate
approaches to pollution control in which the organization
voluntarily assessed environmental impacts. Ironically,
policymakers first introduced the concept of organizations
assessing environmental impact in the late 1960s with
the NEPA.

THE NATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL
POLICY ACT

In contrast to the extended histories surrounding the
Clean Air Act and the Clean Water Act, policymakers
designed NEPA legislation within one year and passed it
into law at the beginning of 1970. The most significant
provisions of NEPA required federal agencies to assess
the environmental impact of programs before implemen-
tation and submit environmental impact statements for
programs impacting the environment."™ An important
provision of NEPA was increased citizen participation.
Under the NEPA process, community groups could
challenge the adequacy of an agency’s initial environ-
mental impact statement.””’ In response to these chal-
lenges, agencies often changed program designs or
designed final environmental impact statements reflecting
citizen concerns.

While focusing on federal agencies, NEPA introduced
the concept of assessing environmental performance at
the organizational level. This organizational idea of
assessing environmental performance later became an
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emphasis of environmental management systems in the
1980s and 1990s. In environmental management systems,
organizations voluntarily measure significant environ-
mental impacts due to operations."'®! Consequently, orga-
nizations can use environmental management systems
to ensure compliance with current federal regulations
regarding pollutant discharges and also to focus on en-
vironmental issues not currently regulated such as the
sustainability of natural resources.

Environmental management systems allow the organi-
zation to focus on improving environmental performance.
Although the success of environmental management
systems in decreasing environmental impacts has still
not entirely been proven, the voluntary standard adopted
by organizations using these systems represents a further
reduction in federal involvement in environmental policy.
As environmental policy progressed through the 1980s
and 1990s this trend of reduced federal involvement
became increasingly apparent in statutes dealing with
clean air and clean water.

CONCLUSION

During the 1960s and 1970s, environmental policy at the
federal level shifted from a system of indirect federal
management regarding such issues as air and water
pollution to a more direct system emphasizing command
and control regulation. Generally, these command and
control regulations focused on industrial causes to
pollution and required the federal government to define
pollution standards while state governments designed
plans to achieve those standards. The passage of leg-
islation such as the 1970 amendments to the original
Clean Air Act and the 1972 Federal Water Pollution
Control Act exemplified this command and control
process. These acts, along with their numerous amend-
ments through the years, resulted in a dramatic increase in
air and water quality."'!!

While command and control regulations improved
air and water quality, other environmental problems
such as the depletion of natural resources and nonin-
dustrial sources of pollution persisted. To address
these types of problems falling outside of the command
and control process, environmental policy in the 1980s
and 1990s increasingly emphasized strategies of pollu-
tion prevention rather than pollution reduction.''?
Reflecting political concerns over the economic costs
of direct federal involvement and a technical challenge
of establishing national standards for less common pol-
lutants, these pollution prevention strategies shifted
federal environmental policy back to a more indirect
involvement. Typically, this indirect strategy relied on
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businesses and governmental agencies to engage in
cooperative frameworks that often adopted voluntary
standards of pollution prevention."* In addition, this
strategy also emphasized the notion of businesses adopt-
ing environmental management systems, often indepen-
dent of any governmental incentive, in order to increase
efficiency by decreasing negative environmental im-
pacts.!"]

These strategies of direct and indirect federal involve-
ment currently comprise environmental policy. Command
and control regulations implemented in the 1960s and
1970s operate with more voluntary standards emphasized
in the 1980s and 1990s in an attempt to improve en-
vironmental quality. When operating together, both stra-
tegies may significantly improve many aspects of the
environment. Nevertheless, the historical pattern of en-
vironmental policy development suggests that federal
involvement in environmental policy will continue to
vary to reflect new political trends and emerging tech-
nical challenges.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank Dr. Paul Culhane of Northern
Ilinois University and Dr. Patrick Stewart of Arkansas
State University for providing thoughtful guidance on
environmental policy.

REFERENCES

1. Portney, P. Air Pollution Policy. In Public Policies for
Environmental Protection, 2nd Ed.; Portney, P., Stavins,
R., Eds.; Resources for the Future: Washington, 2000; 77—
123.

2. Rosenbaum, W. Environmental Politics and Policy, 5th
Ed.; CQ Press: Washington, 2002.

3. Ringquist, E. Environmental Protection at the State Level:
Politics and Progress in Controlling Pollution; M.E.
Sharpe, Inc.: New York, 1993.

4. Smith, Z. The Environmental Policy Paradox; Prentice
Hall: Englewood Cliffs, NJ, 1992.

5. Freeman, A. Water Pollution Policy. In Public Policies for
Environmental Protection, 2nd Ed.; Portney, P., Stavins,
R., Eds.; Resources for the Future: Washington, 2000;
169-213.

6. O’Leary, R.; Durant, R.; Fiorino, D.; Weiland, P.
Managing for the Environment: Understanding the Legal,
Organizational, and Policy Challenges; Jossey-Bass Pub-
lishers: San Francisco, 1999.

7. Portney, K. Controversial Issues in Environmental Policy:



Environmental Policy

10.

Science vs. Economics vs. Politics; SAGE Publications,
Inc.: Newbury Park, CA, 1992.

Kraft, M.; Vig, N. Environmental Policy from the 1970s to
the Twenty-First Century. In Environmental Policy: New
Directions for the Twenty-First Century, 5th Ed.; Vig, N.,
Kraft, M., Eds.; CQ Press: Washington, 2003; 1-33.
Rosenbaum, W. The Bureaucracy and Environmental
Policy. In Environmental Politics and Policy: Theories
and Evidence, 2nd Ed.; Lester, P., Ed.; Duke University
Press: Durham, NC, 1995; 206-241.

Coglianese, C.; Nash, J. Environmental Management
Systems and the New Policy Agenda. In Regulating from

11.

12.

93

the Inside: Can Environmental Management Systems
Achieve Policy Goals? Coglianese, C., Nash, J., Eds.;
Resources for the Future: Washington, 2001; 1-26.
Ringquist, E. Evaluating Environmental Policy Outcomes.
In Environmental Politics and Policy: Theories and
Evidence, 2nd Ed.; Lester, P., Ed.; Duke University Press:
Durham, NC, 1995; 303-327.

Press, D.; Mazmanian, D. Understanding the Transition
to a Sustainable Economy. In Environmental Policy:
New Directions for the Twenty-First Century, 5th Ed.;
Vig, N., Kraft, M., Eds.; CQ Press: Washington, 2003;
275-298.



Ethics and Administrative Reform

Jeroen Maesschalck
Katholieke Universiteit Leuven, Leuven, Belgium

INTRODUCTION

Administrative or civil service reform has impacted the
public sectors of many countries throughout the world
since the 1980s. The reforms have included several
strategies (maintain, modernize, marketize, minimize.m),
but most prominent were the changes that Hood as-
sembled under the conceptual umbrella ‘‘New Public
Management’ (NPM). This includes the introduction of
performance management systems, more responsibility
and accountability for public managers, more competition
in the public sector, the introduction of quality manage-
ment techniques, etc.[>3]

The implementation of these reforms in governments
throughout the world has sparked concern, both among
academics and practitioners, about their impact upon the
ethics of public servants. This article identifies four
positions in this debate over the impact of the reforms on
public servants’ ethics and concludes with the observation
that in spite of their seeming rivalry, the empirical claims
underlying these positions are in fact complementary.

ETHICAL CONCERNS ABOUT
ADMINISTRATIVE REFORM

The apprehension for the potentially negative impact of
New Public Management (NPM) reforms on the ethics of
public servants has been strengthened by highly publi-
cized scandals in many Organization for Economic
Cooperation and Development (OECD) countries. Many
of these scandals are about individuals behaving unethi-
cally, and often also illegally, and causing their public
sector organization financial and other difficulties. A case
in point is Robert Citron in Orange County, CA.'
Typically, these individuals were initially seen as exem-
plars or even heroes, who successfully managed to escape
bureaucratic constraints in order to produce results and
‘‘get things done’’ until it was discovered that their
escaping bureaucratic constraints also included manifest
illegal behavior. It is argued that these excesses are caused
by NPM reforms because the NPM-type rhetoric and
reforms provided these individuals not only with the
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opportunity to perform such behavior but also with the
moral mindset to justify it.

NPM-type reforms are also alleged to lead to more
collective or even systemic unethical behavior. A case in
point are ‘‘creaming’’ strategies, a typical perverse effect
of performance management systems. Suppose that the
public servants who are in charge of vocational training of
unemployed people would be assessed (and paid) on the
basis of their ‘‘success rate,”” defined as the number of
applicants who are able to obtain a job following the
training. It is not unlikely that these public servants would
only allow the most job-ready applicants into their
training courses. This would leave a considerable category
of unemployed people without training, which is unlikely
to be an intended effect of this policy.” This is just one
example of the ethically undesirable consequences that are
alleged to be fostered by NPM reforms.

FOUR POINTS OF VIEW

The answer of public administration scholars to these
scandals and to the more general concerns about the
impact of administrative reforms on (un)ethical behavior
of public servants is a discussion that can, in terms of
Hood and Jackson, be conceived of as a ‘‘doctrinal
debate.””'™ Doctrines are *‘specific maxims about admin-
istrative whos, hows, and whats,”” they ‘‘denote specific
ideas about what should be done in administration.”
Roughly summarized, four rival positions can be identi-
fied in this debate, each proposing their own administra-
tive doctrines to foster ethical behavior in the public
sector. The following paragraphs will summarize those
positions. Although this overview will focus on the recent
debate over the ethical impact of NPM reforms, it is in
fact much broader because those against NPM reforms
propose their own alternative, which is then in turn crit-
icized by the other participants in the debate. Moreover,

#Although these creaming strategies are currently very relevant because
of the popularity of performance management systems, they were already
pointed out by Blau, P.M., 1955. The dynamics of bureaucracy. Chicago:
University of Chicago Press.
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three of the four positions are rooted in a broader admin-
istrative philosophy, thus making this debate a contem-
porary version of older debates.”

New Public Management

The first position is anchored in the NPM administrative
philosophy. NPM’s heyday started with the seminal 1991
article of Christopher Hood'! who conceived of NPM as a
set of doctrinal ideas with a certain degree of coherence,
(i.e., an administrative philosophy) that has come to be
widely accepted. Hood"* mentions six doctrines to define
the NPM administrative philosophy.

1. ““Unbundle’’ the public service into corpor-
atized units organized by product.

2. More contract-based competitive provision,
with internal markets and term contracts.

3. Stress on private sector styles of management
practice.

4. Put more emphasis on visible ‘‘hands-on’’
top management

5. Make performance standards and measures
explicit, formal, and measurable.

6. Greater emphasis on output controls.

One could add to this the doctrine: ‘‘Apply quality
management and a customer service focus.”” This doctrine
was not the initial focus of NPM reforms, but has become
very important in a ‘‘second wave of reforms.”’!®

The NPM proponents’ consideration of the ethical
consequences of administrative reform is rather modest.
Sometimes, NPM proponents emphasize how competition
mechanisms can reduce corruption, e.g., by lessening the
opportunities of public servants to corruptly charge
monopoly rents.”) More often, however, they remain
silent on the topic of ethics.'® The assumption seems to be
that ethical behavior will naturally follow from an
implementation of NPM reforms. Ethical behavior is then
mainly understood as behavior that strengthens *‘the three
E’s’’ (economy, efficiency, and effectiveness).

Traditional Public Administration

The second position is at the other side of the spectrum. It
is rooted in ‘‘Traditional Public Administration’” (TPA),
also referred to as the ‘‘old public administration’’™! or

"An earlier version of this discussion of the four positions was published
by Maesschalck, J, 2004. The impact of new public management reforms
on public servants’ ethics: Towards a theory. Public Administration
82(2):465-489.
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the “‘orthodox model.”’'% Of course, TPA contains many
different ideas and it would be incorrect and simplistic to
present them as one monolithic block of doctrines and
justifications without any internal debates or changes.
Nevertheless, there seems to be broad consensus over a
limited number of core doctrines including the following:®

1. Public administration should be politically neutral.

2. The organizational structure should be a centralized
bureaucracy.

3. Programs should be implemented through top—down
control mechanisms, limiting discretion as much as
possible.

4. Officials should be kept in a procedural straitjacket.

The administrative doctrine of TPA with regard to
ethics management prescribes that the organizational
processes be organized in such a way that ‘‘the individual
ethical choice is limited to choosing to follow the rules
(the ethical thing to do) or to violate them by commission
or omission (unethical acts).”’''" In the debate over the
ethical effects of NPM reforms, the proponents of TPA
have ‘‘throw[n] up their hands in horror at recent trends,
seeing them as marking the destruction of the public
service ethos.”’!"?! In the United Kingdom, Chapman and
O’Toole!"* ! argue for a return to the traditional civil
service ethos and to the traditional concept of ‘‘public
duty.”” Writing from the U.S. context, Frederickson!'®!
also forcefully expresses his concerns about the ethical
consequences of NPM innovations such as marketizing,
privatizing, or contracting out, and he argues for a ‘‘re-
regulation.”” One particularly prominent strand in the TPA
tradition emphasizes the legal point of view and criticizes
NPM “‘for its sometimes cavalier treatment of the rule of
law, especially its free and easy slogans about eliminating
red tape and letting managers manage.”’'"”’

New Public Service

The third position is derived from what has recently been
labeled the *“New Public Service” (NPS).”! Skidmore!'®!
describes a similar approach as the ‘‘classical’’ or
‘“Aristotelian’” mode of organizing (referring to its roots
in Maclntyre’s work), while others® have labeled it
the ‘‘communitarian/citizen alternative.”” Denhardt and
Denhardt present the NPS approach as a viable third
alternative for the observed dichotomy between ‘‘the old

°The first three doctrines are taken from Denhardt and Denhardt.””! The
fourth doctrine is taken from Ref. [2].

dFor example, Fox, C.J., Miller, H.T., 1996. Postmodern public
administration. Towards discourse. Thousand Oaks: Sage.
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public administration’” and ‘‘the New Public Manage-
ment.”” Rather than traditional bureaucracies that are con-
trolled from the top down and largely closed for citizens,
Denhardt and Denhardt propose new mechanisms in which
“‘the primary role of the public servant is to help citizens
articulate and meet their shared interests rather than to
attempt to control or steer society.””™ In order to achieve
this overall aim, Denhardt and Denhardt propose seven
doctrines that embody their administrative philosophy:

1. Serve, rather than steer.

2. The public interest is the aim, not the by-
product.

3. Think strategically, act democratically.

Serve citizens, not customers.

5. Public servants should be attentive to the law,
community values, political norms, profes-
sional standards, and citizen interests.

6. Value people, not just productivity.

7. Value citizenship and public service above
entrepreneurship.

>

As for the recent debate over the impact of NPM
reforms on ethics, those writing from an NPS point of
view largely join the TPA advocates in their negative
assessment of the ethical consequences of NPM reforms,
but propose a different solution. Specifically, Denhardt
and Denhardt argue that public sector organizations
should be organized in such a way that public servants
are not responsive to ‘‘constituents and clients’” (TPA),
nor to ‘‘customers’’ (NPM), but to ‘‘citizens.”” Citizens
are described as those people who ‘‘demonstrate their
concern for the larger community, their commitment to
matters that go beyond short-term interests and their
willingness to assume personal responsibility for what
happens in their neighborhoods and the community.”’'!
To make public servants capable of being responsive to
these kinds of citizens, the doctrines described above
should be the guide. Several other authors have criticized
NPM from an NPS point of view. Although he also used
TPA arguments to criticize NPM (see above), most of
Frederickson’s prescriptive claims (particularly in ‘“The
Spirit of Public Administration’”) rather correspond to the
NPS administrative philosophy. One example of this is his
plea for a ‘‘combination of patriotism (the love of the
regime values) with benevolence (the love of others).”“g]
Gawthrop®”! fits the NPS philosophy even more neatly.
He contrasts the ‘‘democratic spirit’” with the NPM-type
“‘entrepreneurial spirit’’ and argues that the former should
prevail. He also strongly criticizes the TPA-type ‘‘ethics
of compliance’” he observed in the U.S. public administra-
tion the past five decades for leading to a soulless public
administration, obsessed with procedural correctness. He
argues that public servants should have a personal
responsibility, with ‘‘service as the center of value.”’

Ethics and Administrative Reform
Ethics Management

The fourth position in the debate does not clearly build on
a single identifiable administrative philosophy such as the
previous three. Its central argument is that public sector
ethics management is an important and evolving subfield
of public management, which deserves its own set of
doctrines, hence the ‘‘Ethics Management’” approach. Its
core doctrine is that an ethics policy should be a
combination of doctrines from the three aforementioned
approaches, adapted to the specific circumstances of the
organization. Admittedly, arguments for a combination of
different approaches have been articulated before. Coo-
per,! for example, proposed such a combined approach
in his seminal ‘‘The Responsible Administrator.”” How-
ever, the success of the NPM discourse and the con-
comitant ethical concerns fostered a recent revival of
this approach. The Public Management (PUMA) Depart-
ment of the OECD!>*! has been among its most
prominent promoters, together with practice-oriented
academics such as Gilman'** or Uhr."*> These and other
recent proponents agree with the NPM advocates that
NPM reforms can have many beneficial consequences, but
are at the same time conscious of the undesirable effects
(particularly unethical behavior). However, in contrast
with TPA and NPS, their solution is not to do away with
NPM innovations, but to complement them with a well-
developed public sector ethics management that is adapted
to the reforms. They see two possible approaches to such
an ethics policy. The OECD, Gilman, and originally
Paine'®® identify these as the ‘‘compliance’” and the
“‘integrity’’ approach, respectively. The distinction goes
back to the famous Friedrich-Finer debate over the
importance of internal and external controls on public
servants, respectively.® The ‘‘compliance’’ approach to
ethics management emphasizes the importance of external
controls on the behavior of public servants (e.g.,
legislation, strict behavioral ethics codes, and extensive
control mechanisms) and thus comes very close to the
ethics management doctrines of TPA. However, the
“‘Ethics Management’” proponents observe that this com-
pliance approach does not fit the NPM-style results-based
managerial approach. It thus violates their basic doctrine
of a management style adapted to the circumstances.
Instead, NPM-type changes need to be complemented
by an ‘‘integrity’’ approach to ethics management,
which emphasizes internal control: control exercised
by the public servant on herself/himself. This integrity
approach is ‘‘based on aspirations, relies on incentives,

“For a discussion, see Cooper, T.L, 1998. The responsible administrator:
An approach to ethics for the administrative role. San Francisco: Jossey-
Bass, pp. 131-163.
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and encourages good behavior rather than policing and
punishing errors and wrongdoing.”’'**! Such an ethics
management style is necessary because the increased
discretion that goes with the reduction of hierarchy in
NPM-type reforms needs to be paralleled by an ethics
management style that supports the public servants in
dealing with this discretion, rather than limiting their
discretion by developing new rules and control systems.

CONCLUSION

This article presented four prominent positions’ in the
debate about the impact of administrative reform on the
ethics of public servants. Although the positions in this
doctrinal debate seem rival, all authors can easily point at
empirical instances that support their claims. For example,
while the NPM literature is ripe with success stories of
NPM reforms and convincing examples of the undesirable
effects of traditional bureaucracies, the TPA proponents
can easily point at the scandals that followed NPM
reforms and show how these would not have occurred in a
more traditional bureaucracy. How should we deal with
these diverse claims? If all participants in the debate can
provide convincing examples of their position, who
should we believe?

To answer this question, it might be useful to
distinguish between the normative and the empirical
claims made in this literature. The normative claims
underlying the three first positions® are clearly rival. The
proponents of these positions evidently disagree in their
evaluation of both the desirability of particular types of
ethical behavior and the seriousness of types of unethical
behavior. In contrast with this rivalry among the normative
claims, the empirical claims are rather complementary.
While the proponents of a particular approach concentrate
on its beneficial effects, the opponents point at its
deficiencies. Although this might look rival, such claims
can empirically be complementary: It is perfectly
consistent to claim that a particular approach can be
beneficial in particular circumstances, but engender
undesirable effects in other circumstances. In fact, this is
an important maxim in management: Each innovation,
however well intended, carries with it the risk of particular
excesses. Kathryn Denhardt™®”! formulated this eloquently
in the context of ethics management: ‘‘Every organiza-

It is obvious that these are four sets of doctrines and not four groups of
authors. Although most authors clearly have one of the four positions as
their favorite, several of them endorse doctrines from different
philosophies. This goes for at least two of the most prominent authors
that were discussed: Cooper and Frederickson.

€The Ethics Management position is an exception.
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tional structure can promote an ethical stance yet at the
same time contain the seeds of pathology.”’

One prominent strategy to cope with this risk is to
ensure that all main perspectives are taken into
consideration and structurally anchored in the organiza-
tion. The permanent tension between the approaches that
follows from this then helps to avoid blind spots for the
potential negative effects of one particular approach.”
According to this strategy, the decision is not which of
the three main administrative philosophies—New Public
Management, Traditional Public Administration, and
New Public Service—should be applied, but how all
three of them should be combined. This is in fact what
the Ethics Management approach, the fourth position in
the debate, sets about to do. Proponents of this approach
accept some NPM reforms, but also require that these are
combined with two other approaches: a considerable
degree of TPA (the ‘‘compliance’” approach in the ethics
management jargon) to delineate the discretion and
ensure that the discretion is not abused and a consider-
able degree of NPS (the ‘‘integrity’’ approach) which
stimulates public servants to use the remaining discretion
to ‘‘serve citizens, not customers.”” Such a complex
balancing exercise will not guide us to clear-cut and neat
solutions, but it does reduce the risk of administrative
reforms leading to ethical disaster.
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INTRODUCTION

Information and communication technology, in particular
the Internet, has benefited global society by enabling
unfettered dissemination of, and access to, information on
a scale previously unknown to mankind. At the same time,
this technology has created challenges to the enforcement
of existing regional norms, pitting the value of freedom
of speech (and of information) against other equally
important values, such as the protection of human dignity.

THE IMPORTANCE OF INFORMATION AND
COMMUNICATION IN SOCIETY

Human life and society depend on the ability to
communicate information. While this seemingly self-
evident truth applies to human development over tens of
thousands of years, the recognition of the importance of
information to human society is only a relatively recent
one, rooted in the Enlightenment. The Enlightenment
signified a societal change of orientation from natural
duties to natural rights."'! One of the natural rights that has
figured prominently in the development of Western
society has been the freedom of speech, necessary for
the actualization of democratic society. As recognized by
the Supreme Court of the United States, freedom of speech
includes the freedom to both access and disseminate
information.””! An alternative approach expressed in the
draft Declaration of Principles of the World Summit on
the Information Society views the freedom to access and
disseminate information not as a corollary of the freedom
of speech, but as an independent right."!

LIMITATIONS ON FREEDOM OF
INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION

Human society depends on the ability of human beings to
communicate and also on the existence of norms that
establish the borders of permitted behavior. Among these
norms are those that define the permissible content of
speech, as well as those that define permissible access to
and use of that content. In a modern society, one may
distinguish between such norms that are based solely on
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social or cultural pressures (extralegal norms) and those
that are expressed in law (legal norms).

Extralegal normative control of behavior, including
speech, generally occurs within social and professional
networks that require correct behavior from their
members or as a result of dedicated pressure groups
promoting an agenda, such as those pressing for the
removal of controversial reading material from school
curriculums.'*! Legal control of the content of speech
protects societal values considered at least equally
important as the freedom of speech. Criminal laws, for
example, prohibit sedition, incitement to violence,
incitement to racism, and the dissemination of obscene
material. Civil laws prohibit the dissemination of def-
amation, the invasion of privacy, the violation of trade
secrets, and the infringement of copyright.

Thus we see that while freedom of speech, including
freedom of access to, and the dissemination of, informa-
tion, is a fundamental value of modern civilization, it is
not an absolute and unlimited freedom. Restraints on
freedom of speech usually reflect a fine balance among
competing societal values as developed over time within
evolving social and technological contexts.

THE PROMISE AND THE
CHALLENGE OF THE INTERNET

The Internet has created an exceptional platform for the
dissemination of, and the access to, information. As
reflected in the World Summit on Information Technol-
ogy, one of the primary global issues today is how to
provide full and uncensored Internet access to the world’s
population, including those nations that either lack a
sufficient technological infrastructure or that choose, for
political reasons, to limit access. It is commonly believed
that access to information over the Internet, including the
ability to communicate through it, is an enabling factor in
the positive development of all people around the world.
However, this utopian spin on the Internet tends to
overlook social, ethical, and legal problems that the new
technology has created. As scholars have noted, new
technology can bring good to society, but can also bear
unexpected consequences.
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One of the unexpected consequences of the Internet is
that its technology has created challenges to the
enforcement of accepted societal norms, legal and
extralegal, that define the permissible content of speech
and the permissible access to, and use of, information. The
Internet also has created new difficulties regarding
competing regional or national norms.

These challenges highlight the ongoing struggle of
society to define and enforce normative values necessary
for human survival. This struggle is apparent in Section 9
of the current draft Declaration of Principles of the World
Summit on the Information Society, titled Ethical
Dimensions of the Information Society. Article 52 in this
Section states:'®

The Information Society should be subject to universally
held cultural and ethical values such as truth, justice,
solidarity, tolerance, human dignity, shared responsibility,
transparency and accountability, and without prejudice to
the moral, social and religious values of all societies. All
actors in the Information Society should seek to promote
the common good, protect privacy, and to prevent abusive
uses of ICTs. The freedom of use of ICTs should not
undermine the human dignity, human rights and funda-
mental freedoms of others, including personal privacy,
matters of faith and other personal beliefs. These values
are particularly relevant when commercial activities are
conducted through networks.

Following are three topics that illustrate some of the
ethical issues consequential to the development of
information and communication technology and particu-
larly the Internet. These are online defamation, protecting
minors from sexually explicit content on the Internet, and
online privacy and confidentiality.

ONLINE DEFAMATION

The prohibition against defamation is at least as old as the
Bible. The prohibition in the Ninth Commandment,
against bearing false witness, has been interpreted as also
prohibiting gossip and slander.””! In modern terms, the
prohibition can be understood as protecting the value of
human dignity, central to the modern worldview evolved
in the Enlightenment. As a basic human value, its pedigree
predates freedom of speech. At the same time, the content
and enforcement of defamation law must be balanced
against the value of freedom of speech.

A person can be held legally responsible for defaming
another person. When defamatory speech is disseminated
online, it must normally reside, if only temporarily, on the
computer system of a service provider in order for it to be
accessed. Barring the existence of specific legislation to
the contrary, the common default legal position in most
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Western countries would hold service providers liable for
not removing such illegal content if duly requested to do
so, analogous to the legal liability of distributors for the
dissemination of third-party defamation in the physical
world. This was the situation according to U.S. case law
until 1995, as well as the position expressly taken by
Germany in its Act on the Utilization of Teleservices.'”!

However, in 1997, a U.S. Court of Appeals upheld a
lower court decision immunizing service providers from
all liability for third-party illegal content, including
immunity from the equivalent of distributor liability in
the physical world for not removing defamatory content
when asked to do s0."'”! The court was concerned that
recognizing service provider distributor liability would
chill free speech on the Internet by encouraging an
onslaught of demands by purportedly injured parties for
the removal of allegedly defamatory material from service
providers’ computer systems. Service providers would
either comply, thus implicating themselves in prior
restraint of free speech, or not comply and face enormous
legal fees to defend themselves while passing on the
additional costs to users in the way of higher fees.

The preponderance of U.S. case law, following the
above precedent, today holds that an injured party to
online defamation can only hold the creator of the
defamatory content liable to pay compensation for
damage.''"! The result is that the substantive law of
defamation remains the same, while the ability to enforce
it in the online environment has been reduced. This
change reflects a weakening of the norm protecting human
dignity while strengthening a competing societal norm,
the freedom of speech. In this sense, the technology of the
Internet has wrought a substantive change in the balance
of societal values, at least in the United States, in the
context of defamation law.

PROTECTING MINORS FROM SEXUALLY
EXPLICIT CONTENT ON THE INTERNET

Freedom of speech includes the freedom to disseminate
sexually explicit material, as long as it does not violate
local community standards. However, even sexually
explicit material that is legally available to adults might
be harmful to vulnerable and innocent minors. The
technology of the Internet has made access to sexually
explicit content very easy, even for minors. In addition, a
mistyped web address can inadvertently bring up a
pornographic Web site, even to the most experienced
adult. How can children be protected against the harmful
effects of such material online?

While some argue that the best protection for minors
against harmful content on the Internet is education and
parental guidance,!'*'¥ the U.S. government has decided
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that this is a matter for legislative intervention. Two
federal attempts at criminalizing the dissemination to
minors, over the Internet, of constitutionally pro-
tected material that, for minors, would be considered
harmful™*'>! have been judged to be unconstitutional
because they were overbroad and limited adults’ rights to
otherwise legally protected speech.!'®'”! A third legisla-
tive attempt to protect minors from such material, the
Children’s Internet Protection Act (CIPA),“S] has been
upheld by the U.S. Supreme Court.'”’

Under CIPA, a public library may not receive federal
assistance for the provision of Internet access, unless it
installs software to block obscene or pornographic images
and to prevent minors from accessing material deemed
harmful to them. The legislation addresses, among other
things, the problem that library patrons of all ages,
including minors, regularly use public library Internet
computers to access not only information, but also online
pornography. In addition, library staff or patrons may at
times be exposed to pornographic images left displayed on
computer terminals or printed on library printers.

The Supreme Court held that public libraries, by
necessity, must make value judgments about what
material will be included in their collections. Public
libraries may also make value judgments regarding the
type of content they will make available to the public over
their Internet computers. Just as most libraries exclude
pornography from their print collection, they may exclude
it from Internet access on library computers by using
filtering applications—even if those applications are
imperfect and might overblock access to legal and
nonharmful information while underblocking access to
some illegal or harmful sites. Therefore public library use
of Internet filtering software does not violate adult
patrons’ First Amendment rights.

Notwithstanding the legality of the use of filtering
software in public libraries, discussion continues as to the
efficacy of the use of such software and the alternatives to
it. In the settlement of a workplace harassment case
brought by Minneapolis librarians regarding patron use of
public library Internet computers to access pornography, it
is reported that library officials will consider, in addition
to filtering software, changes in the printing of Internet
material, increased sanctions for those who violate library
Internet policy, and consultation with staff about place-
ment of terminals.***")

The Children’s Internet Protection Act also requires
installation and use by schools of filtering or blocking
software on Internet computers to be eligible to receive or
retain universal service assistance. The Electronic Frontier
Foundation, in its study on Internet blocking in public
schools, criticizes the efficacy of the use of such
software.**! It concludes that because filtering or block-
ing software both overblocks permissible material and
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underblocks harmful material, it cannot sufficiently
protect children while at the same time, it damages edu-
cational opportunities for students to access information.

PRIVACY AND CONFIDENTIALITY
ON THE INTERNET

The technology of the Internet enables the collection of
information about users of services such as the World
Wide Web, even without the individual user being aware
of such. This information might include data on the user
himself (name, E-mail address, and perhaps more) and the
web pages visited on any given site. Sometimes the
information on the user is anonymous, in the sense that
Internet technology enables, through the use of cookies,
the tracking of a particular computer’s navigation through
a given Web site. The computer can be identified [by
cookie™! or Internet Protocol (IP) address], but unless
personal information has been provided by the user of the
computer, it is difficult to attribute web surfing habits to a
particular, identified person.

However, the tracking of identified users on the
Internet is becoming easier as more and more Web sites
require registration to access the information on the site.
The New York Times Web site is an example.** To
receive free access to the online newspaper, one must first
register and provide the following personal information:
E-mail address, country, zip code, age, sex, household
income, industry, job title, job function, and subscription
status to the New York Times. The use of this information
is in accordance with a privacy policy*” that describes
what personal information is collected, how usage is
tracked on the site (cookies and IP address), and what use
will be made of the information collected (statistical
analysis and banner advertising, E-mail if you elect it as
an option during registration, and sharing information
with partners on an opt-in basis only). This example
demonstrates the striking of a balance between commer-
cial enterprise and the protection of privacy on a
contractual basis. To receive a commercial commodity
for free, a person gives up a bit of his or her own privacy
under the terms of an agreement that delineates the
permitted use of the information provided.

Noncontractual limitations on the use of personal
information also exist, mandating maintaining the confi-
dentiality of third-party private information stored on
computer systems. For example, the U.S. government
must abide by the Privacy Act of 1974 that prohibits use of
personal information by the federal agencies for purposes
other than those for which it was provided.®’ While U.S.
legislation applies only to the federal government, the
European Union Directive 95/46/EC on the protection of
individuals with regard to the processing of personal data
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and on the free movement of such data applies to
everyone.'*”! It also requires that personal information
be used only for the purpose for which it was provided.
The directive has been implemented by the member states
in their own internal legislation./*®!

Setting the boundaries of permitted use of private
information in a digital environment requires taking steps
to protect that information from unauthorized access or
use. The person, business, organization, or government
holding the information must establish administrative
policies regarding the use of the information that conform
with the privacy norms binding it. In addition, it must also
take computer security measures to prevent unauthorized
access to that information both from within and from
without. Steps from within include limiting access to such
information only to those who have been granted access
privileges through user name, password, and access rights
administration. The protection from outside access via
public communication networks, including the Internet,
will usually include, in addition to the above, firewalls and
other software and hardware that can make unauthorized
access by outsiders very difficult. These computer security
measures are normally grounded in an organization’s
policy on computer security intended to set the guidelines
not only for the protection against unauthorized access to
sensitive information residing on the computer system, but
also to protect the system itself against being compro-
mised as a result of external attack, natural disasters, or
simple equipment failure. For example, Appendix III of
OMB Circular A-130 on the management of federal
information resources requires that federal ‘‘[a]gencies
shall implement and maintain a program to assure that
adequate security is provided for all agency information
collected, processed, transmitted, stored, or disseminated
in general support systems and major applications.”*#%-*!

CONCLUSION

The ease of use of the Internet as a means of accessing and
disseminating information, its global reach, and the power
of its technologies create challenges in enforcing estab-
lished societal values or balancing among competing
values. Freedom of speech enjoys a technological
advantage in this environment, as does the ability to
gather and process information about individuals. As a
result, other values such as the protections against
defamation, against harm to vulnerable minors, and
against the invasion of privacy may suffer. Human society
has always had to find the proper balance between these
and other competing values, especially in the context of
new information technologies.

This process is an ongoing one. Society continuously
examines and reexamines its resolution of these conflicts
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even in the absence of new technologies, learning from
experience as well as responding to external forces, such
as the terror attacks of September 11. In this context, the
conflicts discussed above in this entry continue to be
scrutinized by the public, the courts, and the legislator and
may remain unresolved for some time to come. At the
same time, information and communication technologies
shall continue to develop, providing new challenges to
realizing their potential while maintaining the ethical
balances necessary to promote the common good.
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INTRODUCTION

The regular reoccurrence of state and local governments’
fiscal problems over the last 30 years has pointed to the
need for an effective system to provide citizens, creditors,
managers, legislative and oversight bodies, and others
with early warning sings of pending fiscal stress. The
widespread financial problems that occurred in the 1970s
in cities throughout the United States resulted in changes
in financial reporting nationwide. Pressure from the credit
market and effective leadership of financial organizations
have had major impacts, leading to improvements in
financial reporting standards as well as compliance with
those standards. Because of the implementation of those
standards, potential fiscal problems are likely to be
discovered sooner and prevented.

Thus, preventing financial problems requires early alert
analysis to proactively identify trends and practices that
may adversely impact financial condition. Assuring that
government has the financial capacity to sustain desired
public services is the primary reason for internal managers
to monitor financial condition. Bond investors and credi-
tors also have a similar interest in evaluating finan-
cial condition, particularly to assess a government’s
ability to make future interest and principal payments,
even in the face of adverse economic trends or natural
disasters. Knowledge that internal managers are employ-
ing a system to track financial trends provides investors
and creditors with added confidence in the quality of the
government’s financial management. This is true partic-
ularly if such trend data are shared with credit analysts.
Credit analysts also have more than a passing interest in
the government’s ability to provide services and pay down
debt in the long run. Experience has shown that, in times
of fiscal crisis, expenditures for critical services often take
precedence over debt service payments.

Local governments produce many financial reports,
both internal and external, every year. Financial data are
presented in accordance with state and/or professional
oversight bodies’ requirements. Some states impose
uniform financial accounting and reporting systems that
all municipalities within the state must follow. Local
governments may also be required to submit annual finan-
cial reports to a state oversight body. State legislatures
are responsible for helping formulate sound fiscal poli-
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cies for the government. However, oversight bodies are
responsible for establishing and possibly monitoring fiscal
policies of governmental units they are responsible for.
Both legislative and oversight groups are responsible for
monitoring executive compliance with relevant laws and
regulations.

OVERVIEW

The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR)
includes useful information for financial condition analy-
sis. The essential information is contained in the basic
financial statements (BFS), including the notes that are
part of them. The BFS are financial statements that must
be included in a government annual report to comply
with GAAP under the Governmental Accounting Stand-
ards Board (GASB) statement no. 34. The required state-
ments are: a government-wide statement of net assets; a
government-wide statement of activities; fund financial
statements for governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary
funds; and Notes to the Financial Statements. The notes
are particularly important for determining the structure
of the organization, accounting methods used, assump-
tions made, and other background information that gives
the reader a perspective as the financial statements are
reviewed. Careful review and analysis of management’s
discussion and analysis (MD&A) and other required
supplemental information (RSI) are fundamental to the
new process. Furthermore, financial condition analysis
must also take into account additional factors such as
debt per capita, tax rates, and citizen income and wealth.
However, financial condition analysis can be very
complex. Prior to GASB statement no. 34, ratio analysis
was limited. However, with government-wide financial
statements prepared on a full accrual basis, it will be
somewhat easier to use ratios to analyze governments’
financial condition. Government financial statements
usually do not provide information for more than 1 year,
probably because of the amount of information already
being displayed on one page. MD&A provides 2 years’
worth of data for some numbers. CAFRs frequently
provide 2 years of statements. In performing a financial
condition analysis, an understanding of financial trends

Encyclopedia of Public Administration and Public Policy
DOI: 10.1081/E-EPAP 120025947
Copyright © 2004 by Marcel Dekker, Inc. All rights reserved.



Financial Condition

is critical and, generally, 3 years’ worth of data is con-
sidered adequate for ratio analysis.

What is the utility of the CAFR, given the complex
analytical framework for analyzing financial condition?
Many people who analyze public financial data find the
introductory and statistical sections and the Notes to the
Financial Statements to be more useful than the financial
statements for assessing financial condition. This is
because the introductory and statistical sections of the
CAFR and Notes to the Financial Statements provide
critical information on environmental and organizational
factors and their relationship to financial factors. The
BFS provide helpful information for calculating financial
ratios essential to understanding the organization’s
financial position, which is an important component of
financial condition.

WHAT IS FINANCIAL CONDITION?

Basically, financial condition is a local government’s
ability to finance its services on a continuing basis. It
is the ability to: 1) maintain existing service levels;
2) endure local and regional economic disruptions; and 3)
meet the demands of natural growth, decline, and
change.""! The International City/County Management
Association (ICMA) defines financial condition as ‘‘a
government’s ability to generate enough cash over thirty
to sixty days to pay its bills.”’!"! This definition of
financial condition is called cash solvency. The Govern-
mental Accounting Standards Board defines financial
condition as: ‘‘The probability that a government will
meet both its financial obligations to creditors, consumers,
employees, taxpayers, suppliers, constituents, and others
as they become due and its service obligations to
constituents, both currently and in the future.”’™! In both
the ICMA and GASB definitions, financial condition is
similar to the accounting term solvency. Whether a local
government can maintain existing service levels or
increasing service levels is related to the concept of
interperiod equity. Interperiod equity is defined as:
““‘whether current-year revenues are sufficient to pay for
the services provided that year and whether future
taxpayers will be required to assume burdens to pay for
current services to future taxpayers may threaten the
government’s ability to sustain the current level of
services or to expand services to meet future population
growth.””'¥ Financial condition can also apply to a
government’s ability to provide services at the level and
quality that are required for the health, safety, and welfare
of the community and that its citizens desire. This is its
service-level solvency. A government that does not have
service-level solvency might, in all other respects, be in
sound financial condition, but be unable to support police
and fire services at an adequate level. If in such condition,
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the local government tries to provide adequate services; it
suffers cash, budgetary, or long-term solvency problems.

FACTORS AND INDICATORS USED IN
ASSESSING FINANCIAL CONDITION

Financial condition analysis is the examination of the
financial status of a government organization based on a
financial statement analysis as well as an evaluation of
many external factors that affect the financial condition of
the government, such as the wealth of the citizenry,
employment rate, and general economy. Financial condi-
tion analysis is a complex, multidimensional concept that
requires the study of a multitude of factors. GASB
identifies the major categories of these factors as:
economy and demographics; revenue base; current and
capital expenditures; debt, pensions, and other postem-
ployment benefits; internal resources; management capa-
bilities; infrastructure; and willingness to raise revenues
and provide required public services.””! Khan,'" in his
study of municipal bond ratings, listed several indicators
used for assessing and making comparisons of financial
condition. These include Per Capita Income, Percent
Below the Poverty Line, Age of Housing, and Unemploy-
ment Rates. Economy and demography are two of the
categories used by ratings agencies to assign bond ratings
to municipalities. The ICMA uses indicators such as
Vacancy Rates, Property Value, Population, Business
Activity, Poverty, Households, Personal Income Per
Capita, and Employment Base in its handbook for
analyzing financial condition. It identifies these categories
as ‘‘Community Needs and Resources Indicators.”
ICMA'’s financial trend monitoring system was developed
for financial managers to use in tracking their govern-
ments’ financial performance. The ICMA points out that
these factors are important because they indicate the
interrelationship between community demands for ser-
vices and the ability of the government to provide them.

““‘Changes in community needs and resources are
interrelated in a continuous cumulative cycle of cause
and effect. For example, a decrease in population or jobs
lowers the demand for housing and causes a correspond-
ing decline in the market value of housing; this, in turn,
reduces property tax revenues. The initial population
decline also has a negative effect on retail sales and per-
sonal income, causing local government revenues to drop
even further. But because of fixed costs in its expenditure
structure that are impervious to declines in population or
business activity, the government cannot always balance
the revenue loss with a proportionate reduction in
expenditures. The government may, in fact, be forced to
raise taxes to make up for lost revenues: this puts a greater
burden on the remaining population. As economic
conditions decline and taxes rise, the community becomes
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a less attractive place to live and population may decline
further. The cycle continues.”’!!

WHAT IS THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN
FINANCIAL CONDITION ANALYSIS AND
FINANCIAL POSITION ANALYSIS?

The primary difference between financial condition
analysis and financial position analysis is that financial
position ‘‘tends to be a shorter-run concept compared with
financial condition.”’?! According to GASB, ‘‘financial
position for governmental funds focuses on assets and
liabilities that require cash, or are normally converted to
cash in the near future and can generally be determined
from the financial statements alone.”’'*! Thus financial
position is associated with the concept of liquidity.

Internal and external analysts can compare specific
ratios to national and state medians published by Moody’s
Investors Service, Selected Indicators of Municipal
Performance (Moody’s annual), or comparative ratios
published by Dr. Kenneth Brown for both cities and
counties. Dr. Brown’s Ten-Point Test'”! can be used to
compare the financial position of cities or counties. The
Ten-Point Test consists of a comparison of 10 key ratios
for a city, county, or school district with similar entities
across the nation. The Test measures the following
elements of financial condition.

e Revenues—the ability of annual revenues to finance
government services

¢ Expenditures—the manner in which revenues are
utilized to provide government services

e Operating Position—the extent to which a positive
balance between revenues and expenditures exists and
the level of sufficiency of liquid assets and reserves

e Debt Structure—the levels of debt, both short term
and long term, and the burden of annual principal and
interest payments.

Of the 10 key ratios, three measure the adequacy of
revenues, one measures expenditure allocation, three
measure operating position liquidity, and three measure
the debt structure of the entity.

DR. BROWN’S TEN-POINT TEST OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION

1. Total Revenues/Population
Total General Fund Revenues from Own Sources/
Total General Fund Revenues

3. General Fund Sources from Other Funds/Total
General Fund Sources

4. Operating Expenditures/Total Expenditures
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5. Total Revenues/Total Expenditures

6. Unreserved General Fund Balance/Total General
Fund Revenues

7. Total General Fund Cash and Investments/Total
General Fund Liabilities

8. Total General Fund Liabilities/Total General Fund
Revenues

9. Direct Long-Term Debt/Population

10. Debt Service/Total Revenues.

The analysis in Table 1 uses data from the four similar
Ohio cities to compare financial position.

CITY OF CANTON, OH

The City of Canton is the county seat of Stark County in
northeastern Ohio. It was incorporated as a village in 1828
and became a city in 1854. The 1998 U.S. Census Bureau
estimate of population for the City of Canton was 79,259,
a decline of 5.8% from the 1990 census figure of 84,161.
Canton is a statutory city under the laws and regulations
set forth in the Ohio Constitution. It operates under the
mayor—council form of government. The main source of
revenue for the operations of the city government is the
collection of a 2% income tax. The city provides police
protection, firefighting and prevention, street maintenance
and repairs, building inspection, parks and recreation,
water, and sewer and sanitation.

The results of the ratio analysis for Canton show
relative strength in ratios 1, 5, and 10. Ratio 1, Total
Revenue/Population, shows Canton to be in the upper
quarter of cities. Higher per capita revenues indicate that
the city has adequate annual resources to meet its
obligations. Ratio 5, Total Revenues/Total Expenditures,
is a measure of operating position and measures relative
levels of operating surpluses or deficits. Canton’s high
score indicated that in FY 1998, it ran a relatively high
operating surplus, which helps to build margins for the
future. Building margins in good times helps soften the
blow of bad times.!® The third ratio, where Canton scored
in the upper 25th percentile, was Debt Service/Total
Revenues. A relatively low indicator of debt structure is
important for a city’s ability to meet its debt service
obligations in a timely manner.

Although Canton did not score in the lower 25th
percentile in any of the ratios, there are some areas of
comparable weakness (25th—50th percentile score). Can-
ton is somewhat reliant on intergovernmental revenue in
its general fund (see ratio 2). This leaves the city more
exposed to the whims of the Congress or the State
legislature. Another area where the city may need more
work is in ratio 4, Operating Expenditures/Total Expen-
ditures. Its higher score indicates that the maintenance and
building of infrastructure may not be getting adequate
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Table 1 Comparison of financial condition
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Springfield Canton Loraine Mansfield

Ratio 1 Numerator (US$) 70,628,228 37,502,751 39,124,038 47,261,029
Denominator (US$) 79,259 68,857 49,802 65,568
Ratio 891.107 544.647 785.592 720.794
Score 2 (1) 2 1

Ratio 2 Numerator (USS$) 40,781,273 18,758,142 5,269,803 24,045,204
Denominator (US$) 49,138,452 23,228,448 10,152,822 28,572,261
Ratio 0.830 0.808 0.519 0.842
Score 0 0 (1) 0

Ratio 3 Numerator (US$) 0 0 10,866 0
Denominator (USS$) 49,138, 452 23,228,448 10,162,688 28,571,261
Ratio 0.000 0.000 0.001 0.000
Score 1 1 1 1

Ratio 4 Numerator (US$) 60,468,964 39,817,799 33,725,217 38,045,931
Denominator (US$) 66,850,333 42,319,044 38,065,918 47,282,401
Ratio 0.905 0.886 0.886 0.805
Score 0 0 0 1

Ratio 5 Numerator (USS$) 70,628,338 37,502,751 39,124,038 47,261,029
Denominator (US$) 66,850,333 42,319,044 38,065,918 47,282,401
Ratio 1.057 0.866 1.028 1.000
Score 2 0 2 1

Ratio 6 Numerator (US$) 7,801,374 3,068,901 2,139,373 4,659,711
Denominator (USS$) 49,138,452 23,228,448 10,153,688 28,571,261
Ratio 0.159 0.132 0.210 0.163
Score 0 (D) 0 0

Ratio 7 Numerator (US$) 5,351,800 1,889,351 2,033,739 3,301,564
Denominator (USS$) 5,754,138 4,086,572 2,941,238 2,935,719
Ratio 0.930 0.462 0.691 1.125
Score 0 (€))] (€))] 0

Ratio 8 Numerator (US$) 5,754,138 4,086,572 2,941,238 2,935,719
Denominator (US$) 49,138,452 23,228,448 10,163,688 28,571,261
Ratio 0.117 0.176 0.289 0.103
Score 1 0 (@€))] 0

Ratio 9 Numerator (US$) 16,530,000 9,202,634 4,300,000 17,289,225
Denominator (US$) 79,259 68,857 49,802 65,568
Ratio 208,557 133.648 86.342 263.684
Score 1 1 1 0

Ratio 10 Numerator (USS$) 2,726,289 6,292,582 1,189,939 93,527,285
Denominator (US$) 70,628,228 37,502,751 39,124,038 47,261,029
Ratio 0.039 0.168 0.030 1.979
Score 2 0 2 (@)

Total score Canton Loraine Mansfield Springfield

9 2) 5 3

attention. Canton also scored lower in unreserved fund
balances and relative liquidity. Lower relative fund
balances indicate that Canton might not be as well suited
to meet a fiscal emergency as a similar city. Lower levels
of cash and short-term investments could indicate an
inability to meet short-term obligations.

Canton’s overall score was nine. This puts Canton in
the 75th percentile according to Dr. Brown’s Test. The
relative strength in the current position means that Canton,

at least in the short run, should be able to meet its
obligations in both providing services to its citizenry and
meetings its financial commitments.

CITY OF LORAINE, OH

Loraine is the largest city in Loraine County, located in
northeastern Ohio. It was incorporated in 1874, and is
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located about 30 miles west of Cleveland. The 1998 U.S.
Census Bureau estimate of population for the City of
Loraine was 68,857, a decline of 3.4% from the 1990
figure of 71,245. Lorain, too, operates as a statutory city
under the laws and regulations set forth in the Ohio
Constitution. Legislative authority is vested in a city
council and the executive authority in the mayor (mayor—
council government). As in Canton, the main source of
revenue from the operations of the city government is the
collection of income tax, which represented 63% of
general fund revenues. Loraine provides police protection,
firefighting and prevention, public health services, street
maintenance and repairs, building inspection, parks and
recreation, water, and sewer.

Ten-Point Test scores for Financial Position were very
low (e.g., no score in the upper quarter in any ratio, two
scores in the 50th—75th percentile, and four scores in the
bottom quartile of the 10 ratios). Scores for the ratio of
revenues to population indicate a deficiency in annual
resources. The ratio of operating expenditures to total
expenditures is too high, indicating substandard attention
to infrastructure. The unreserved general fund balance is
too low compared with total general fund revenues, and
Loraine seems to have relatively low short-term liquidity
as evidenced in its low ratio of cash and short-term
investments to total general fund liabilities.

Overall, the City of Lorain scored a —2, putting it in
just the 5th percentile. That means that 95% of cities
scored higher. A long-term trend analysis would seem to
be prudent to rule out whether there are some underlying
long-term issues that need to be addressed.

CITY OF MANSFIELD, OH

Mansfield is the county seat and the largest city in
Richland County, located approximately 65 miles north-
east of the city of Columbus. Mansfield was incorporated
in 1808 and operates with the mayor—council form of
government. The 1998 U.S. Census Bureau population
estimate was 49,802, a decline of 1.6% from the 1990
figure of 50,627. Like most cities in Ohio, Mansfield
relies on municipal income tax as its main source of
revenue (50.5%). Mansfield provides traditional munici-
pal services (police, fire, recreation, streets, etc.) as well
as operates an airport, a parking garage, and water and
sewer utilities.

Mansfield had three areas of relative strength (75th
percentile), and they were the same as Canton. The city’s
per capita revenue indicated adequate resources, its ratio
of total revenues to total expenditures was strong, and its
debt service levels were manageable. Mansfield did score
in the lower quartile in three areas. The city seems too
dependent on intergovernmental revenues in its general
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fund, indicating some vulnerability to outside govern-
mental entities. Its liquidity was relatively low, whereas
the ratio of general fund liabilities to general fund
revenues was too high, indicating that short-term
obligations might not be easily serviced by the normal
flow of annual revenues. Mansfield scored a five overall
on Dr. Brown’s Ten-Point Test, which puts the city firmly
in the middle at the 50th percentile. That means half of the
cities analyzed will score higher and half will score lower.

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, OH

Springfield Ohio is the county seat and largest of Clark
County, located in southwest Ohio. It is the only city in
this analysis that is located in the southern part of the state.
It was incorporated in 1850, although its roots date back to
the 18th century. The city enacted a charter in 1913 that
provides home-rule powers to the city under a city
commission—manager form of government. The 1998 U.S.
Census Bureau estimate of population for the City of
Springfield was 65,568, a decline of 6.96% from the 1990
figure of 70,487. Municipal income taxes represent 71.5%
of general fund revenues. The city provides traditional
municipal services, as well as operates an airport, golf
courses, and a sewer system.

Springfield did not score in the upper quartile in any
ratio in Dr. Brown’s Ten-Point Test. It did score in the
50th—75th percentile range in 4 of 10 ratios. Per capita
revenues seem relatively healthy, whereas the general
fund seems relatively independent from outside revenue
sources. The city appears to be investing an adequate
amount in infrastructure, and its current year operating
position (total revenues/total expenditures) was also
slightly above the median.

Springfield scored in the 25-50th percentile in 5 of 10
ratios. Fully 90% of its scores was within the 25th—75th
percentile. Springfield scored in the lowest quartile in the
10th ratio, Debt Service to Total Revenues, indicating a
weakness in its ability to meet debt service requirements.
This performance was reflected in its final score, a three.
The score puts Springfield in the 25th percentile, which
means that 75% of the cities analyzed scored higher.

In summary, according to Dr. Brown’s Ten-Point Test,
the four Ohio cities rank as follows:

Rank City Score Percentile
1 Canton 9 75th
2 Mansfield 5 50th
3 Springfield 3 25th
4 Loraine (2) 5th

The data to calculate the 10 financial ratios are readily
obtainable from most CAFRs. Except for population,
which is usually disclosed in the statistical section, data
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for the first four ratios can be obtained from the Statement
of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund
Balances—Governmental Funds and Balance Sheet—
Government Funds. Data for the remaining ratios usually
can be found in the Notes to the Financial Statements. In
determining ratios 1-8, some analysts prefer to utilize
general fund data only, whereas others use combined data
for all governmental fund types. This decision will
depend, in part, on how large the general fund is relative
to all governmental fund types. In determining operating
revenues, capital project fund revenues should be
excluded because the capital project fund is not an
operating fund.

In addition to analyzing ratios, the stability, flexibility,
and diversity of revenue sources; budgetary control over
revenues and expenditures; adequacy of insurance pro-
tection; level of overlapping debt; and growth of unfunded
employee-related benefits should also be evaluated.
Socioeconomic and demographic trends should be ana-
lyzed as well, including trends in employment, real estate
values, retail sales, building permits, population, personal
income, and welfare. This information is found in the
CAFR and the U.S. Census.

CONCLUSION

Financial condition analysis relies heavily on analysis of
BFS, including the notes that accompany them. The notes
are especially useful for determining the structure of the
entity, accounting methods used, assumptions made, and
other background information that gives the reader a
perspective as the financial statements are reviewed. In
addition, financial condition analysis must take into
consideration additional external factors such as debt per
capita, tax rates, and citizen income and wealth. The use
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of ratios, such as Dr. Brown’s Ten-Point Test or ICMA
ratios, is also appropriate for financial condition analysis.
Financial condition analysis is complex because the
business of government is complex. For example, a local
government’s population might be growing but property
values might be stagnant. There may be high property
values but also high debt per capita. In any financial
condition analysis, comparison with a relevant group
should be made, and strengths and weaknesses should be
considered as a whole in making a reasoned assessment
about financial condition.
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INTRODUCTION

In the 1950s, the field of international politics (IP) split in
two. The study of IP became a systemic view of foreign
relations, whereas foreign policy analysis (FPA) began the
process of ‘‘opening up the state’” and examining its
contents. These two divergent paths examined very
different causal factors for global events. However, the
overlap between these two fields was always undeniable.
This article begins by examining the split between IP and
FPA, with a focus on the difference between the
traditional theoretical perspectives of these two fields of
study. I then turn to the primary goal of this article, which
is to show how we can bring these two fields back
together. The method of unification is social constructiv-
ism and its emphasis on the co-constitutive relationship
between agent and structure. If employed as a method of
FPA, it may assist scholars in a more complete
understanding of the decision-making process.

THE EMERGENCE OF FPA

Prior to the 1950s, IP, as a field of study, was more or less
cohesive. Those who studied IP tended to blend the
analysis of state relations with an assessment of foreign
policy decision making. Although the early study of IP
contained its fair share of disagreements (in particular, the
realist—idealist debate of the 1930s and 1940s), the field
remained unitary. Foreign policy analysis, although
clearly a part of our world since at least the rise of the
modern state system, did not emerge as an autonomous
academic field of study until the early Cold War era.
Foreign policy analysis evolved as a part of IP, finding its
voice in the classical realist and idealist writings.
However, the scientific or behavioralist revolution within
the social sciences allowed the study of FPA to branch out
on its own.'1

Foreign policy analysis ‘‘refers to a complex, multi-
layered process, consisting of the objectives that govern-

“Provides and excellent description of this split along with a detailed
discussion of the divergent models within IP and FPA.
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ments pursue in their relations with other governments
and their choice of means to attain these objectives.”!
Clearly, this form of analysis lies within the study of IP.
However, during the 1950s, the IP scholars began to focus
their attention on ‘‘actor-general’’ theories and turn away
from any acceptance of ‘‘actor-specific’’ theories."*! The
best way to describe the actor-general type of analysis is
that it is systemic in nature. This model describes the state
as a rational unitary actor which acts in accordance with
the national interest. If scholars of international relations
are searching for a causal factor for world events, they
need to look at systemic factors and not within the black
box of the state. In effect, this form of analysis entails the
study of like units acting within an anarchical system.
What this perspective does not take into account, at least
not to any large extent, is the inner workings of the state
and its domestic relations.

Realism is the quintessential example of actor-general
theory, as one can see by examining its core assumptions.
First, realists view the state as the most important actor
within the international system. No other actor rivals the
importance of the nation-state. Second, they consider the
state a unitary, monolithic actor. In other words, the state
is considered a ‘‘black box’’ that acts, at least in the
international arena, in a unified fashion. The turmoil of
domestic politics is not a consideration for realist scholars
because the primary causal factor for states’ actions is
external or systemic, not internal or domestic. Third,
realists consider states rational actors. This ‘‘rational
hypothesis’’ allows an IP scholar to view state motives as
similar and unitary. This hypothesis also constructs a
system of states that always act according to their national
interest—which, for realists, is defined by security and
relative power. Finally, the anarchical structure of the
system is the underlying factor for all actions within the
international system. Due to the fact that there is no
overarching authority, states will act to maximize their
relative power position within the system. >

The systemic turn of IP study is what FPA scholars find
so unpalatable. Foreign policy analysis scholars believe
that if we are to understand the relationship among states,

"Morgenthau is the quintessential classical realist, while Waltz is the
definitive text on neorealism and its structural emphasis.
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we must first and foremost open up the black box of the
state. This entails moving from an actor-general model of
understanding to an actor-specific model of understand-
ing. Foreign policy analysis scholars began the process of
unpacking the black box of the state in the 1950s.!°! This
break from traditional understandings of foreign policy
decision making—understandings that are predicated on
viewing the state as a rational unitary actor—forever
changes the field of FPA.

TRADITIONAL FOREIGN POLICY MODELS

When foreign policy scholars opened up the black box of
the state, they discovered a plethora of factors that
influence foreign policy decision making. Foreign policy
analysis was no longer tied to the static thinking of
structural models. Foreign policy analysis scholars could
now engage the inner workings of the state and examine
their impact on the decision-making process. Although
numerous different perspectives emerged from this new
form of analysis, this article will examine the three most
influential models: bureaucratic politics model, small
group context model, and individual decision-making
model."”1

The statement, ‘‘where you stand depends on where
you sit,”” best describes the bureaucratic politics model. A
bureaucratic politics assessment of foreign policy centers
on the debate and negotiations that occur between
competing bureaucratic agencies. Instead of focusing on
the rational decision-making process of the state,
bureaucratic politics analysts focus on the self-promo-
tional style of competing organizations. Foreign policy,
according to this model, is created from a negotiation
process between competing organizations, which are each
attempting to implement policies that benefit or highlight
their organizational strengths. Thus rational unitary
decision making is no longer sufficient for understanding
the reality of intergovernmental competition.

This model gained credibility with the publication of
Allison’s seminal text, ‘‘Essence of Decision: Explaining
the Cuban Missile Crisis.”” In Allison’s analysis of the
crisis, three competing paradigms of decision making are
compared. Allison concludes that the first model, the
rational actor model, is insufficient due to the simplicity
of its conclusions. Allison asserts that the decision-making
process during the crisis was much more complex and
involved a negotiation process among several competing
governmental organizations. Therefore Allison tends to

“See Ref. [3] for a comprehensive discussion of foreign policy models
and their historical evolution.
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favor the examination of intraorganizational debate and
interorganizational debate (both of which engage an
assessment of bureaucratic politics) as a means of FPA.

The small group context model focuses on the inner
circle of foreign policy decision makers and the debate, or
lack there of, that arises within the group. Within the
realm of American foreign policy, the analysis would
center on the presidential cabinet. Most small group
context analysts agree that this form of decision making is
not the best. According to this model, the sociological
dynamics of such a group tends to homogenize the
perspectives of its participants. The result, often times, is a
lack of policy options due to the desire for personal
acceptance and group cohesion.

The seminal text on small group context, or at least its
negative consequences, is ‘‘Victims of Group Think’’ by
Janis. Janis’ sociological analysis of the dynamics of small
group decision making asserted that group consensus was
the prime motivator for many foreign policy decisions.
This form of political decision making hinders the ability
to ascertain good policy because of either the lack, or
complete loss, of viable options. The small group becomes
homogenized, thus prohibiting any of the positive
components that may have resulted from a multiplicity
of perspectives. In fact, there is a loss of multiple
perspectives to the one dominant group consensus. Janis
tested this hypothesis on several foreign policy case
studies, including the Bay of Pigs incident, the Cuban
Missile Crisis (which actually shows the positive
attributes of small group decision making), the escalation
of Vietnam, and others.

The individual decision-making model focuses on the
primary authority figure within the nation-state—usually
the President or Prime Minister. This psychological
analysis of the leader depicts the decision-making process
as one in which the ultimate ability to create foreign
policy resides in one person. If, according to this model,
FPA scholars are to understand the decision-making pro-
cess, then they must examine the individual characteristics
of the primary actors. This microlevel analysis would
include an examination of personal characteristics (such
as leadership style, conflict management, and personal
perception/political history), along with the context within
which the individual is making one’s decision.

There is not one seminal text for this model of FPA.
However, one of the more influential texts is George’s,
““The ‘Operational Code’: A Neglected Approach to the
Study of Political Leaders and Decision-Makers.”” This
text describes the importance that a leader’s core political
beliefs have on the foreign policy process, thus placing
emphasis of foreign policy decision making on the in-
dividual. George’s assessment of the role of personal
political beliefs, along with management styles within
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the decision-making process, exemplifies this most mi-
crolevel of analysis—the individual. Ultimately, the mes-
sage of individual-level FPA scholars is that decision
making in the world of foreign policy can turn on the
perceptions, personality type, or management style of the
world’s leaders.

What all of these FPA models have in common is a
general acceptance that individual actors have the greatest
influence on the foreign policy decision-making process.
This conclusion completely counters the traditional
understandings of FPA that emerged from the field of
IP. These traditional understandings focused on the state
as a rational unitary actor whose decision making is
affected primarily by the systemic construct. But why
does an analysis of foreign policy have to exist within this
dichotomous relationship? Is the best understanding of
foreign policy achieved by engaging in an either/or
framework of analysis? Currently, many scholars feel that
there is a way to incorporate both IP and FPA under-
standings of decision making into their analysis. The link
between these two divergent understandings is social
constructivism.®

SOCIAL CONSTRUCTIVISM AND FPA

Social constructivism rests on the premise that the world
around us is irrevocably social, and that an examination of
global social relations will provide us with a more
complete understanding of IP and, in the case of this
article, the foreign policy decision-making process.
According to this analytical perspective, the world exists
in its current form because we—agents in the world—
have made it that way. Such a perspective is very
amenable to the FPA scholars and their models of decision
making because the focus rests on the agents involved in
the process. However, social constructivism does not view
the decision-making process as a one-way street. Yes,
agents do make the world, but conversely, social relations
also make agents.

Thus social constructivists also acknowledge the causal
factors of the traditional IP literature. This complex form
of analysis provides us with a co-constitutive model of
foreign policy, with both agents and structures making
each other. In general, social constructivists do not
privilege one perspective over another, but recognize the
complexity of decision making in world politics, thus
acknowledging the importance of both actor-general and

9Kubalkova’s “‘Foreign Policy in a Constructed World’ is one text that
attempts to bring together these two divergent areas of policy study by
engaging in constructivist ontology.
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actor-specific perspectives. It is the co-constitutive rela-
tionship of these two perspectives that social construc-
tivists want to examine.!'9

When thinking about foreign policy, the first attribute
that social constructivists purport is that no concept, term,
institution, or agent of foreign affairs is static. Because of
the socially constructed nature of the world, the
reproduction or reconstruction of everything is possible.
This reconstruction simply depends on the interaction
between the relevant agents and social arrangements, and,
more importantly, the rules that guide those agents and
social arrangements. Therefore we cannot think of the
defining concepts of world politics/foreign policy as static
institutions or discourses.

Second, social constructivists agree that foreign policy
decision making does not come about through one causal
factor, as traditional FPA or IP scholars would have us
believe. Instead, decision making results from the
interplay between actors (which include more than just
states and individual leaders) and context. Social con-
structivists privilege neither factor. However, what social
constructivists do privilege is the social relationship
between the two (agent and structure), which causes a
certain decision-making process to occur.

One problem that arises from this rich and complex
understanding of foreign affairs is qualifying the relation-
ship that exists between agent and structure. If social
constructivists hope to study foreign policy from both
agent-general and agent-specific perspectives, how do we
link the two forms of understanding? The link occurs in
the form of action and interaction. Social constructivists
do not accept that agents/actors and or context/environ-
ment are simple and static. Both agents/actors and
structure/context are malleable entities, and the change
that may or may not occur in both of these entities comes
about via action and interaction. This is, in fact, the
making of our world, or, in the case of FPA scholars, the
making of foreign policy. An example from the current
global context may help to clarify this approach.

The current situation in Irag—and, in particular, the
Unites States’ decision to invade—is a hot topic of
conversation among FPA scholars. How does one
understand the motives behind the U.S. invasion? Was
this action generated primarily by the agents involved, or
were these agents simply acting according to the current
structure? A social constructivist would answer yes to
both questions. How does one understand the decision to

¢“‘Constructivism: A User’s Manual’” and ‘‘Making and Remaking the
World for IR 101: A Resource for Teaching Social Constructivism in
Introductory Classes’” provide two excellent introductory sources to the
study of world politics through a social constructivist perspective.
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invade Iraq if you disregard either the actors involved or
the structure? The fact that George W. Bush is President
of the United States is crucial to understanding the
decision to invade. His boisterous, do-it-alone (unilater-
alist) attitude is a primary causal factor in the decision-
making process, as is the individuals that he has
surrounded himself with. However, an analysis of the
President’s personal perceptions, management style, etc.,
along with an analysis of the aforementioned traits of the
presidential cabinet, are not sufficient to understand the
decision to invade. One major question looms: would
the United States have invaded Iraq if 9/11 had never
happened? I would argue no, thus showing the importance
of context and its impact on the agents involved. 9/11
made the foreign policy decision to invade possible, but so
did the election of George W. Bush. The crucial area to
study for FPA scholars is not simply the context nor the
individuals, but the interaction between these two. Social
constructivism may be more complex then previous FPA
approaches, but it is also more complete in its assessment
of foreign policy.!'If

CONCLUSION

So where is the field of FPA headed in the coming
years?!'?!¢ This article has attempted to show both the
divergent positions within the study of FPA and a new
form of analysis that might serve as a bridge within the
field. With that said, the future of FPA may or may not
find its theoretical basis in social constructivism. Con-
structivism may not solve the long-standing debate
between traditional FPA and IP scholars, along with the
subdebates contained within FPA. However, if FPA
scholars are willing to engage in a social constructivist
assessment of foreign affairs, they may find the bridge
that brings these seemingly opposed fields of study back
together. As this form of analysis grows in acceptance,
I believe that its applicability to multiple fields of study
will grow. Nevertheless, ontological shifts are slow, but
constructivists can serve as a repairperson for the IR/FPA
split, if the analysts allow it. The result would only bene-

f“Writing Security: United States Foreign Policy and the Politics of
Identity’’ is an excellent example of constructivist work and its relation
to foreign affairs.

&“Foreign Policy Analysis in the Twenty-First Century: Back to
Comparison, Forward to Identity and Ideas’” provides a good assessment
of probable future forms of study.
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fit the field and our understanding of foreign policy
decision making.
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INTRODUCTION

The Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) is the premier
open government statute in the U.S. federal government.
FOIA works to ensure a more transparent federal
administration. The openness afforded by FOIA has
become a central aspect of federal administration. After
a long debate, FOIA was passed by Congress in 1966 and
has been amended periodically. FOIA allows individuals
or organizations to request documents from a federal
agency. While not all documents are releasable, many are.
Federal agencies may withhold documents that fall into
nine broad exemption categories. Included within this
entry is an overview of the theoretical underpinnings of the
act, a legislative history of FOIA, and a short description
of the major provisions of the act.

WHAT IS FOIA?

The Freedom of Information Act is one federal law that
deals with open government. Other open government
federal laws include the Privacy Act (1974), the
Government in the Sunshine Act (1976), and the Federal
Advisory Committee Act (1972). Implementation of
FOIA is a major administrative function which cost over
$270 million in fiscal year 2001. Open government laws
are not unique to the federal government. All 50 states
have laws governing the release of government docu-
ments. Freedom of information and the free exchange of
information is a global concern. Over 50 countries ranging
from Albania to Zimbabwe have laws facilitating access
to government documents. Over half of these international
freedom of information laws were passed within the last
10 years.llJ

Governmental transparency and democratic account-
ability are the underlying tenets behind FOIA. Govern-
mental transparency refers to the ability to find out
what is going on inside of government. Democratic
accountability is holding elected and unelected govern-
ment officials responsible for their actions. While the
initial Freedom of Information Act was passed in
1966,1! the debate surrounding transparency in govern-
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ment long predates the act. James Madison wrote in a
personal correspondence:

‘A popular Government, without popular information, or
the means of acquiring it, is but a Prologue to a Farce or a
Tragedy; or, perhaps, both. Knowledge will forever
govern ignorance: And a people who mean to be their
own Governors must arm themselves with the power
which knowledge gives.”’!

Madison’s sentiments were included in the Senate
Report, which accompanied the initial FOIA.™

The idea of opening up the government and holding
officials accountable is an essential aspect of democracy.
Francis Rourke®! made this point eloquently: ‘‘Nothing
could be more axiomatic for a democracy than the
principle of exposing the processes of government to
relentless public criticism and scrutiny.”’ Policies which
work toward a more transparent government combat
administrative and executive secrecy. As explained later
in the section ‘“How FOIA Works?”’ not all types of
documents are releasable through FOIA requests; howev-
er, at its core, FOIA is a disclosure statute.

FOIA also has two other provisions. The first requires
agencies to disclose information automatically by pub-
lishing it in the Federal Register. Information that must be
disclosed includes descriptions of agency organizations,
functions, and procedures; substantive agency rules; and
statements of general agency policy. The second require-
ment is the reading room provision of FOIA. Final agency
opinions and orders rendered in the adjudication of cases,
specific policy statements, certain administrative staff
manuals, and some records previously processed for
disclosure must be made available in agency reading
rooms. Some of these disclosed documents must also be
posted in an agency’s electronic reading room. Failure to
disclose some types of information precludes agencies
from enforcing or relying on them.

LEGISLATIVE HISTORY

Varying proposed pieces of freedom of information
legislation were prepared and debated in Congress for
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over a decade before the final bill was passed. An early
advocate of freedom of information laws, Senator Thomas
C. Hennings, Jr. (D-Missouri), referring to a proposed
freedom of information legislation, noted that: ‘‘The
aim. . .of this bill. . .is to make it clear beyond any doubt
that the basic purpose of this section is to insure the
dissemination of the maximum amount of information
reasonably possible.”’!! FOIA, which amended the
Administrative Procedure Act of 1946, was passed on
July 4, 1966 and went into affect in 1967.

Since the initial law was passed, a series of amend-
ments have modified the statute. Some changes strength-
ened the statute while others weakened the reach of the
law with regard to access of government. The first series
of major amendments came in 1974 in the wake of the
presidential Watergate scandal. These amendments sig-
nificantly strengthen the reach of FOIA disclosures. A
little more than a decade later in 1986, another series of
amendments were passed by Congress during the Reagan
administration. These changes weakened access to
government afforded through FOIA by expanding the
exemption for law-enforcement documents.

The last major set of amendments came in 1996 and are
referred to, collectively, as the Electronic Freedom of
Information Act or E-FOIA. These amendments brought
FOIA into the Internet age. Electronic documents are now
accessible through FOIA requests, and agencies are
obligated to proactively post their most frequently
requested documents in their electronic reading rooms.
In 2002, the Homeland Security Act was passed which
also included an amendment to FOIA. Senator Patrick
Leahy (D-Vermont) called this amendment the °‘most
severe weakening of the Freedom of Information Act in its
36-year history.”’!”! The Homeland Security Act amend-
ment exempts all information deemed related to homeland
security which corporations voluntarily disclose to the
Department of Homeland Security. This is a very broad
exemption that ensures the department will keep the
disclosed information secret and allows companies to be
free of potential civil liability and antitrust lawsuits if the
information indicates wrongdoing.

HOW DOES FOIA WORK?

Essentially, FOIA is a disclosure statute. All agency
records are accessible to the public unless specifically
exempt from disclosure. Documents, not information, are
requested and released under FOIA. This is a meaningful
distinction. One cannot request the federal government to
make a report or compile and summarize information.
Under FOIA, one can only request preexisting agency
records. There is no clear definition of what is an agency
record. Typically, documents must be in control of the
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agency from which they are requested. After the 1996
E-FOIA amendment, electronic files may be requested
and will be released in electronic form. Prior to the 1996
amendments, databases released to requesters would
usually have been printed and sent in hard-copy form.
Currently, requesters may receive data sets electronically
in the electronic format of their choosing. Generally,
e-mails are considered agency records although the line
between agency and personal records is at times blurred.
For a comprehensive discussion of relevant case law, see
Litigation Under the Federal Open Government Laws
2002: Covering the Freedom of Information Act, the
Privacy Act, and the Government in the Sunshine Act, and
the Federal Advisory Committee Act."!

Virtually, anyone can make a FOIA request including
U.S. citizens, foreign citizens, corporations, and govern-
ments. FOIA is a disclosure statute, meaning it opens up
documents in the federal government for release. With
that said, there are nine exemptions written into FOIA:

National security information.

Internal agency rules.

Information exempted by other statutes.
Business information.

Inter- and intra-agency memoranda.
Personal privacy.

Law-enforcement records.

Records of financial institutions.

Oil well data.

WX R LD =

Most of these exemptions are discretionary; that is, if a
document falls under one of the exemption categories,
then the federal agency has the option whether to release
the document or not. However, the first exemption is not
discretionary. Documents that have been classified for
national defense or foreign policy are not releasable.
Documents that are properly classified are not appropriate
for a discretionary disclosure. The second exemption
refers to documents which relate to internal personnel
rules and practices. Documents falling under exemption 2
may be discretionarily disclosed. The third exemption is
one of the broadest. If documents are exempt from
disclosure through another statute, then they are also
exempt under FOIA and cannot be discretionarily
disclosed. Examples of statutes that exempt the release
of material include the Department of Homeland Security
Act, the Immigration and Naturalization Act, the Federal
Aviation Act of 1958, and the Ethics in Government Act.

Trade secrets and business information are exempt
from release through FOIA by the fourth exemption and
rarely are discretionarily disclosed. At times, corporations
or businesses seek to prevent the release of information
gathered by an agency to a third party. These challenges
are referred to as ‘‘reverse’’ FOIA litigation. Documents
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such as inter- or intra-agency memos regarding predeci-
sional policy formation are covered under exemption 5.
Documents falling under exemption 5 may be discretion-
arily disclosed. Individual’s personnel or medical files are
not releasable because of the privacy exemption, number
six, and generally not deemed appropriate for discretion-
ary disclosures. The law-enforcement provisions, which
were strengthened by the 1986 amendment, are covered
under exemption 7. Records dealing with financial in-
stitutions and oil wells are covered by exemptions 8 and 9,
respectively. Documents falling under exemption 7, 8, or
9 may be discretionarily disclosed.

To make a FOIA request, one must send a written
request to the individual agency you would like to release
the documents. This can be carried out either by the mail
or, increasingly, by fax or e-mail. It is essential that you
write to the correct agency and you are as specific as
possible about your request. There is a wealth of good
references on how to write a FOIA request. The 